Western University Scholarship@Western

Digitized Theses

Digitized Special Collections

2009

Comparative Study of a Novel Membrane Bioreactor System for Biological Nutrient Removal with Conventional Systems

MinGu Kim Western University

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses

Recommended Citation

Kim, MinGu, "Comparative Study of a Novel Membrane Bioreactor System for Biological Nutrient Removal with Conventional Systems" (2009). *Digitized Theses*. 4223. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses/4223

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Digitized Special Collections at Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Digitized Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Comparative Study of a Novel Membrane Bioreactor System for Biological Nutrient Removal with Conventional Systems

(Spine title: Membrane-Based Biological Nutrient Removal Processes)

(Thesis format: Integrated-Article)

by

MinGu <u>Kim</u>

Graduate Program in Engineering Science Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering

2

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© MinGu Kim 2009

THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION

Supervisor

Dr. George Nakhla

Co-Supervisor

Examiners

Dr. Denis O'Carroll

Dr. Jason Gerhard

Dr. Mita Ray

Dr. Honde Zhou

The thesis by

MinGu <u>Kim</u>

entitled:

Comparative Study of a Novel Membrane Bioreactor System for Biological Nutrient Removal with Conventional Systems

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Date_____

Chair of the Thesis Examination Board

Abstract

This comparative study evaluated a novel membrane bioreactor (NMBR) for biological nutrient performance and membrane fouling with conventional BNR systems i.e. anaerobic/anoxic/aerobic (A^2O) process and University of Capetown (UCT) modified MBR process (UMBR). Comparison of the NMBR and A^2O process, conducted at hydraulic retention time (HRT) of 8 hr and solids retention time (SRT) of 10 days using synthetic wastewater (SWW) and municipal wastewater (MWW), revealed that NMBR achieved lower effluent phosphorus than the A^2O with 0.2 vs 1.2 mg/L (SWW) and 0.8 vs 1 mg/L (MWW) as well as 20% lower sludge production. The study also substantiated that NMBR intermediate clarifier assisted chemical oxygen demand (COD), nitrogen, and P removals. Furthermore, the NMBR achieved 0.3 m/L lower effluent dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) than A^2O and the DON reduction by membrane averaging 0.4 mg/L.

The second comparative study with NMBR and UMBR process, tested at an HRT of 6 hr and SRT of 10 days using two different strength of MWW, indicated that effluent nitrate and P concentrations were lower in the NMBR than the UMBR by as much as 1-1.7 and 0.3 mg/L, respectively. Sludge P fractionation substantiated that poly-P content increased from 27-37% to 57-59% of the total phosphorus (TP) and P uptake by denitrifying phosphate accumulating organisms (DPAO) accounted for 37-40% of the total uptake in both systems.

Both MBR systems showed similar membrane fouling trends with similar fouling rate of 4.4×10⁻² LMH/kPa·h. A statistical analysis confirmed that soluble microbial product impacts membrane fouling more significantly than floc size, the bound protein/total protein ratio and bound extracellular polymeric substance (EPS). The

biofilm layer deposited on the membrane caused denitrification of as much as 1.5 mg N/L, which was primarily impacted by dissolved oxygen and transmembrane pressure, triggering membrane fouling.

Another study of the impact of denitrification on membrane fouling propensity, using three different sludges i.e. conventional activated sludge (CAS), ordinary heterotrophic organisms (OHO) and DPAO, indicated that DPAO denitrification decreased cake layer resistance by 53% compared to an increase of 220 and 150% in CAS and OHO denitrification. The reduction in cake layer resistance for DPAO denitrification was associated with the increase in hydrophobicity and decrease in carbohydrate/protein ratio in bound EPS of DPAO after denitrification, with the reverse trend observed with CAS and OHO.

Therefore, the contributions of this study are summarized as followings:

1. Identification of the role of the intermediate clarifier in the NMBR

2. Confirmation of the advantages & disadvantages of the NMBR relative to conventional systems

3. Extensive characterization of membrane foulants in BNR systems

4. Delineation of the fact that contrary to common belief, DPAO reduces fouling

Keywords

Membrane bioreactor, biological nutrient removal, enhanced biological phosphorus removal, denitrifying phosphate accumulating organism, membrane fouling, dissolved organic nitrogen, P fractionation.

iv

Co Authorship

Chapter 4: MinGu Kim was the principal author of this chapter, which was reviewed by Dr. George Nakhla who provided additional recommendations for improvement. A version of this chapter has been published in Journal of Chemical technology and Biotechnology, 2009, 84, 637-642.

Chapter 5: MinGu Kim was the principal author of this chapter, which was reviewed by Dr. George Nakhla who provided additional recommendations for improvement. A version of this chapter has been accepted in Water Environment Research, 2009.

Chapter 6: MinGu Kim was the principal author of this chapter, which was reviewed by Dr. George Nakhla who provided additional recommendations for improvement. A version of this chapter has been submitted in Water Environment Research, 2008.

Chapter 7: MinGu Kim was the principal author of this chapter, which was reviewed by Dr. George Nakhla who provided additional recommendations for improvement. A version of this chapter has been submitted to Chemosphere, 2009.

Chapter 8: MinGu Kim was the principal author of this chapter, which was reviewed by Dr. George Nakhla who provided additional recommendations for improvement. A version of this chapter has been published in Journal of Membrane Science, 2009, 331, 91-99.

Chapter 9: MinGu Kim was the principal author of this chapter, which was reviewed by Dr. George Nakhla. A version of this chapter has been submitted to Journal of Membrane Science, 2009.

Acknowledgements

It is my great pleasure to remember all the people around me last three years. I am so indebt to many people. I would like to thank God for his guidance and encouragement thus far.

This work is not possible without my thesis supervisor Dr. George Nakhla. I would like to express my sincere appreciation to him for his unceasing constructive criticism and valuable academic support.

I also want to express my gratitude to my colleagues. I can not forget each moment which they provided me generous assistance.

I am also so grateful to Toronto, London UBF, Konkuk UBF coworkers for their sincere prayer and spiritual support for me.

Esther, my wife, has well endured all the hard times during my study. I would like to express my deep thanks to her. My son, Samuel and daughter, Clara, I am so blessed to see them growing well. My father, mother, sister's family and Esther's family have been so supportive to my study. I sincerely appreciate their love for me.

I dedicate this piece of work to them.

Table of contents

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION	ii
Abstract	. iii
Keywords	. iv
Co Authorship	v
Acknowledgements	vii
List of Tables	xii
List of Figures	xiii
1.0 Introduction	. 1
 1.1 Background 1.2 Goal of the research 1.3 Thesis overview 1.4 References 	1 2 3 5
2.0 Literature review	6
 2.1 Principles of biological nutrient removal	6 9 11 13 16 19 21 21 22 26 27 29
3.0 Material and Methods	38
 3.1 System description	38 41 41 41 41 41 42 42 42 43
¥.	

3.4 Analytical methods	43
3.4.1 General parameters	
3.4.2 VFA analysis	
3.4.3 Fouling parameter analysis	
3.5 Batch test	
3.5.1 P release and uptake	
3.5.2 P fractionation	
3.6 References	48
4.0 The beneficial role of intermediate clarification in a novel MBR based	d process
for biological nitrogen and phosphorus removal	47
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Materials and methods	
4.2.1 System description	
4.2.2 System operation	
4.2.3 Analytical methods	
4.3 Kesuits and discussion	
4.3.1 Overall performance and mass balances	
4.3.2 r Tellioval	
4.3.4 The beneficial role of the intermediate clarifier	60
4 4 Conclusions	
4.5 References	
5.0 Componential Developments of $\Lambda^2 O$ and a nevel MDD based Propose for	w Diologiaal
S H F AMNYFYINZE FERMEDYINCE OF A TEXNOLX UDVELVINK HXKED FEMPEN ID	
Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal	70
Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal	70 70
Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal	
 5.0 Comparative refiormance of A Council a nover wibit based recess to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction	
 5.0 Comparative Ferrormance of A Council a nover wibbe based Freedows to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction	70 70 72 72 72 72
 5.0 Comparative Ferrormance of A Council a nover where based Freedows to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction	70 70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72
 5.0 Comparative Ferrormance of ACO and a nover MDRC based Froess to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72
 5.0 Comparative reformance of A Councer a nover where based recess to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction. 5.2 Materials and methods	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72
 5.0 Comparative Ferrormance of ACO and a nover MDRC based Froess to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction. 5.2 Materials and methods	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 73 73
 5.0 Comparative refrontinance of ACO and a nover trible based referess to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72
 Site Comparative Ferror mance of ACO and a nover MDRC based Frocess to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 73 73 73 73 77 79
 5.0 Comparative refrommere of N Connect of Area and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction. 5.2 Materials and methods. 5.2.1 System description. 5.2.2 System operation. 5.2.3 Analytical method. 5.2.4 Dynamic test	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72
 5.0 Comparative refronting control of the order of the order	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73
 5.0 Comparative Ferror mance of ACO and a mover where based Frocess to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 74 75 76 79 80 82 85
 5.0 Comparative refrontance of ACO and a nover first based recess to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction. 5.2 Materials and methods. 5.2.1 System description. 5.2.2 System operation. 5.2.3 Analytical method. 5.2.4 Dynamic test. 5.3 Results and Discussion	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 74 79 80 80 82 82 85 87
 5.0 Comparative retrormance of it of and a nover trible based recess to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction. 5.2 Materials and methods	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 74 75 76 77 79 80 82 85 87 89
 5.0 Comparative retromance of record of and a mover most object recess to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction. 5.2 Materials and methods	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 74 75 76 79 80 82 85 87 89 92
 5.1 Example a network of the transfer of transfer of	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 74 75 76 77 79 80 82 85 87 89 92
 S. Comparative reformance of A Council and a nover fiber based refersion of the value and the process for Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal. 5.1 Introduction. 5.2 Materials and methods. 5.2.1 System description. 5.2.2 System operation. 5.2.3 Analytical method. 5.2.4 Dynamic test. 5.3 Results and Discussion 5.3.1 Overall performance (SWW Run). 5.3.2 P removal. 5.3.3 Nitrogen Removal. 5.3.4 Role of Intermediate Clarifier and Impact of Anaerobic HRT. 5.3.5 Dynamic test. 5.4 Comparative performance under limiting influent VFAs. 5.5 References. 6.0 Impact of membranes on refractory dissolved organic nitrogen	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 74 75 73 74 75 76 77 79 80 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 83 84 92 94
 S. Comparative retromance on A C and a north MDA based recess to Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal	70 70 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 72 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 74 75 76 80 82 85 87 89 92 92 94

6.2.3 Analytical methods	95
6.3 Results and discussion	95
6.4 Summary and conclusions	100
6.5 References	101
7.0 Phosphorus Fractionation in Membrane-Assisted Biological Nutrient Remova	al
Processes	105
7.1 Introduction	105
7.2 Materials and methods	107
7.2.1 System description	107
7.2.2 System operation	107
7.2.3 Analytical methods	107
7.3 Results and discussions	107
7.3.1 Overall performance	107
7.3.2. Mass balances	110
7.3.3 Nitrogen removal	111
7.3.4 Phosphorus removal	114
7.3.5 P tractionation	120
7.4 Conclusions	123
7.5 References	124
8.0 Comparative studies on membrane fouling between two membrane based BN	IR
systems	127
8.1 Introduction	127
8.2 Materials and methods	130
8.2.1 System description	130
8.2.2 System operation	130
8.2.3 Analytical methods	131
8.3. Results and discussions	131
8.3.1 Fouling characteristics	131
8.3.2 Membrane fouling associated with denitrification	144
8.4 Summary & Conclusion	151
8.5 References	132
9.0 Membrane fouling propensity of denitrifying organisms	158
9.1 Introduction	158
9.2. Materials and Methods	159
9.2.1 Experimental design	159
9.2.2 Analytical methods	160
9.3. Results and discussions	162
9.3.1 batch test	162
9.3.2 MFI test	165
9.3.3 SMP and bEPS change	168
9.3.4 Relative hydrophobicity	170
9.4 Summary & Conclusions	173
95 Reterences	. 174

10.0 Conclusions	
11.0 Engineering significance and recommendations	
Appendix A	
Appendix B	
Appendix C	
Appendix D	
Appendix E	
Curriculum Vitae	

-

4

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Summary of BNR reactions	11
Table 2.2 Advantages and disadvantages of MBR systems	. 18
Table 2.3 Fouling impact factors	. 22
Table 4.1 Performance comparison from references.	51
Table 4.2 Steady state influent and effluent quality obtained from two runs	54
Table 4.3 Mass balance in COD, Nitrogen and P	55
Table 5.1 Steady state influent and effluent quality obtained from SWW and MWW ru	n
(All units are mg/L except where stated otherwise)	. 74
Table 5.2 Nutrient mass balances obtained from MWW run	85
Table 6.1 MBR process efDON from references	93
Table 6.2 Pseudo-steady state influent and effluent quality obtained from the entire run	s.
	96
Table 7.1 (a) Steady state influent and effluent quality obtained from the two systems.	(b)
Mass balance in COD, Nitrogen and P 1	110
Table 8.1 Steady state influent and effluent quality obtained from two systems	132
Table 9.1 Summary of the batch test 1	64

.

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Schematic overview of the study
Figure 2.1 biological nutrient removal systems (a) A ² O (b) UCT (c) Modified
Bardenpho TM (d) Johannesburg (AN: anaerobic, AX: anoxic, AO: aerobic tank) 15
Figure 2.2 Schematic description of membrane separation
Figure 2.3 Classification of membrane
Figure 2.4 Membrane separation configuration (a) internal membranes (or submerged)
(b) external membranes (or side stream)
Figure 2.5 Mechanism of biofouling in membrane separation bioreactors. (adapted from
Liao et al., 2004)
Figure 2.6 EPS and SMP formation
Figure 3.1 System description (a) NMBR (b) hollow fiber membrane (c) A ² O (d) UMBR
(Q, P and M denote flowrate, pump and mixer, respectively)
Figure 4.1 (a) The fate of orthophosphate and (b) the ratio of P release/uptake
Figure 4.2 (a) The fractionation of denitrification and(b) pattern of denitrification in the
anoxic tank
Figure 4.3 The variation of soluble carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus in the clarifier 60
Figure 5.1 Box graph for (a) effluent nitrogen and (b) phosphorus during SWW run
(Percentiles are shown: Minimum, 25 th , 75 th and Maximum. The horizontal line and
the dot inside the box represent the median and the average, respectively)
Figure 5.2 (a) The fate of orthophosphate (b) fractionation of denitrification and (c)
denitrification in anoxic tank in both systems during SWW run
Figure 5.3 The variation of soluble carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus variation in the
clarifier during SWW run
Figure 5.4 Denitrification profile during dynamic test in SWW run in (a) anaerobic tank,
(b) anoxic tank and (c) overall denitrification
Figure 6.1 Temporal variation of efDON during the runs
Figure 6.2 Box graph for efDON during the runs (Percentiles are shown: Minimum, 25 th ,
75 th and Maximum. The horizontal line and the dot inside the box represent the
median and the average, respectively)
Figure 6.3 DON reduction between membrane tank and permeate during run 3
Figure 7.1 (a) Statistical distribution of effluent nitrates (Percentiles are shown:
Minimum, 25 th , 75 th and Maximum. The horizontal line and the dot inside the box
represent the median and the average, respectively) (b) denitrification pattern (c)
fractionation of anoxic denitrification
Figure 7.2 (a) Temporal variation of phosphate and (b) statistical distribution of effluent
P (Percentiles are shown: Minimum, 25 th , 75 th and Maximum. The horizontal line
and the dot inside the box represent the median and the average, respectively) 115
Figure 7.3 (a) NMBR P profile during batch test (b) UMBR P profile during batch test (c)
P mass release and uptake during phase I and II
Figure 7.4 P fractionation during phase I and II. (AN-anaerobic, AC-clarifier, AX –
anoxic, AO-aerobic)120
Figure 8.1 (a) Temporal variation of permeability during the run (b) comparison of
fouling rate between two systems during the run and (c) statistical distribution of
fouling rate in two systems (Percentiles are shown: Minimum, 25 th , 75 th and

•

List of Abbreviations and Symbols

Am	membrane area (m^2)	
BCA	bicinchoninic acid	
bEPS pro	bound EPS protein	
bEPS _{car}	bound EPS carbohydrate	
BNR	biological nutrient removal	
BSA	bovine serum albumin	
CAS	conventional activated sludge	
COD	chemical oxygen demand (mg/L)	
DO	dissolved oxygen (mg/L)	
DON	dissolved organic nitrogen (mg/L)	
DPAO	denitrifying phosphate accumulating organism	
EBPR	enhanced biological phosphorus removal	
EPS	extracellular polymeric substances (mg/g VSS)	
FR	fouling rate $(L/m^2 h^2 kPa)$ or $(LMH/kPa h)$	
GAO	glucogen accumulating organism	
HRT	hydraulic retention time (h)	
Jp	permeate flux $(L/m^2 h)$ or (LMH)	
Ĺp	permeability $(L/m^2 h kPa)$ or (LMH/kPa)	
MBR	membrane bioreactor	
MFI	modified fouling index (10^3 s/L^2)	
MLSS	mixed liquor suspended solids (g/L)	
MLVSS	mixed liquor volatile suspended solids (g/L)	
MWW	municipal wastewater	
NMBR	novel MBR	
ОНО	ordinary heterotrophic organism	
Р	transmembrane pressure (kPa)	
PAO	phosphate accumulating organism	
PCA	perchloric acid	
PLC	programmable logic control	
Qр	permeate flow (L/h)	
rDON	recalcitrant dissolved organic nitrogen (mg/L)	
SCOD	soluble chemical oxygen demand (mg/L)	
SMP	soluble microbial products (mg/L or mg/gVSS)	
SMP _{pro}	SMP protein	
SMP _{car}	SMP carbohydrate	
SRT	solid retention time (day)	
STKN	soluble total kjeldahl nitrogen (mg/L)	
SVI	sludge volume index (ml/g)	
SWW	synthetic wastewater	
Т	time (h)	
tEPSpro	total EPS protein	
tEPS _{car}	total EPS carbohydrate	
TCOD	total chemical oxygen demand (mg/L)	

total kjeldahl nitrogen (mg/L)
total phosphorous (mg/L)
total suspended solids (g/L)
upflow anaerobic sludge blanket
university of cape town
UCT MBR
volatile fatty acid (mg/L)
volatile suspended solids (g/L)
observed yield (gVSS/gCOD)

,

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Background

Biological nutrient removal (BNR) is becoming increasingly critical due to severe contamination of water bodies and more stringent guidelines for nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P). N and P are the primary cause of eutrophication in receiving waters. BNR is an economic process compared to physical and chemical technology. Recently, BNR systems have started to employ membrane technology for a final solid separation. Membrane bioreactor (MBR) adapted BNR processes have reported various advantages compared to conventional system activated sludge employing final clarifier. MBR process benefits are small foot print of installation and perfect capture of biomass while final clarification has often experienced serious operational problems i.e. sludge bulking, pinfloc and rising sludge.

BNR capacity in MBR was characterized by higher nitrification rate and low sludge yield due to perfect retention of sludge and colloids as well as operation at long solids retention time (SRT). However, the application has been restricted due to membrane fouling, which increases maintenance cost. Primary foulants such as extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) and soluble microbial product (SMP), generated from biomass activity or present in incoming wastewater deteriorate permeability.

Nakhla and Patel (2008) patented a novel MBR (NMBR) process for BNR, characterized by the employment of an intermediate clarifier placed after the anaerobic

tank and membrane utilization in aerobic tank. It presented several advantages such as low sludge yield and high content of denitrifying phosphate accumulating organisms (Patel et al., 2005)

Although the system has been optimized in previous studies (Patel et al., 2005), it should be required to assess this system with conventional systems. It was also necessary to identify the role of the intermediate clarifier in BNR improvement. In addition, membrane fouling which is essential to understand MBR system operation has not been investigated.

1.2 Goal of the research

The primary objective of the current study is to evaluate the NMBR BNR capacity through comparative performances with conventional BNR systems firstly with final clarifier and secondly with membrane i.e. A²O and UCT. The specific goals are as follows;

1. To investigate fate of COD, nitrogen, phosphorus and solids in the system and delineate contribution of each process to BNR performance.

2. To assess the role of intermediate clarifier, final clarifier and membranes in nutrient removal.

3. To thoroughly comprehend the fouling mechanisms in membrane assisted BNR systems and investigate fouling parameters i.e. SMP, EPS and their component relationship.

4. To investigate the potential role of the membrane biofilm layer in BNR performance and determine its impact on membrane fouling, as well as evaluating the fouling propensity of different denitrifying organisms.

1.3 Thesis overview

Chapter 2 describes literature pertinent to the research study and chapter 3 demonstrates all the material and methods used in this study.

Chapter 4 thoroughly deals with the role of intermediate clarifier in NMBR BNR performance.

Chapter 5 discusses the comparative study with A²O in terms of COD, N and P fate for synthetic wastewater and municipal wastewater.

Chapter 6 demonstrates the comparison of effluent DON in the MBR and conventional system and emphasizes the beneficial role of membrane in decreasing DON.

Chapter 7 elaborates on phosphorus fractionation in the two membrane assisted BNR systems studied here as well as BNR performance for different municipal wastewaters.

Chapter 8 discusses membrane fouling in the two tested MBR systems for BNR including

denitrification phenomena in biofilm layer of membrane.

Chapter 9 demonstrates diverse denitrification related fouling propensity related to different denitrification pathway in BNR system.

Chapter 10 summarized the major findings and conclusions of this study followed by engineering significance in Chapter 11.



Figure 1.1 Schematic overview of the study.

1.4 References

Nakhla G.; Patel J. (2008) Treatment of Wastewater Containing Phosphorus and Nitrogen. US Patent No. US 7,326,343 B2 dated Feb 5.

Patel J.; Nakhla G.; Margaritis A. (2005) Optimization of biological nutrient removal in a membrane bioreactor system. *J Environ. Eng.* **131**, 1021-1029.

2.0 Literature review

2.1 Principles of biological nutrient removal

2.1.1 Nitrogen removal

Nitrogen in wastewater can be transformed and removed by biologically mediated nitrification and denitrification as well as nitrogen uptake for cell synthesis. Nitrification is oxidation of ammonia to nitrite and nitrate using oxygen and carbon dioxide as electron acceptor and carbon source, respectively. Ammonia can be converted from organic nitrogen through deamination and ammonification. Two autotrophic organisms are key involved organisms i.e. Nitrosomonas and Nitrobacter.

Nitrosomonas

$$2NH_4^+ + 3O_2 \rightarrow 2NO_2^- + 2H_2O + 4H^+ + New cells$$
 Eq (2.1)

Nitrobacter

$$2NO_2^{-} + O_2 \rightarrow 2NO_3^{-} + New cells$$
 Eq (2.2)

Nitrification is influenced by SRT, temperature, and dissolved oxygen, ambient pH, and presence of toxic compounds. Nitrifiers are slow growing organisms necessitating longer SRT. Temperature change from 20 to 10°C causes more than 60% reduction in nitrification rate and the optimum pH for the reliable operation is 6.8-7.4. (Randall et al., 1992)

Denitrification is the process of nitrate reduction to nitrogen gas by microorganism under anoxic conditions i.e. absence of dissolved oxygen. It requires readily biodegradable COD serving as carbon source and follows Eq. (2.3).

$$NO_3 + rbCOD \rightarrow N_2 (gas) + CO_2 + H_2O + OH + New cells Eq (2.3)$$

Like any biodegradation process, the type of organic matter and temperature strongly impact the rate. Biological nitrogen removal can reduce energy requirement compared to the BOD removal only because denitrification consumes organic carbon. Denitrifying organisms are divided into two groups, one capable of dissimilating nitrates to nitrogen gas directly and other producing nitrogen gas via nitrate, nitrite and nitrous oxides. Moreover, incorporation of denitrification reduces sludge yield because denitrifying organisms obtain less energy from utilizing oxidized nitrates as an electron acceptor compared to dissolved oxygen.

Factors impacting denitrification are oxygen, pH, temperature, and organic carbon. With presence of oxygen, denitrification is significantly inhibited. Denitrification can be inhibited at DO concentration of 0.2 mg/L and above (Metcalf and Eddy, 2003). Denitrification rate increases with temperature. Denitrifiers are sensitive to pH greater than 8. It was observed that nitrite accumulated at pH 8.5 while nitrous oxide increased at pH 5. Optimum nitrate removal occurs at pH 7.5. The type of organic carbon also affects denitrification. Thus, readily biodegradable COD (rbCOD) increases denitrification rate more than slowly biodegradable COD. Isaac and Henze (1995) tested denitrification

under carbon limiting and excess carbon using acetate. At C/N ratio of below 1.86 mgC/mgN the denitrification rate was 1.9 mgN/gVSS/h compared to 3.4 mgN/gVSS/h with a C/N ratio of 7.5 mgC/mgN. Tam et al (1992) tested three carbon sources i.e. acetate, methanol and glucose to evaluate denitrification rates and observed that acetate is the most efficient and achieved the highest nitrogen removal rate. Biochemically, organic carbon is utilized via the glycolytic pathway and tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle (Gaudy and Gaudy, 1980). Acetyl Co-A is easily formed from acetate while methanol or glucose requires several intermediates to enter the TCA cycle.

Recently, due to stringent effluent total nitrogen concentrations as low as 3 mg/L, significant emphasis has been exerted on refractory nonbiodegradable dissolved organic nitrogen in effluent (efDON). According to an intensive review by Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak (2006), efDON accounts for up to 80% of the total nitrogen in nitrification-denitrification process effluents. Based on data collected from seven plants in USA, Pagilla et al (2006) also reported that the percentage of efDON ranged from 20-85% of the effluent 5 mg/L TN.

Reduction of efDON is challenging due to the complexity of its nature. Awobamise et al (2007) tested the biodegradability of efDON during 30 days and observed that out of initial DON of 1 mg/L, biodegradable DON increased in the first 20 days from less than 0.1 to 0.5 mg/L, indicating that 50% of DON is not removed by biological processes. This is consistent with the observation by Urgun-Demirtas et al. (2007) where 18-61% of efDON was bioavailable in the first 14 days. Pagilla et al. (2006) observed that the molecular weight (MW) of DON ranged from 1 to 1000 kD, with the low MW compounds biodegradable. Thus, various physical or chemical treatments attempted for breaking the chain of high MW DON compounds, revealed the feasibility of anion exchange, coagulation, ozonation, advanced oxidation to some extent (Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak, 2006), though their application is usually limited to industrial wastewaters.

Parkin and McCarty (1981) suggested that SRT can be a key parameter for controlling efDON because more influent DON is biodegraded at longer SRTs. However, increased biomass endogenous respiration increases DON, suggesting the occurrence of an optimal SRT. O'Shaughnessy et al. (2006) also reported that longer SRT and higher temperature within ranges of 10-17 days and 5-17°C, respectively led to efDON reduction.

2.1.2 Phosphorus removal

Phosphorus removal occurs via biological metabolism and natural P precipitation with cations i.e. Ca, Mg, Al present in wastewater. Relatively low P removal occurs via cell synthesis and P precipitation, with phosphorus removal achieved by mostly phosphate accumulating organism (PAO) which is capable of storing P within the cell to as high as 10% by weight of solids compared to 2 % in activated sludge. P removal occurs through two steps i.e. P release and uptake. PAO releases under anaerobic conditions i.e. absence of nitrate or dissolved oxygen. Concomitantly, PAO store volatile fatty acid (VFA) as intracellular products i.e. poly hydroxylbutyrate (PHB). Key

requirement for reliable P removal is sufficient VFA in the anaerobic zone and sufficient DO in aerobic zone.

Usually P uptake occurs in the aerobic tank using dissolved oxygen as electron acceptor but also can be observed by nitrate reduction in the anoxic tank by denitrifying phosphate accumulating organisms (DPAO). Thus P removal achieved by wasting sludge during cyclic metabolism in anaerobic conditions (P release and VFA consumption (PHB production)) and subsequent anoxic and/or aerobic conditions (P uptake, PHB oxidation and cell synthesis)

In enhanced biological phosphorus removal (EBPR) systems, the role of DPAO can be significant in both P and nitrogen removal. Bortone et al (1996) reported that DPAOs using the Dephanox system allowed a constant high efficiency of P removal even operating with low COD/TKN ratio wastewater. Hu et al (2002) concluded that the most important factor influencing the occurrence of DPAOs and associated anoxic P uptake is the nitrate load to the main anoxic reactor, i.e. if the nitrate load is large enough or exceeds the heterotrophic denitrifiers' potential of the anoxic reactor, then DPAOs are stimulated in the system.

A summary of the pertinent BNR reactions is presented in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1 Summary of BNR reactions

Process step	Major process and organisms
Anaerobic tank	PAO: P release and PHB synthesis
	OHO: Fermentation
Pre-anoxic tank	OHO: Nitrate, BOD reduction
	DPAO: P, nitrate reduction and PHB degradation
Aerobic tank	OHO: BOD removal, ammonification
	Autotrophs: ammonia reduction via nitrification
Post-anoxic tank	OHO: Nitrate reduction using cellular substrate or external
	carbon i.e. methanol
	PAO: P uptake and PHB degradation

2.1.3 Factors for successful P removal operation

1) VFA concentration

It is widely accepted that an anaerobic/aerobic sequence is a necessity to initiate and sustain EBPR. However, to ensure reliable removal of ortho-phosphorus to less than 0.1 mg/L, sufficient VFA is required to form intracellular storage products (e.g. PHBs) (Filipe et al., 2001). rbCOD fermentation in the anaerobic zone can enhance VFA content of municipal wastewater. Most VFA present in municipal wastewater is acetic acid and propionic acid. 2) Nitrate inhibition

Nitrate presence in the anaerobic zone causes shortage of rbCOD for PAO because heterotrophic organisms use nitrates as a terminal electron acceptor.

3) Secondary P release

Secondary P release occurs when P rich sludge is sustained at long anaerobic retention time. The released P is not related to PHB synthesis, and accordingly it is not removed in subsequent aerobic zone. (Barnard et al., 2006) In addition, it requires more VFA addition.

4) Competing organisms

The most widely reported competitor to PAO is glycogen accumulating organism (GAO). GAO also takes up VFA in anaerobic condition without P release. However, the energy produced via glycogen degradation, compared to poly-P degradation in PAO. Thus, in presence of GAO, P release and uptake is diminished and effluent P deteriorates. Several studies on controlling GAO observed that influent VFA type influenced GAO metabolism (Oehmen et al., 2005). GAO activity can be also inhibited by operational conditions of temperature below 30 °C and pH 8 (Barnard et al., 2006)

2.1.4 Typical BNR systems

Figure 2.1 represents typical BNR systems which all share a common feature where nitrified mixed liquor from the aerobic tank is recycled to the anoxic tank for reducing nitrates (Henze et al., 2008). A²O system, the patented product of Air Products and Chemicals (Allentown, PA, USA), was characterized by the sequence of anaerobic/anoxic/aerobic tank in order to remove nitrates and P. However, nitrates in recycled sludge from the clarifier to the anaerobic tank can reduce P removal due to rbCOD consumption. The UCT system (Figure 2.1b), developed by University of Cape Town, consists of three main bioreactors i.e. anaerobic, anoxic and aerobic tank. Influent wastewater is fed to anaerobic zone for enhancing P release using raw wastewater VFA. The following anoxic tank is designed to reduce nitrates generated from the aerobic tank. The system can achieve high P removal efficiency but requires high pumping energy due to large internal recycles comprising three recirculation lines including two internal recycle from the anoxic to the anaerobic and from the aerobic and the anoxic tank as well as settled sludge from the final clarifier to the anoxic tank to eliminate nitrate inhibition in the anaerobic tank.

The Bardenpho system (Figure 2.1c), comprised of sequences of anaerobic/anoxic/aerobic/anoxic/aerobic tank, was developed during 1970s. The main features of this system are two anoxic zones for enhancing overall denitrification. The first anoxic tank was designed to utilize carbon source in wastewater while the second anoxic tank denitrifies under endogenous respiration. Another merit of the system is low

nitrate introduction to anaerobic tank decreasing rbCOD utilization by ordinary heterotrophs. Thus, it can achieve low sludge production as well as rich P sludge but requires high BOD/P ratio influent and high pumping energy. However, the Bardenpho system has several limitations. It has little operational flexibility indicating that P removal mainly depends on the incoming wastewater characteristics. In addition, significantly low denitrification rates in the second anoxic tank do not assist nitrate removal at low wastewater C/N ratio but deteriorate P removal due to secondary P release.

The Johannesburg process (Figure 2.1d) is characterized by the prevention of nitrate introduction to anaerobic tank due to denitrification in the first anoxic stage with endogenous respiration. However, it prevents nitrate introduction to the anaerobic tank only when the influent COD/TKN ratio is high.

Besides these systems, BNR can be achieved by sequencing batch reactors (SBR), oxidation ditch and two sludge process i.e. Dephanox.









Figure 2.1 biological nutrient removal systems (a) A²O (b) UCT (c) Modified BardenphoTM (d) Johannesburg (AN: anaerobic, AX: anoxic, AO: aerobic tank)

2.2 Membrane bioreactors

2.2.1 Description of membrane bioreactors

In membrane filtration membrane behaves as a barrier between two phases. Membrane separates substances based on molecular size. TMP is driving force for permeation. (Figure 2.2)



Figure 2.2 Schematic description of membrane separation (Adapted from Evenblij et al., 2006)

Since membrane bioreactors have been developed, their application is increasing rapidly. A recent study indicated that more than 2200 MBR installations in operation and under construction and 258 full scale MBR plants (mostly for municipal wastewater treatment) have been constructed (Yang et al., 2006). Figure 2.3 illustrates the differentiation of membrane type depending on the separation capability and molecular weight cut off. The unit of Da represents the mass of a hydrogen atom. Reverse osmosis

has very small pore size which is the most selective membrane. It can reject monovalent ions i.e. sodium and chloride. Normally, reverse osmosis operates at very high pressure as much as 700 psi while other membranes operate at relatively lower pressure with larger pore size. Ultrafiltration is applied for wastewater treatment to capture solids and microorganisms (Judd and Judd, 2006).



Figure 2.3 Classification of membrane

The advantages and disadvantages of MBR relative to conventional system are summarized in Table 2.2. MBR characteristics compared to conventional activated sludge system are operation at high concentration as much as 10 g/L and perfect capture of sludge, thus reducing bioreactor hydraulic retention time (HRT) and foot print. However high of biomass concentrations decrease oxygen transfer efficiency and operational cost including maintenance are relatively higher than conventional systems. For examples, Davies et al (1998) reported that MBR operational cost is around 1.5-2 times conventional systems based on 2000 person equivalent (p.e.) and 40000 p.e. capacity, respectively.

Table 2.2 Advantages and disadvantages of MBR systems

Advantage	Disadvantage
• Excellent effluent quality	Membrane fouling
• Low sludge production	High operational cost
• Shorter start-up time	Complicated controlling
• Feasible for treating extreme	system
condition wastewater	
• Small foot print	

Membranes are incorporated in activated sludge systems in two ways (Fig 2.4) although practically there is no strict differentiation. Submerged membranes are simple and save energy compared to cross flow side stream MBR which require high pump recirculation rates. In addition, submerged MBR benefits relatively less fouling due to air bubbling agitation while external MBR is easier for chemical cleaning.



Figure 2.4 Membrane separation configuration (a) internal membranes (or submerged) (b) external membranes (or side stream)

2.2.2 MBR BNR performances

Membrane assisted BNR processes exhibited superior nutrient removal capability over conventional BNR process. In BNR configurations, final clarification was primarily considered for solids separation. However, depending on the sludge blanket retention, the clarifier assisted partially in nitrogen removal due to denitrification within the sludge blanket, at the cost of higher effluent suspended solids (Siegrist et al., 1995; Monti et al., 2006).
Since membrane technology substituted final clarification in BNR systems several improvements such as smaller footprint of installation, lower sludge production and better nitrification have been achieved (Monti et al., 2006). Monti et al. (2006) observed a 15% lower sludge yield in the MBR system than in the identically operated conventional system with a final clarifier in pilot scale comparisons at the same HRT of 10 h and solids residence time (SRT) of 12 d.

Ramphao et al. (2006) reported that membranes was to reduce sludge thickening and stabilization costs and zone mass fraction which can optimize biological nitrogen and phosphorus removal.

Some of the reported advantageous MBR operating conditions i.e. long solids resident time (SRT) and low sludge production are not necessarily conducive to enhanced biological phosphorus removal (EBPR). The sparse literature on EBPR in MBRs is controversial. Lesjean et al. (2002) operated a University of Cape town (UCT) adapted MBR process on a wastewater with COD:N:P ratios of 100:7:1 at an HRT of 18-21 h and SRT of 15 d, and achieved effluent P below 0.1 mg/L without chemical addition, attributing the high P removal primarily to EBPR, with retention of solids and colloids by the membrane as secondary.

On the other hand, Fleischer et al. (2005) operated a 6-stage pilot MBR on primary effluent with COD:N:P ratio of 100:13:2 at an HRT of 8.4 h and SRT of 19 to 23 d, and maintained effluent P of 2 mg/L, decreasing to 0.1 mg/L at an alum dose of 2.7

and mole Al/mgTP. Mouthon-Bello Zhou (2006)operated pilot а anoxic/anaerobic/aerobic MBR system at HRTs of 5.8 and 7.9 h, and SRTs of 20 and 50 d on two municipal wastewaters (MWW) characterized by COD:N:P ratios of 100:17:3.4 and 100:17:1.6, respectively and interestingly found that despite a longer SRT in the latter case, P in the membrane tank decreased from 1.8 to 0.7 mg/L, with permeate concentrations of 0.5 and 0.1 mg/L. The aforementioned authors concluded that EBPR did not occur and attributed P removal to precipitation by the relatively high influent metals and particulates rejection by the membrane. Furthermore, Monti et al. (2006) in a comparative assessment of EBPR in a conventional and membrane-assisted UCT pilots treating primary effluent at HRTs of 7-12 h and SRT of 12 d, that when the influent VFA were limiting, because of the lower yield in the MBR, the conventional system exhibited better soluble P removal.

2.3. Membrane fouling

2.3.1 Membrane Fouling mechanisms

Although MBR process is reliable in terms of perfect capture of solids in the system, membrane fouling has restricted its practical application and increased operational costs (Le-Clech et al., 2006).

Figure 2.5 presents the major mechanism of fouling SMP and EPS accumulated on membrane surfaces. Pore clogging occurs due to colloidal and cell debris. Deposition of sludge cake on membrane surfaces increases transmembrane pressure and decrease permeability. Some of foulants are easily removed, thus called reversible fouling, compared to irreversible fouling caused by deposition of organic and inorganic components into membrane pores.



Figure 2.5 Mechanism of biofouling in membrane separation bioreactors. (adapted from Liao et al., 2004)

2.3.2 Fouling factors

Table 2.3 categorizes fouling factors. Membrane fouling occurs through interaction among the various factors. Extensive research on membrane fouling has unveiled the impact of many operational conditions such as HRT, SRT, dissolved oxygen (DO), temperature and aeration as well as sludge characteristics i.e. particle size, viscosity (Le-Clech et al, 2006).

Table 2.3 Fouling impact factors

Fluid Mechanics	Shear stress on membrane
Membrane module	Fiber packing density, space distance
Membrane material	Hydrophobicity, surface charge, pore size
Operating conditions	pH, HRT, SRT, Food to microorganism ratio, ion strength
Sludge properties	EPS, Particle size, hydrophobicity, surface charge,

Several studies reported that MLSS concentration impact on membrane fouling is not significant at 4-12 g/L and even no direct relationship was observed (Bouhabila et al., 1998). Lim and Bai, (2003) observed that small particles tend to decrease filterability.

Membrane material impact on fouling was presented by Yamato et al (2006) which observed that polyvinylidene fluoride membrane was better than polyethylene membrane in terms of reducing irreversible fouling. According to Chang et al. (2001) hydrophobic membrane formed more cake layer than hydrophilic membrane as the membrane pore size was same.

Membrane fouling is also influenced by use of suspended carrier. Yang et al. (2006) investigated membrane fouling through comparative study with/without suspended carrier and observed that membrane fouling was lower in membrane system with addition of suspended carrier.

MBR configuration can also influence fouling propensity. According to Chae et al (2006) which studied fouling difference between an anoxic/aerobic series MBR and a vertical submerged MBR, the former showed greater fouling tendency than the latter.

Membrane fouling is related to microbiology. Choi et al. (2006) observed that non dominant species in activated sludge deposited on the membrane causing irreversible fouling. Meng et al (2006) studied that bulking sludge showed greater fouling tendency than normal sludge due to irregular shape of flocs and higher EPS and sludge viscosity.

The influence of F/M ratio on the irreversible and reversible fouling rate in a wide range of MLSS concentration was conducted by Watanabe et al. (2006). They observed irreversible fouling rate increased with F/M ratio at low MLSS concentration of 2-3g/L but reversible fouling rate increased with F/M ratio at high MLSS concentration of 8-12g/L. The former case was associated with accumulation of dissolved organic carbon in mixed liquor while the latter was related to increased viscosity in high concentration of MLSS.

SRT is also impacting factor on membrane. Bouhabila et al. (1998) observed that membrane fouling was greater at SRT of 30 days compared to 10 and 20 days. But at extreme low SRT i.e. 2 days fouling drastically increased compared to 10 days (Trussell et al., 2006).

Several studies stressed the effect of DO concentration on biofilm formation. Jin et al (2006) tested DO concentration impact on fouling observing that at low DO fouling increased 7.5 times as high DO fouling due to reduced porosity by low DO biofilm.

Figure 2.6 describes the formation of EPS and SMP. EPS is polymer formed through microbial activity. It consists of protein and polysaccharides as well as lipids and nucleic acids. EPS play an important role in floc formation and protection. EPS can be formed through substrate utilization and biomass metabolism. Bound EPS in floc can be subsequently hydrolyzed to soluble form, which is called SMP. SMP can be also formed through substrate utilization. Thus, SMP can be produced via two pathways i.e. utilization associated production (UAP) and biomass associated production (BAP).

SMP production is influenced by operational conditions such as SRT, HRT, temperature, and F/M ratio.



Figure 2.6 EPS and SMP formation (adapted from Laspidou and Rittmann, 2002)

It is generally established that the main fouling factors are EPS and SMP, particularly SMP which are often cited as the primary foulants. Nonetheless the published findings present various contradictory conclusions on foulants due to the complexity of microbial systems. Lesjean et al. (2004) addressed that SMP is a more important factor than EPS. Le-Clech et al. (2006) suggested that carbohydrate in SMP is related to fouling. On the contrary, Drews et al. (2007) observed that SMP was not a governing factor in membrane fouling at influent COD as high as 1200 mg/L. Lee et al. (2003) observed poor

relationship between EPS and fouling but it was suggested that EPS composition is a more important factor than EPS concentration.

2.3.3 Fouling control

Membrane fouling can be mitigated via physical or chemical methods. Physical cleaning includes permeate relaxation and backwashing. Relaxation is the state of pausing filtration while backwashing refers to reversing permeate flow direction. Both methods are effective in recovering permeability. Psoch and Schiewer (2006) tested the influence of membrane cleaning in three ways i.e. only air sparging, only backflushing and combination of air sparging and backflushing and observed that the combination protocol presented lowest overall resistance and highest permeability.

However, physical cleaning effectiveness decreases as irreversible fouling accumulates in membrane, thus necessitating chemical cleaning. Recommended chemical agents are NaOCl and citric acid for organic and inorganic fouling, respectively according to protocol provided by membrane suppliers. Normally, maintenance cleaning for maintaining design permeability employs 0.01 wt.% NaOCl for 30 min at every 3-7 days while recovery cleaning is carried out at 0.2-0.5 wt.% NaOCl or 0.2-0.3 wt.% citric acid although the specific protocol varies from a plant to another. (Le-Clech et al., 2006)

2.3.4 Membrane fouling characteristics in BNR systems

Compared to various studies on MBR employing single reactor for biochemical oxygen demand removal and nitrification, the studies on membranes employed for BNR have been sparse (Lesjean et la., 2002; Mouthon-Bellow and Zhou, 2006; Fleischer et al., 2005; Kang et al., 2007). Recently, typical fouling studies with membrane coupled BNR have been reported (Drews et al., 2007; Ahmed et al., 2007; Chae et al., 2006; Lyko et al., 2008).

Some of findings are in agreement with the observations from conventional MBR systems. For instance, the positive impact of longer SRT on fouling was observed by Ahmed et al. (2007) with anoxic-aerobic SBR system at SRTs of 20-100 days. It is also consistent with the finding of Liang et al. (2007) using single stage MBR system at the different SRTs of 10, 20 and 40 days. Chae et al. (2006) confirmed that HRT is inversely proportional to EPS and particle size. Lyko et al. (2008) observed that membrane performance of full scale system deteriorated as temperature dropped to as low as 4 °C. However, several particular observations that distinguished MBR applications for BNR from single oxic MBR are noteworthy. Ahmed et al. (2008) conducted an investigation of feed composition impact on biomass community and fouling in SBR systems, and concluded that more rapid fouling was observed with propionate or methanol based feed than with acetate or glucose-rich feed. However, relatively higher content of phosphorus accumulating organisms and improvement of phosphorus removal was observed with

acetate or methanol rich substrates than with glucose or propionate substrate, suggesting that an acetate feed is optimal for BNR-based MBR processes as a proper external carbon source for assisting both fouling mitigation and EBPR performance.

Geilvoet et al. (2006) performed filtration test with denitrification and nitrification tank sludge samples and observed better filterability in the nitrification tank samples. According to the study by Rosenberger et al. (2006), an MBR system with postdenitrification exhibited lower fouling propensity than pre-denitrification, revealing that the reason was not because of denitrification scheme but because of SMP accumulation.

2.4 References

Ahmed Z.; Lim B.; Cho J.; Song K.; Kim K.; Ahn K. (2008) Biological nitrogen and phosphorus removal and changes in microbial community structure in a membrane bioreactor: effect of different carbon sources, *Water Res.* **42**, 198-210.

Awobamise M.; Jones K.; Khan E.; Murthy S. (2007) Long-term biodegrability of dissolved organic nitrogen. *Proceedings of the 79th Annual Water Environment Federation Technical Exposition and Conference* [CD-ROM]; San Diego, California, Oct 15-17; Water Environment Federation: Alexandria, Virginia, 5340-5341.

Barnard J. L. (2006) biological nutrient removal: Where we have been, where we are going?, Proceedings of WEFTEC Dallas TX

Bortone G; Saltarelli R; Alonso V.; Sorm R. (1996) Biological anoxic phosphorus removal – The DEPHANOX Process. *Water Sci. Technol.* **34**, 119-128.

Bouhabila E.H.; Ben Aim R.; Buisson H. (1998) Microfiltration of activated sludge using submerged membrane with air bubbling (application to wastewater treatment). *Desalination*, **118**, 315-322.

Chae S. R.; Ahn Y. T.; Kang S. T.; Shin H. S. (2006) Mitigated Membrane Fouling in a Vertical Submerged Membrane Bioreactor (VSMBR). J. Membr. Sci., 280, 572-581..

Chae S.R.; Ahn Y.T.; Kang S.T.; Shin H.S. (2006) Mitigated membrane fouling in a vertical submerged membrane bioreactor (VSMBR), J. Membr. Sci. 280, 572-581.

Chang I.-S.; Bag S.-O; Lee C.-H. (2001) Effects of membrane fouling on solute rejection during membrane filtration of activated sludge. *Process Biochemistry*, **36**, 855-860.

Choi H.; Zhang K.; Dionysiou D.D.; Oerther D. B.; Sorial G.A. (2006) Effect of Activated Sludge Properties and Membrane Operation Conditions on Fouling Characteristics in Membrane Bioreactors. *Chemosphere*, **63**, 1699-1708.

Davies W.J.; M.S. Le; Heath C.R. (1998) Intensified activated sludge process with submerged membrane microfiltration. *Water Sci. Technol.* vol. **38**, 421-428

Drews A.; Mante J.; Iversen V.; Vocks M.; Lesjean B.; Kraume M. (2007) Impact of ambient conditions on SMP elimination and rejection in MBRs, *Water Res.* **41**, 3850-3858.

Evenblij H. (2006) Filtration characteristics in membrane bioreactors, Delf University of Technology PhD thesis.

Filipe C. D. M.; Daigger G. T.; Leslie Grady Jr C. P. (2001) Stoichiometry and kinetics of acetate uptake under anaerobic conditions by an enriched culture of phosphorus-accumulating organisms at different pHs, *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 76, 32-43.

Fleischer E.J.; Broderick T.A.; Daigger G.T.; Fonseca, A.D.; Holbrook R.D.; Murthy S.N. (2005) Evaluation of membrane bioreactor process capabilities to meet stringent effluent nutrient discharge requirements. *Water Environ. Res.* 77 (2), 162–178.

Gaudy A.F.; Gaudy E.T. (1980) Microbiology for environmental scientists and engineers, McGraw-Hill. 395.

Geilvoet S.P.; Remy M.; Evenblij H.; Temmink H.; van der Graaf J.H.J.M. (2006) Tracing membrane foulants in membrane bioreactors by filtration characterisation and fractionation, *Water Sci. Technol.* **6**, 165-172.

Henze M.; van Loosdrecht M.C.M.; Brdjanovic D; Ekama G.A. (2008) Biological wastewater treatment: Principles, Modelling and Design. IWA publishing.

Hu Z.R.; Wentzel M.C.; Ekama G.A. (2002) Anoxic growth of phosphate accumulating organisms (PAOs) in biological nutrient removal activated sludge system. *Water Res.* **36**, 4927-4937.

Isaacs S.H.; Henze M. (1995) Controlled carbon source addition to an alternating nitrification-denitrification wastewater treatment process including biological phosphorus removal. *Wat. Res.* **29**, 77-89.

Judd S.; Judd C. (2006) The MBR book:principles and applications of membrane bioreactors in water and wastewater treatment. *Elsevier*.

Kang S.; Lee W.; Chae S.; Shin H. (2007) Positive roles of biofilm during the operation of membrane bioreactor for water reuse, *Desalination* **202**, 129-134.

Laspidou C.S.; Rittmann B.E. (2002) A unified theory for extracellular polymeric substances, soluble microbial products, and active and inert biomass, *Water Res.* 36, 2711-2720.

Le-Clech, P.; Chen, V.; Fane, T.A.G. (2006) Fouling in membrane bioreactors used in wastewater treatment, *J. Membr. Sci.* **284**, 17–53.

Lee W. Kang; S.; Shin H. (2003) Sludge characteristics and their contribution to microfiltration in submerged membrane bioreactors, *J. Membr. Sci.* **216**, 217–227.

Lesjean B.; Gnirss R.; Adam C. (2002) Process configurations adapted to membrane bioreactors for enhanced biological phosphorus and nitrogen removal, *Desalination* **149**, 217-224.

Lesjean B.; Rosenberger S.; Laabs C.; Jekel M.; Gnirss R.; Amy G. (2004) Correlation between membrane fouling and soluble/colloidal organic substances in membrane bioreactors for municipal wastewater treatment, *Water Sci. Tech.* **51**, 1-8.

Liang S.; Liu C.; Song L. (2007) Soluble microbial products in membrane bioreactor operation: behaviors, characteristics, and fouling potential, *Water Res.* **41**, 95-101.

Liao B.Q.; Bagley D.M.; Kraemer H.E.; Leppard G.G.; Liss S.N. (2004) A review of biofouling and its control in membrane separation bioreactor, *Water Environ. Res.* 76, 425-436.

Lim A.L.; Bai R. (2003) Membrane fouling and cleaning in microfiltration of activated sludge wastewater, *J. Membr. Sci.* **216**, 279-290.

Lyko S.; Wintgens T.; Al-Halbouni D.; Baumgarten S.; Tacke D.; Drensla K.; Janot A.; Dott W.; Pinnekamp J.; Melin T. (2008) Long term monitoring of a full scale municipal membrane bioreactor-Characterisation of foulants and operational performance, *J Membr. Sci.* **317**, 78-87.

Meng F.; Zhang H.; Yang F.; Li Y.; Xiao J.; Zhang X. (2006) Effect of Filamentous Bacteria on Membrane Fouling In submerged Membrane Bioreactor. J. Membr. Sci., 272, 161-168.

Metcalf and Eddy (2003) Wastewater Engineering: Treatment and Reuse. 4th Ed., McGraw-Hill, New York. Monti A.; Hall E.R.; Dawson R.N.; Husain H.; Kelly H.G. (2006) Comparative Study of Biological Nutrient Removal (BNR) Processes with sedimentation and membrane-based separation. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **94**, 740-752.

Mouthon-Bello, J.; Zhou, H. (2006) Performance of a submerged membrane bioreactor system for biological nutrient removal. *Water Environ. Res.* **78**, 538-547.

O'Shaughnessy M.; Harvey G.B.; Sizemore J.; Murthy S.N. (2006) Influence of plant parameters on effluent organic nitrogen. *Proceedings of the 78th Annual Water Environment Federation Technical Exposition and Conference* [CD-ROM]; Dallas, Texas, Oct 21-25; Water Environment Federation: Alexandria, Virginia, 3417-3423.

Oehmen A.; Yuan Z.; Blackall L. L.; Keller J. (2005) Comparison of Acetate and Propionate Uptake by Polyphosphate Accumulating Organisms and Glycogen Accumulating Organisms, *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **91**, 162-168.

Pagilla K.R.; Urgun-Demirtas M.; Ramani R. (2006) Low effluent nutrient technologies for wastewater treatment, *Water Sci. Technol.* 53, 165-172.

Pagilla, K. (2007) Presentation at Water Environment Research Foundation and Chesapeake Bay Science and Technology Advisory Committee Workshop, Baltimore, MD, September 27/28. Parkin G.; McCarty P.L. (1981) Sources of soluble organic nitrogen in activated sludge effluents. Journal Water Pollution Control Federation. January 1981.

Pehlivanoglu-Mantas E.; Sedlak D. (2006) Wastewater-Derived Dissolved organic nitrogen: analytical methods, characterization, and effects-a review. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **36**, 261-285.

Psoch C.; Schiewer S. (2006) Resistance analysis for enhanced wastewater membrane filtration. J. Membr. Sci., 280, 284-297.

Ramphao M. C.; Wentzel, M. C.; Ekama G. A.; Alexander W.V.(2006) A Comparison of BNR Activated Sludge Systems with Membrane and Settling Tank Solid-Liquid Separation. *Water Sci. Technol.* **53**, 295-303..

Randall W. C.; Barnard J.L.; Stensel H.D. (1992) Design and retrofit of wastewater treatment plants for biological nutrient removal. *CRC press*.

Randall A. A.; Liu Y.H. (2002) Polyhydroxyalkanoates form potentially a key aspect of aerobic phosphorus uptake in enhanced biological phosphorus removal, *Water Res.*, **36**, 3473–3478.

Rosenberger S.; Laabs C.; Lesjean B.; Gnirss R.; Amy G.; Jekel M.; Schrotter J.C. (2006) Impact of colloidal and soluble organic material on membrane performance in membrane bioreactors for municipal wastewater treatment, *Water Res.* **40**, 710-720. Siegrist H.; Krebs P.; Buhler R.; Purtschert I.; Rock C.; Rufer R. (1995) Denitrification in secondary clarifier. *Water Sci. Technol.* **31**, 205-214.

Tam N.F.Y.; Wong Y.S.; Leung G. (1992) Effect of exogenous carbon sources on removal of inorganic nutrient by nitrification-denitrification process. *Water. Res.* 26, 1229-1236.

Trussell R.S.; Merlo R.P.; Hermanowicz S.W.; Jenkins D. (2006) The effect of organic loading on process performance and membrane fouling in a submerged membrane bioreactor treating municipal wastewater, *Water Res.* **40**, 2675–2683.

Urgun-Demirtas M.; Sattayatewa C.; Pagilla K.R. (2007) Bioavailability of dissolved organic nitrogen in treated effluent, *Proceedings of the 79th Annual Water Environment Federation Technical Exposition and Conference* [CD-ROM]; San Diego, California, Oct 15-17; Water Environment Federation: Alexandria, Virginia, 1354-1373.

Watanabe Y.; Kimura K.; Itonaga T.(2006) Influence of dissolved organic carbon and suspension viscosity on membrane fouling in submerged membrane bioreactor. *Sep. Sci. Technol*, **47**, 1371-1382.

Yamato N.; Kimura K.; Miyoshi T.; Watanabe Y. (2006) Difference in Membrane Fouling in Membrane Bioreactors (MBRs) caused by Membrane Polymer Materials. J. Membr.Sci., 280, 911-919..

Yang Q.; Chen J.; Zhang F. (2006) Membrane Fouling Control in a Submerged Membrane Bioreactor with Porous, Flexible Suspended Carriers. *Desalination*, **189**, 292-302..

Yang W.; Cicek N.; Ilg J. (2006) State-of-the-art of membrane bioreactors: Worldwide research and commercial applications in North America, J. *Membre. Sci.* **270**, 201-222.

3.0 Material and Methods

3.1 System description

The laboratory scale MBR process, patented in North America (Nakhla and Patel, 2008), consists of four units made of acrylic plastic: anaerobic reactor, clarifier, anoxic reactor and aerobic reactor. A schematic diagram of the system is shown in Fig 3.1a. Influent wastewater is fed into the anaerobic tank along with internal recycled sludge from anoxic tank at 250% of the raw wastewater flow rate. The effluent from the anaerobic tank goes into the clarifier in which the sludge is concentrated to enter anoxic tank while the supernatant flows by gravity to the aerobic tank. Aerobic sludge is recycled to the anoxic tank for denitrification at 3.5 times the influent flow. A hollow membrane ultrafilter (Fig 3.1b) with a pore size of 0.04 μ m and surface area of 0.09 m² (Zenon Environmental System Inc., Oakville, ON, Canada) is placed in the aeration tank and operated at flux of 12 L/m²/h.

The conventional A^2O system illustrated in Figure 3.1c consists of three tanks and a clarifier. Internal recirculation from the aerobic to the anoxic tank and sludge recycle from the clarifier to the anaerobic tank were set at 350 and 70%, respectively, of influent wastewater flow rate.

UCT MBR (UMBR) consists of anaerobic, anoxic, and aerobic tanks (Fig 3.1d). The recycled sludge streams were from anoxic tank to anaerobic and from aerobic tank to anoxic at the rate of 2.5 and 3.5 times the influent flowrate.







Figure 3.1 System description (a) NMBR (b) hollow fiber membrane (c) A²O (d) UMBR (Q, P and M denote flowrate, pump and mixer, respectively).

3.2 Feed characteristics

3.2.1 Synthetic wastewater

The synthetic feed (in mg/L) was composed of sodium acetate (128), glucose (143), peptone (83), ammonia chloride (97.3), potassium phosphate monobasic/dibasic (11/13), sodium bicarbonate (280) and trace metals. The trace metals added were (in mg/L): MgSO₄ (69.6), CuSO₄·5H₂O (0.06), MnCl₂·4H₂O (0.24), NaMoO₄·2H₂O (0.06), CoCl₂·6H₂O (0.24), ZnCl₃ (0.3). The feed was prepared nearly once a day and used without storage. This composition was purposely chosen such that short chain VFA and readily biodegradable COD constituted 30% and 40% of the total COD, respectively, to avoid any limitation of short chain VFA to PAO which has often been reported in real wastewater treatment plants.

3.2.2 Municipal wastewater

Screened municipal wastewater from Adelaide wastewater plant (London, Canada) was stored at 4 °C prior to use. The Adelaide pollution control plant is a conventional activated sludge plant with seasonal nitrification through two independent sections with a total rated capacity of $36,400 \text{ m}^3/\text{d}$.

3.3 System operation

3.3.1 Start-up and SRT control

Both systems were inoculated with activated sludge from Adelaide wastewater plant (London, Canada) and mixed with anaerobic sludge from an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) system to expedite start-up. Following start-up and commissioning, SRT was controlled by wasting sludge corresponding to 10% of reactor volume from each reactor on daily basis. The solids in the clarifier were also accurately accounted for by emptying the clarifier and mixing its contents.

3.3.2 NMBR vs A²O comparative study

Both systems were operated at an influent flowrate of 66 L/d corresponding to a bioreactor HRT of 8 h using SWW and MWW, which was within operational conditions of conventional systems. Although MBRs are operated at much longer SRTs, the SRT of 10 d was selected to ensure fair comparison at conditions typical of the conventional A²O. Both the new MBR and A²O processes were tested at the anaerobic, anoxic and aerobic biomass fractions corresponding to respective bioreactor volumes of 5/5/12 L. Temperature and pH in the bioreactors of both systems were 21-24 °C and 7-7.5, respectively. Dissolved oxygen (DO) was maintained 0.8-2 mg/L in the aerobic reactor. The system was run for a total of 320 d, with 150 d using SWW and 170 d using MWW or 15 and 17 turnovers of the SRT.

3.3.3 NMBR vs UMBR comparative study

Both systems were operated at a bioreactor HRT of 6 h (an influent flowrate of 88 L/d) and a SRT of 10 d and compared at anaerobic, anoxic, aerobic bioreactor volumes of 5, 5, and 12 L, respectively. However, due to filtration decline as a result of membrane

fouling, actual flow was within 10% of the design flowrate. The systems were controlled by a programmable logic control (MicroLogix 1100, Allen-Bradley, USA) which also recorded the change of transmembrane pressure (TMP). To prevent overflow, the water level in the membrane tanks was controlled by a level sensor and controller (GEMS[®] ELS-100/opto-PAK). The filtration mode was composed of 50 min of continuous filtration, 4 min of relaxation and 1 min of backwashing. Backwash flowrate was set at 60 mL/min, corresponding to a flux of 12 L/m²/h. The system was run for a total of 300 d or 30 turnovers of the mean SRT. During the first 150 days, the system was fed with settled MWW. However, after 150 days the MWW was supplied without settling and supplemented with 30 mg/L of acetic acid to supply sufficient VFA for P release of PAO in anaerobic zone and enhance P removal.

3.3.4 Membrane cleaning

Membranes were cleaned by soaking in a 200 ppm NaOCl solution for 6 h and washing with clean water as TMP reached a maximum of 57 kPa as recommended by the supplier.

3.4 Analytical methods

3.4.1 General parameters

Samples of the influent and each process effluent stream i.e. anaerobic, anoxic, aerobic stage and clarifier were collected and analyzed for total suspended solids (TSS), volatile suspended solids (VSS), sludge volume index (SVI) and total/soluble Kjeldahl

nitrogen (TKN/STKN) using Standard Methods (APHA, 1998). Total/soluble COD (TCOD/SCOD), NH₃, NO₃, NO₂, Total/soluble phosphorus (TP/SP) were measured using HACH methods and test kits (HACH Odyssey DR/2500). Soluble parameters were determined after filtration through a 0.45 μ m filter paper.

A DO meter (YSI, Model 50) was used in monitoring dissolved oxygen in reactor. pH and oxidation reduction potential (ORP) were measured in each reactor with a pH meter (Thermo Orion, Model 330) and ORP meter (WTW Gmbh and Co.KG, Model Multi 340i), respectively.

3.4.2 VFA analysis

Volatile fatty acids (VFAs) in the wastewater were analyzed by a gas chromatograph (GC Varian 3800, Varian Canada Inc., Mississauga, Canada), equipped with a flame ionization detector and a fused silica column. Filtered samples were injected into the column (CP-Sil 5 CB) at 250 °C detector temperature with 1/10 split ratio. Column temperatures were maintained at 110 °C for 0.5 min, 130 °C for 4 min and 165 °C for 2 min with temperature increase at the rate of 20 °C/min.

3.4.3 Fouling parameter analysis

Particle size distribution was determined by Malvern Mastersizer 2000 (Malvern Instruments Ltd., Worcestershire, United Kingdom) using laser diffraction measurement on samples in suspension. In principle, particles are passed though a focused laser beam

and these particles scatter light at an angle being inversely proportional to their size. The angular intensity of the scattered light is measured by a series of photosensitive detectors. EPS extraction from mixed liquor samples was conducted by a method using DOWEX (Sigma-Aldrich 91973) as a cationic exchange resin (CER), which was added to the samples at the ratio of 75g CER/g dry VSS and stirred at 600 rpm for 2 hr (Frølund et al., 1996). The treated EPS sample was subsequently centrifuged at 12,000×g for 15 min (Sorvall® RC-5B Refrigerated Superspeed Centrifuge). SMP sample from mixed liquor was collected after centrifugation at 12,000×g for 15 min and filtration through 0.45 μ m filer paper. Extraction and centrifugation was carried out at 4 °C to avoid biomass activity. EPS and SMP were determined by summing carbohydrate and protein.

Bound EPS was determined by subtracting SMP from EPS. Carbohydrate was measured according to the method of Dubois et al. (Dubois et al., 1956) with glucose as the standard. Protein was determined by micro bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay (Pierce, Rockford, USA) using standard solution of bovine serum albumin (BSA), which was modified from Lowry et al. (Lowry et al., 1951) method.

3.5 Batch test

3.5.1 P release and uptake

P release and uptake rates were determined by batch tests, wherein 1L of mixed liquor was centrifuged at $3000 \times g$ (Beckman Coulter, Allegra 6 centrifuger, USA) for 5 min with the supernatant replaced with nutrient-rich distilled water. After N₂ sparging to

remove oxygen, 30-40 mg/L acetic acid was spiked and pH was adjusted to 7.1±0.1. Samples were collected every 15 min during the first 3 h for monitoring VFA and P concentration. As P release was completed, half of mixed liquor was transferred to another bottle for supplying oxygen for P uptake. For anoxic P uptake, excess nitrate were added into the initial anaerobic bottle. Samples from the two bottles were collected every 15 min for monitoring P and nitrate reduction. DPAO content was estimated from batch tests according to Meinhold et al. (1999), where the aerobic P uptake rate by non-DPAO is calculated by subtracting the anoxic P uptake rate (q_{ax}) from aerobic P uptake rate (q_{ao}), with the anoxic P uptake rate in anoxic conditions by DPAO assumed at 80% of their aerobic P uptake rate. Thus, the DPAO content can be obtained from Eq (3.1).

$$\frac{DPAO}{non - DPAO} = \frac{q_{ax} / 0.8}{q_{ao,cor}}$$
Eq. (3.1)

3.5.2 P fractionation

P fractionation was done according to the method of de Haas et al. (2000) which relies on the principle that extraction of biomass with perchloric acid (PCA) and NaOH recovers metal phosphates (orthophosphates), and biologically bound polyphosphates, respectively. The supernatants from sequential centrifugation of 50 mL of the mixed liquor at $3000 \times g$ for 5 min prior to and after addition of 10 ml of 0.9% NaCl solution represents loosely adsorbed phosphorus on biomass. Subsequently, the biomass was extracted three times with PCA followed by NaOH. PCA extraction was done by adding 20 mL 0.5 M PCA in the sludge pellet and shaking at 0-3°C for 5 min, followed by centrifuging and supernatant removal while NaOH extractions were conducted using 20 mL 1M NaOH for 30 min, 15min and 15min. The final residue of biomass pellets after extractions was resuspended with 50 mL of distilled water. TP in initial sludge, initial supernatant, the two extracts i.e. PCA and NaOH and residue were analysed while ortho-P in initial supernatant and two extracts was measured after filtering through 0.45 μ m filter paper. Recovery was determined as the ratio of the sum of TP obtained in rest of steps and initial TP in sludge according to Eq (3.2). Ortho-P in the two extracts is chemical bound P while non-orthoP in TP is mostly biologically formed P, or complex P.

Recovery (%) =

TP in supernatant + TP in PCA extract + TP in NaOH extract + TP in residue TP in mixed liquor ×100

Eq (3.2)

3.6 References

De Haas D.W.; Wentzel M.C.; Ekama G.A. (2000) The use of simultaneous chemical precipitation in modified activated sludge systems exhibiting biological excess phosphate removal Part 2: Method development for fractionation of phosphate compounds in activated sludge. *Water SA* **26**, 453-466.

Dubois M.; Gilles K.A.; Hamilton J.K.; Rebers P.A.; Smith F. (1956) Colorimetric method for determination of sugars and related substances, *Anal. Chem.* **28**, 350–356.

Frølund B.; Palmgren R.; Keiding K.; P.H. Nielsen (1996) Extraction of extracellular polymers from activated sludge using a cation exchange resin, *Water Res.* **30**, 1749–1758.

Lowry O.H.; Rosebrough N.H.; Farr A.L.; Randall R.J. (1951) Protein measurements with the folin phenol reagent, *J. Biol. Chem.* **193**, 265–275.

Meinhold J.; Filipe C.D.M.; Daigger G.T.; Isaacs S. (1999) Characterization of the denitrifying fraction of phosphate accumulating organisms in biological phosphate removal. *Water Sci. Technol.* **39**, 31-41.

4.0 The beneficial role of intermediate clarification in a novel MBR based process for biological nitrogen and phosphorus removal

4.1 Introduction

BNR systems have been widely used for simultaneously reducing nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) from municipal wastewaters. In BNR configurations, final clarification was primarily considered for solids separation. However, depending on the sludge blanket retention, the clarifier assisted partially in nitrogen removal due to denitrification within the sludge blanket, at the cost of higher effluent suspended solids (Siegrist et al., 1995; Monti et al., 2006).

Since membrane technology substituted final clarification the BNR system has presented several improvements such as smaller footprint of installation, lower sludge production and better nitrification (Monti et al., 2006). Recently, a novel MBR system has been developed as shown Fig 3.1a. (Nakhla and Patel, 2008; Patel et la., 2005) The salient feature of the system is the placement of a clarifier following the anaerobic tank, the concentrated biomass of which is sent to the anoxic tank while the ammonia-rich supernatant is treated in an aerobic tank employing submerged ultrafiltration membranes. The main advantages are lower sludge yield, higher denitrification potential, and higher P removal compared to conventional BNR systems. The comparative performance of this novel MBR configuration with other systems is presented in Table 4.1. Notwithstanding the various operational conditions, it is evident from Table 4.1 that the system (Patel et al., 2005) performance with respect to P and N removal is better than the DEPHANOX system (Sorm et al., 1998; Bortone et al., 1996) Johannesburg process (Bortone et al., 1996), the University of Cape Town (UCT) process (Monti et al., 2006), and the modified UCT employing membrane (Monti et al., 2006). By comparison with the four Anaerobic-Anoxic-Oxic (A²O) processes (Ma et al., 2005; Pai et al., 2004; Peng et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2006), this novel system produced lower final effluent phosphorus and nitrogen concentration than average of the four.

Table 4.1 also indicates that membrane-assisted BNR systems achieved final effluent concentrations of ammonia and chemical oxygen demand (COD) well below the conventional systems. However, a conventional BNR system can achieve lower effluent nitrates than an MBR system, due to the extra denitrification in the final clarifier, as reflected by the findings of Monti et al. (2006) who reported that 3 mg/L nitrates reduction in the final clarifier led to a lower final effluent nitrates concentration than the MBR.

Although a final clarifier is designed for good sludge settling and subsequently, maintaining stable biomass concentrations in the system, the operational failure due to pin floc or filamentous organisms' proliferation causes the discharge of high effluent suspended solids, necessitating incorporation of an additional bioreactor e.g. selector. In this application, intermediate clarifier is not restricted by sludge settling problem. In addition, it should be highlighted that the main purpose of intermediate clarifier is to adsorb soluble and colloidal COD to biomass, which enhances the denitrification efficiency in the anoxic tank. Thus, the hydraulic retention time can be also relatively shorter than the final clarifier.

Process & Reference	Feed*	HRT	SRT	Effluent (mg/L)				
		(hr)	(days)	TCOD (SCOD)	TKN (NH4-N)	NO ₃ -N	TN	TP (SP)
UCT ^c (Monti et al., 2006)	MWW	10	12	43 (22)	5 (0.1)	5	10	1 (0.2)
DEPHANOX ^a (Sorm et al., 1998)	MWW	23	10	34 (20)	6 (1.2)	12	18	0.6 (0.4)
DEPHANOX ^a (Bortone et al., 1996)	MWW	23	10	26 (13)	5 (1.5)	21	26	0.9 (0.5)
JHB ^b (Bortone et al., 1996)	MWW	18	20	30 (11)	4 (0.5)	17	21	2.7 (1.7)
A ² O ^d (Ma et al., 2005; Pai et al., 2004 ; Peng et al., 2006 ; Wang et al., 2006)	sww	9	11	18	2 (1)	7	9	0.3
MBR ° (Monti et al., 2006)	MWW	10	12	20	1 (0.1)	9	10	0.1
Novel MBR ^e (Patel et al., 2005)	sww	12	20	3	0.5 (0.4)	6	7	0.2

Table 4.1 Performance comparison from references.

*MWW (municipal wastewater) SWW (synthetic wastewater)

^a1:1.6:1.5, ^b1:3.4:4.5, ^c1:2.5:5.5, ^d1:0.8:2.2, ^e1:1:2 [Volume ratio anaerobic : anoxic : aerobic tank]

Compared to the broad knowledge on the role of final clarifier, the relevant study on the intermediate clarifier is very rare and its role is uncertain. It must be emphasized that although the DEPHANOX process is well known for adopting an intermediate clarifier among BNR systems, the fate of nutrients in the intermediate clarifier has not been delineated. Thus, this study aims at the elucidation on its role in terms of phosphorus and nitrogen removal through the novel MBR system employing an intermediate clarifier.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 System description

It is given chapter 3.1.

4.2.2. System operation

The MBR system was operated at bioreactor HRT of 8 h (an influent flowrate of 66 L/d) and a SRT of 10 d and compared at two different biomass fractions of 0.25/0.25/0.5 for anaerobic, anoxic and aerobic zone, respectively, denoted as MBR_P (the subscript P represents patent) and the typical fractions of 0.16/0.2/0.64 denoted as MBR_C (the subscript c represents conventional), corresponding to bioreactor volumes of 5/5/12 L and 3.5/4.5/14 L. Temperature and pH observed in both systems were 21-24 °C and 7-7.5, respectively. Dissolved oxygen (DO) was maintained 0.8-2 mg/L in the aerobic reactor. The system was run for a total of 150 d or 15 turnovers of the SRT approximately, with 80 d in Run 1. The SWW, system start-up and membrane cleaning are given in chapter 3.2.1, 3.3.1 and 3.3.4, respectively.

4.2.3 Analytical methods

It is given in chapter 3.4.1.

4.3 Results and discussion

4.3.1 Overall performance and mass balances

Table 4.2 shows the steady state effluent quality in the two runs. Steady state data was collected after 3 turnovers of the mean SRT. Data was found to fit normal distribution using the statistical software (Minitab 13.1) and hence the standard deviations of the data are reported in Table 4.2. Influent total COD concentration was 290-320 mg/L while steady state effluent MBR soluble COD concentrations were close at 5-9 mg/L during the two runs. The effluent NO₃-N concentrations from MBR_P and MBR_C averaged 7.9 and 7.6 mg/L respectively, while the effluent ortho P were 0.2 and 0.4 mg/L corresponding to 96 and 91% removal efficiency, with an average feed TP of 4.6 mg/L. Influent TSS, contributed by peptone, averaged 30 mg/L and anaerobic, anoxic and aerobic sludge were maintained at 2.3-2.5, 2.3-2.6 and 2.4-2.6 g SS/L for both runs, respectively.

Steady-state mass balances and the contribution of various removal mechanisms as a percentage of the total influent COD are presented in Table 4.3. The aerobic COD consumption obtained from the difference between the measured OUR and oxygen demand for nitrification in the aerobic tank was found to be 2.3-2.4 g/d. On the other hand, COD consumption through denitrification was calculated using Eq 4.1 (Metcalf and Eddy, 2003) and the biomass yields (Y_{obs}) of 0.17 and 0.16 g VSS/g COD for MBR_P

and MBR_C respectively. Nitrogen recovery was very close to 100% and nitrogen removed through denitrification accounted for 55-56% of the influent total nitrogen during the runs. The phosphorus mass balance between influent P and the combined P in effluent and in wastage also shows high closure.

COD consumption through denitrification =
$$\frac{2.86}{1 - 1.42 \times Y_{obs}}$$
 (4.1)

Table 4.2 Steady state influent and effluent quality obtained from two runs

<u> </u>						
Parameter	Influent	Run 1	Run 2			
r arameter	innuent	MBR _P _eff	MBR _C _eff			
TCOD	310 ± 10 (15)	-	-			
SCOD	250 ± 8 (15)	9 ± 4 (6)	5 ± 3 (9)			
TKN	33 ± 1 (14)	_	-			
STKN	28 ± 2 (14)	0.5 ± 0.2 (6)	0.4 ± 0.2 (9)			
NH4-N	24 ± 0.3 (25)	0.1 ± 0.03 (10)	0.1 ± 0.04 (15)			
NO ₃ -N	-	7.9 ± 0.4 (10)	7.6 ± 0.8 (15)			
NO ₂ -N	-	0.3 ± 0.2 (10)	$0.2 \pm 0.1 (15)$			
TP	4.6 ± 0.1 (27)	-	-			
PO ₄ -P	-	0.2 ± 0.1 (10)	0.4 ± 0.1 (15)			
SS	30 ± 9 (25)	-	-			
SVI (mL/g)	-	150 ± 19 (8)	180 ± 15 (11)			
Operational Conditions						
Parameter		MBR _P	MBR _C			
System MLSS (g/L) *		2.4 ± 0.1 (10)	2.5 ± 0.1 (15)			
TP in VSS (%)		6.5 ± 0.3 (10)	6.0 ± 0.5 (12)			
Sludge yield (g VSS/g COD)		$0.16 (R^2 = 0.96)$	$0.17 (R^2 = 0.98)$			
VSS/TSS		0.79 ± 0.02 (10)	0.79 ± 0.02 (15)			
OUR (mg O ₂ /L/h)		$35 \pm 2.4(5)$	34 ±2.8 (8)			

(All units are in mg/L except where stated otherwise.)

- Numbers within parenthesis are the number of samples, R^2 is the correlation coefficient of the linear relationship between cumulative VSS produced versus cumulative COD removed computed as liquid influent-liquid effluent COD.
- MBR_P were assigned 5/5/12L for anaerobic, anoxic and aerobic size respectively, correspondingly 1.8h/1.8h/4h of HRT compared to 3.5/4.5/14L in MBR_C at 1.3h, 1.6h and 5.1h.

Table 4.3 Mass balance in COD, Nitrogen and P

	MBR _P			MBR _C		
	COD	Ν	Р	COD	Ν	Р
Influent (g/d)	20.2	2.31	0.303	20.2	2.31	0.303
Wastage ^a	31	18	94	30	18	87
Effluent	3	25	4	2	24	9
Aerobic	11	N/M	N/M	12	N/M	N/M
Denitrification						
Anaerobic ^b	2	4	N/M	0.4	1	N/M
Anoxic ^{b,c}	23	50	N/M	25	53	N/M
Clarifier ^b	1	2	N/M	0.4	1	N/M
Total closure ^d	71	99	98	70	97	96

* All units are in % of feed except where stated otherwise.

• N/M represents not measured

a Wasted VSS is 4.5-4.6 g/d corresponding to 10% of VSS in the system.

b Calculated values based on Eq 4.1 and mass balance for COD and N, respectively

c DPAO denitrification accounts for 0.64 and 0.62g NO₃-N/d for MBR_P and MBR_C, respectively, out of denitrified nitrogen.

d Closure means the overall percentage of COD, N or P removed from the system out of influent. P mass balance closure: (P in effluent + P in wastage)/Influent P
4.3.2 P removal



Positive is uptake, Negative is release

a)



Figure 4.1 (a) The fate of orthophosphate and (b) the ratio of P release/uptake.

Figure 4.1a shows the anaerobic P release rates of 2.3 and 2.0 g/d in MBR_P and MBR_C, respectively. The effect of nitrates on PAOs in the anaerobic reactor appeared insignificant, as the denitrified nitrates in the anaerobic tanks averaged 0.02 g NO₃-N/d in MBR_C and 0.09 g NO₃-N/d in MBR_P as shown in Fig 4.2a respectively while released P was 2.0-2.3 g PO₄-P/d. With respect to P in the MBR_P, it is apparent that a P uptake of 0.16 g/d occurred in the clarifier, which appears to be associated with denitrification of 0.05 g NO₃-N/d. Interestingly, however, P release in the MBR_C with 30% shorter anaerobic HRT than the MBR_P was still observed in the clarifier, i.e. "an extended" anaerobic phase as will be discussed later. Figure 4.1a also demonstrates the anoxic and aerobic P uptake in each run. It appears that average anoxic P uptake accounted for 52 and 41% of the overall P uptake in MBR_P and MBR_C, respectively. Figure 4.1b displays the ratio of P release to uptake on a mass basis in the system. It clearly shows that the ratio is 1.1 which is close to the typical range of 1.15-1.2 suggested by Wentzel et al (1985).

4.3.3. Nitrogen Removal

b)



Figure 4.2 (a) The fractionation of denitrification and(b) pattern of denitrification in the anoxic tank.

Denitrification occurred in the anaerobic tank, the clarifier and the anoxic tank as seen from Fig 4.2a. As mentioned earlier, denitrification can be accompanied by the anoxic P uptake by DPAOs (Fig 4.2b). The amount of nitrates removed by DPAOs relative to P uptake has been reported and the average of 0.52 g NO₃-N/g P (Patel et al., 2006; Hu et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2001; Meinhold et al., 1999; Murnleitner et al., 1997) was used to estimate the contribution of DPAOs to denitrification. It is evident that P was removed in the anoxic tank at a mass rate of 0.7-1.3 g/d. Accordingly, DPAO denitrification accounts for 51-53% of total denitrification in the anoxic tank for both runs.



4.3.4. The beneficial role of the intermediate clarifier

Figure 4.3 The variation of soluble carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus in the clarifier.

Figure 4.3 presents the variation of the soluble organics and nutrients in the intermediate clarifier. COD was removed through fermentation of particulate COD, adsorption, denitrification and sequestration by PAO. It was observed that COD reduction was 0.74 and 1.21 g/d for MBR_P and MBR_C, respectively. Using the sludge yields of 0.16 and 0.17 gVSS/gCOD in Eq 4.1, the estimated COD consumption for the denitrification was 0.19 and 0.08 g/d for MBR_P and MBR_C. The calculated COD sequestered by PAO in the MBR_C, was 0.98 g/d using a ratio of 2 g COD/g P release. (Smolders et al., 1994)

Thus, average COD reduction due to P and N in the MBR_C was 1.06 g/d, indicating that 0.15 g/d was removed by COD adsorption to biomass. On the contrary, the estimated adsorbed COD in the MBR_P was 0.55 g/d which accounts for the 73% of the SCOD removal in the clarifier. However, although the adsorbed COD is higher in the MBR_P, it seems that it was not used as carbon source in the following anoxic tank because effluent nitrates were higher in the MBR_P than MBR_C. The data from Table 4.3 indicate that COD consumption in the intermediate clarifier was 0.07-0.21 g/d corresponding to 2-4% of the total COD consumption in the anaerobic or anoxic tank and 3-8% of the aerobic COD consumption.

The fate of COD in the intermediate clarifier appeared quite different as compared to the final clarifier. Generally, final clarifiers play the role of solids separation and the nature of COD in the place is slowly biodegradable or non biodegradable. Some of clarifiers can be utilized for denitrification through hydrolysis and endogenous respiration occurring in the sludge blanket. (Koch et al., 2001) On the contrary, the type of COD consumed in the intermediate clarifier was mainly readily biodegradable, which is used by anoxic heterotrophic organisms and PAOs. Some of the COD can also disappear through fermentation. Usually, anoxic heterotrophic organisms and DPAOs grow at 20 % lower yield than aerobic heterotrophic organisms and PAOs, respectively. Hence, these two organisms' activity can assist to reduce sludge production. (Gujer et al., 1995)

With respect to ammonia nitrogen, it was observed that ammonia was removed in the clarifier at the rate of 0.12-0.14 g/d (Fig 4.3). Based on 0.05 g NO₃-N/d denitrified and the sludge yield of 0.16 g VSS/ g COD, and using the typical nitrogen content in the sludge of 8%, the estimated nitrogen uptake for biomass synthesis is 0.002 g/d (= 0.2 gCOD/d×0.16gVSS/gCOD×0.08), which is negligible compared to the observed removal. Thus, a plausible mechanism of the reduction can be chemical precipitation i.e. struvite formation (MgNH₄PO₄·6H₂O). To commence the reaction two conditions should be met i.e. pH and ambient solution concentration. pH range can be widely implemented from 7 to 10 which covers the ambient clarifier pH of 7-7.3 in this study (Zeng et al., 2006). The concentrations of Mg²⁺, PO₄³⁻ and NH₄⁺ were 0.16, 0.5 and 0.75mM, respectively for the MBR_P. It exceeds the solubility product of struvite of 10^{-13.3} at 20 °C (Ohlinger et al.,1998). The decline of the ammonia nitrogen can assist the overall nitrogen removal even though the reduction is not significant at 0.5 mg/L correspondingly to 2% of the influent nitrogen.

As for the fate of ortho P in the intermediate clarifiers of MBR_P and MBR_C , as previously mentioned, it was observed that P removal occurred at the rate of 0.16 g/d in the MBR_P while P was released at the rate of 0.49 g/d in the MBR_C . The data clearly indicates that P reduction in the MBR_P occurred through two pathways i.e. chemical precipitation (struvite) and denitrification. The contribution of DPAOs to P removal in the MBR_P is 0.1 g P/d, of which 0.06 g P/d can not be justified on the basis of biological uptake implying chemical precipitation. P release in the MBR_c is directly associated with the rbCOD reduction. An argument can be made that the extra P release may be due to a metabolic phenomenon i.e. secondary release dissociated VFA consumption, which cannot be removed in the subsequent anoxic or aerobic stages. To verify the nature of the P release, using the well established P model in Eq. (4.2), P balance can be determined. (Meinhold et al., 1999)

P uptake = aP release + P (metabolic)
$$(4.2)$$

Effluent P = influent P - (a-1) P release - P(metabolic)
where, a=1.15-1.2,

P (metabolic) can be obtained from the calculation as follows; Y_{obs} (0.17 g VSS/g COD) × COD consumption (305 mg/L × 66 L/d × g/ 1000 mg) × P content in non-PAO organism (0.015 mg P/mg VSS) = 0.05 g P/d (0.78 mg P/L in the basis of influent flowrate).

The ratio of P release and uptake in this study, obtained from the plot of P release rate versus P uptake rate (Fig 4.1b) is 1.097 g/g. Use Eq (4.2) parameter values of 4.6 mg/L, 1.097, 36 mg/L and 0.78 mg/L for influent P, a, total P release and P (metabolic), respectively, yields effluent P of 0.3 mg/L close to the experimental value of 0.4 mg/L, thus confirming that the P release in the clarifier is definitely part of P release associated with VFA consumption.

To evaluate the intermediate clarifier contribution to the overall P removal in the MBR_{C} , the effluent P predicted without including intermediate clarifier P release according to Eq (4.2), using same P uptake/release ratio of 1.097 and average anaerobic P release of 29 mg/L, increases from 0.3 to 0.9 mg/L.

4.4 Conclusions

The goal of this study was to clarify the function of the intermediate clarifier of the novel MBR by investigating the fate of nutrients in the clarifier as well as biological nutrient removal performance at two different anaerobic HRT conditions. Within the HRT and SRT investigated in this study of 8 hours and 10 days for the treatment of wastewater characterized by average COD, TKN and P concentrations of 310, 33 and 4.6 mg/L, respectively, the following conclusions can be drawn:

- 1. The new MBR system achieved effluent nitrate and P concentrations of 7.6-7.9 and 0.2-0.4 mg/L, respectively.
- Anoxic P uptake accounted for 41-55% of the total P uptake. The contribution of DPAOs to denitrification in the anoxic tank was at 51-53% of the total denitrification.
- 3. The roles played by the intermediate clarifier in runs 1 and 2 are different. COD and nitrogen were removed through COD adsorption, sequestration, denitrification in both runs. However, while in run 1, P was removed through P uptake, in run 2, P was released due to insufficient preceding anaerobic HRT of 1.3 h, relatively 30% shorter than run 1.

- 4. The intermediate clarifier affected 3-8% COD reduction relative to the aerobic tank and 2% ammonia removal of the influent nitrogen.
- 5. An estimate of the contribution of intermediate clarifier indicates that effluent P increased from 0.3 to 0.9 mg/L without extra P release in the MBR_C clarifier.

The intermediate clarifier enhanced P removal and denitrification as compared to the conventional BNR. Thus, from a practical perspective, the capital cost of the intermediate clarifier should be weighed against the cost of additional chemical P removal and associated increased sludge treatment costs.

4.5 References

APHA (1998) Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 20th Ed. American Public Health Association, Washington DC, USA.

Bortone G; Saltarelli R; Alonso V.; Sorm R. (1996) Biological anoxic phosphorus removal – The DEPHANOX Process. *Water Sci. Technol.* 34, 119-128.

Gujer W.; Henze M.; Mino T.; Matsuo T.; Wentzel M.C.; Marais G.v.R. (1995) The activated sludge model No. 2: Biological phosphorus removal. *Water Sci. Technol.* **31**,1-11.

Hu Z.R.; Wentzel M.C.; Ekama G.A. (2002) Anoxic growth of phosphate accumulating organisms (PAOs) in biological nutrient removal activated sludge system. *Water Res.* **36**, 4927-4937.

Koch G.; Kuhni M.; Siergrist H. (2001) Calibration and validation of an ASM3-based steady-state model for activated sludge systems-part I: prediction of nitrogen removal and sludge production. *Water Res.* **35**, 2235-2245.

Lee D.S.; Jeon C.O.; Park J.M. (2001) Biological nitrogen removal with enhanced phosphate uptake in a sequencing batch reactor using single sludge system. *Water Res* **35**, 3968-3976.

Ma Y.; Peng Y.Z.; Wang X.; Wang S.Y. (2005) Nutrient removal performance of an anaerobic-anoxic-aerobic process as a function of influent C/P ratio. *J Chem. Technol. Biot.* **80**, 1118-1124.

Meinhold J.; Filipe C.D.M.; Daigger G.T.; Isaacs S. (1999) Characterization of the denitrifying fraction of phosphate accumulating organisms in biological phosphate removal. *Water Sci. Technol.* **39**, 31-41.

Metcalf and Eddy (2003), Wastewater Engineering: Treatment and Reuse. 4th Ed., McGraw-Hill, New York.

Monti A.; Hall E.R.; Dawson R.N.; Husain H.; Kelly H.G. (2006) Comparative Study of Biological Nutrient Removal (BNR) Processes with sedimentation and membrane-based separation. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **94**, 740-752.

Murnleitner E.; Kuba T.; van Loosdrecht M.C.M.; Heijnen J.J. (1997) An integrated metabolic model for the aerobic and denitrifying biological phosphorus removal. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 54, 434-450.

Nakhla G.; Patel J. (2008) Treatment of Wastewater Containing Phosphorus and Nitrogen. US Patent No. US 7,326,343 B2 dated Feb 5 (2008). Ohlinger K.N.; Young T.M.; Schroeder E.D. (1998) Predicting struvite formation in digestion. *Water Res.* 32, 3607-3614.

Pai T.Y.; Tsai Y.P.; Chou Y.J.; Chang H.Y.; Leu H.G.; Ouyang C.F. (2004) Microbial kinetic analysis of three different types of EBNR process. *Chemosphere* **55**, 109-118.

Patel A.; Gohil A.; Nakhla G, (2006) Parametric study of the factors influencing simultaneous denitrification and enhanced biological phosphorus removal. *J Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.* **81**, 636-647.

Patel J.; Nakhla G.; Margaritis A. (2005) Optimization of biological nutrient removal in a membrane bioreactor system. *J Environ. Eng.* **131**, 1021-1029.

Peng Y.Z.; Wang X.L.; Li B.K. (2006) Anoxic biological phosphorus uptake and the effect of excessive aeration on biological phosphorus removal in the A²O process. *Desalination* **189**, 155-164.

Siegrist H.; Krebs P.; Buhler R.; Purtschert I.; Rock C.; Rufer R. (1995) Denitrification in secondary clarifier. *Water Sci. Technol.* **31**, 205-214.

Smolders G.I.F.; van der Meij J.; van Loosdrecht M.C.M.; Heijnen J.J. (1994) Model of the anaerobic metabolism of the biological phosphorus removal process: Stoichiometry and pH influence. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **43**, 461-470.

Sorm R.; Bortone G.; Wanner J.; Tilche A. (1998) Behaviour of activated sludge from a system with anoxic phosphate uptake. *Water Sci. Technol.* **37**, 563-566.

Wang X.; Peng Y.; Wang S.; Fan J.; Cao X. (2006) Influence of wastewater composition on nitrogen and phosphorus removal and process control in A²O process. *Bioproc. Biosyst. Eng.* 28, 397-404.

WEF, ASCE, (1998) Design of Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants, 4th edition. 2, 15-67.

Wentzel M.C.; Dold P.L.; Ekama G.A.; Marais G.v.R. (1985) Kinetics of biological phosphorus release. *Water Sci. Technol.* 17, 57-71.

Zeng L.; Li X. (2006) Nutrient removal from anaerobically digested cattle manure by struvite precipitation. *J Environ. Eng. Sci.* 5, 285-294.

5.0 Comparative Performance of A²O and a novel MBR based Process for Biological Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal

5.1 Introduction

BNR systems have been widely used for removing nitrogen and phosphorus as well as organic matter from wastewater because of cost effectiveness and energy savings. Due to readily biodegradable COD (rbCOD) limitations in municipal wastewaters (MWW), several systems that use DPAOs in BNR process such as the external nitrification process (Bortone et al., 1996) have demonstrated their ability to achieve soluble effluent P of 0.5 mg/L at low influent carbon to nitrogen ratio of 3.8:1.

Today, BNR systems have employed membranes instead of final clarification and reported several advantages such as reduction of footprint and increase of nitrification rate. Monti et al. (2006) observed 15% lower sludge yield in the MBR system than in the identically operated conventional system with a final clarifier in pilot scale comparisons at the same HRT of 10 h and solids residence time (SRT) of 12 d.

Recently, a new MBR system for biological nutrient removal has been developed as shown in Figure 3.1a (Nakhla and Patel, 2006). The salient feature of the system is the placement of a clarifier following the anaerobic tank. The concentrated biomass in the clarifier is sent to the anoxic tank while supernatant is treated in an aerobic tank employing submerged ultrafiltration membranes. The main advantages are lower sludge yield, higher denitrification potential and higher P removal compared to conventional BNR systems. It must be asserted that even though this MBR system is similar in configuration to the DEPHANOX system (Bortone et al., 1996), it is a single sludge as opposed to the two-sludge DEPHANOX system, which employs fixed film processes for nitrification.

Typical MBRs operate at biomass concentrations of 8-15 g/L and long SRTs while conventional BNR systems operate at SRTs as low as 5-10 d, and mixed liquor suspended solids (MLSS) concentration of 3-4 g/L. Thus, the comparison between BNR systems employing clarifiers and submerged membranes (Monti et al, 2006) at similar operational conditions of HRT and SRT rather than the typical design conditions are evidently very sparse in the literature. Monti et al. (2006) observed that the MBR assisted BNR system achieved better P removal than conventional BNR system at the two tested HRTs of 7 and 10 h while slightly lower effluent nitrates were observed in the conventional system due to additional denitrification in the final clarifier.

The primary aim of this study is to compare the BNR capacity of this novel patented membrane assisted BNR system (Nakhla and Patel, 2008) with that of a conventional anaerobic-anoxic-oxic (A^2O) system. The focus of this study is on delineating differences in denitrification and biological P removal mechanisms rather than the role of clarifiers and membranes, which has been studied in a 2.2 m³ pilot-scale plant by Monti et al. (2006).

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 System description

It is given in chapter 3.1.

5.2.2 System operation

Both systems were operated at an influent flowrate of 66 L/d corresponding to a bioreactor HRT of 8 h. Although MBRs are operated at much longer SRTs, the SRT of 10 d was selected to ensure fair comparison at conditions typical of the conventional A²O. Both the new MBR and A²O processes were tested at the anaerobic, anoxic and aerobic biomass fractions corresponding to respective bioreactor volumes of 5/5/12 L. Temperature and pH in the bioreactors of both systems were 21-24 °C and 7-7.5, respectively. Dissolved oxygen (DO) was maintained 0.8-2 mg/L in the aerobic reactor. The system was run for a total of 150 d, with 80 d using SWW and 70 d using MWW or 8 and 7 turnovers of the SRT. The used feed and membrane cleaning are given chapter 3.2 and 3.3.4.

5.2.3 Analytical method

It is given in chapter 3.4.1 and 3.4.2.

5.2.4 Dynamic test

Excess NO₃-N (45 mg/l) was spiked in the feed to assess the impact of abrupt low TCOD/Nitrogen ratio (4.5:1) on denitrification capacity for 16 hrs. Hourly samples of

various process effluents for both systems were collected over a period of 16 hours following the spike, and analyzed for nitrates.

5.3 Results and Discussion

5.3.1 Overall performance (SWW Run)

Table 5.1 shows the steady state effluent quality during the SWW and MWW runs. Steady state data was collected after 3 turnovers of the SRT. Data was found to fit normal distribution using the statistical software (Minitab 13.1) and hence the standard deviations of the data are reported in Table 5.1. During the SWW run, influent total COD concentration was 290-320 mg/L while steady state effluent MBR and A²O system soluble COD concentrations were close at 5-9 mg/L during the run. Overall nitrogen removal efficiencies were 74 and 75% for MBR and A²O system, respectively with complete nitrification. Influent TSS, contributed by peptone, averaged 30 mg/L and the effluent solids were 15.9 mg/L in the A²O due to high SVI of 210 mL/g respectively combined with denitrification in the sludge blanket. Total suspended solids in the systems including the clarifier were maintained at 59 and 63 g in the MBR and the A²O, respectively, during the entire period. Anaerobic, anoxic and aerobic sludge were maintained at 2.3-2.5, 2.3-2.6 and 2.4-2.6 g SS/L for both systems, respectively. The biomass fraction for anaerobic, anoxic and aerobic tank was maintained 0.22-0.23, 0.22-0.24 and 0.53-0.56 for MBR and A^2O , thus resulting in a higher anoxic COD uptake, and a lower yield. Sludge production calculated as the slope of the cumulative VSS produced versus cumulative COD removed was 20% lower in MBR than in A²O. Monti et al. (2006) observed a 15% higher yield in the conventional system than the MBR system, using municipal wastewater at HRTs of 7 and 10 h and SRT of 12 d.

Parameter	Influent (SWW)	MBR_eff		A ² O_eff	Influent (MWW)	MBR	_eff	A ² O_eff
TCOD	310 ± 10			21±4	340 ± 22	340 ± 22		28 ± 5
	$(15)^{+}$			(9)	(15)	_		(15)
SCOD	250 ± 8	9 ± 4		5 ± 1	118 ± 15	15 ±	: 3	14 ± 2
	(15)	(6)		(9)	(12)	(18	3)	(15)
VFA	100 ± 5	-		_	33 ± 2.5	_		_
	(15)				(7)			
TKN	33 ± 1.0	-		2.0 ± 1.3	37 ± 2.4	-		3.5 ± 0.4
	(14)			(9)	(7)			(7)
STKN	28 ± 2.0	0.5 ± 0.2		0.7 ± 0.2	25 ± 3.1	1.5 ± 0.3		1.8 ± 0.2
	(14)	(6)		(9)	(7)	(10)		(7)
NH₄-N	23.9 ± 0.3	0.1 ± 0.03		0.1 ± 0.03	18 ± 2	0.2 ± 0.1		0.3 ± 0.1
	(25)	(10)		(15)	(14)	(23)		(18)
NO ₃ -N	-	7.9 ± 0.4		7.8 ± 0.6	0.5 ± 0.2	7.8 ± 0.4		7.8 ± 0.3
		(10)		(15)	(5)	(19)		(18)
NO ₂ -N	-	0.3 ± 0.2		0.2 ± 0.1	-	$0.2 \pm$	0.1	0.3 ± 0.1
	4.6 + 0.1	(1)))	(15)	4.0 - 0.1	(17)		(15)
ТР	4.6 ± 0.1	-		1.4 ± 0.5	4.0 ± 0.1	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 \pm 0.1 \\ \infty \end{bmatrix}$ -		1.3 ± 0.3
	(27)	0.0 + 0.1		(15)	(8)			(18)
PO₄-P	-	0.2 ± 0.1		1.2 ± 0.4	2.5 ± 0.2	$0.8 \pm$	0.2	1 ± 0.3
	20 1 0	(10)		(15)		(20)		(18)
SS	30 ± 9	-		15 ± 7	115 ± 10	-		18 ± 2
	(25)	150	10	(15)	(14)	164	15	(18)
SVI (mL/g)	-	(8)		210 ± 17	-	$104 \pm$:15	193 ± 21
				(11) ational Canditi		(0) (0)	
			Oper				I	
Parameter	MBR			A ² O	MBR		A ² O	
System SS	59 ± 4 (10)		63 ± 3 (15)		59 ± 5 (20)		66 ± 4 (15)	
System VSS								
(g) *	47 ± 4 (10)		52 ± 3 (15)		45 ± 4 (20)		$52 \pm 4(15)$	
TP in VSS (%)	6.5		4.8		4.9		4.3	
Sludge yield (gVSS/g COD)	0.16 (R ² = 0.96)		0.21 (R ² = 0.98)		0.13 (R ² = 0.98)		0.16 (R ² = 0.98)	

Table5.1 Steady state influent and effluent quality obtained from SWW andMWW run (All units are mg/L except where stated otherwise)

⁺ Mean±standard deviation (the number of samples)

* SS and VSS were calculated over all reactor compartments

• R² is the correlation coefficient of the linear relationship between cumulative VSS produced versus cumulative COD removed computed as liquid influent–liquid effluent COD.



Figure 5.1 Box graph for (a) effluent nitrogen and (b) phosphorus during SWW run (Percentiles are shown: Minimum, 25th, 75th and Maximum. The horizontal line and the dot inside the box represent the median and the average, respectively).

Figure 5.1 represents the statistical distribution of effluent nitrates and orthophosphates in the both systems using the statistical software (Minitab 13.1). As depicted in Figure 5.1a, average effluent NO₃-N concentrations from MBR and A^2O are similar at 7.8 mg/L. There are evident statistical differences between the A^2O final effluent and aerobic effluent nitrates concentrations with the final effluent as much as 2 mg/L lower than the aerobic effluent.

Figure 5.1b represents the effluent orthophosphates during run. The MBR steady state effluent ortho-P was 0.2 mg/L outperforming the A^2O of 1.2 mg/L, with an average influent TP concentration of 4.6 mg/L. It emphatically highlights the statistically significant differences in effluent orthophosphates between two systems. The A^2O process not only produced higher effluent orthophosphates than the MBR but also more widely variable (0.9-1.7 vs 0.1-0.4 mg/L).

A paired T-test, comparing the value of the means from two related samples and determining their statistical difference, was used for statistical analysis conducted on the nitrates and phosphates between MBR effluent and A^2O aerobic effluent. It indicated that observed differences were statistically significant at the 95% confidence level.



a)





Figure 5.2 (a) The fate of orthophosphate (b) fractionation of denitrification and (c) denitrification in anoxic tank in both systems during SWW run.

As apparent from Figure 5.2a, P release was higher in the MBR system than in the A^2O system, at 2.3 and 1.7 g/d respectively. The effect of nitrates on PAOs in the A^2/O anaerobic reactor appeared greater than the MBR. The denitrified nitrates in the MBR and A^2O anaerobic tanks averaged 0.09 and 0.21 g NO₃-N/d, respectively. The additional denitrification of 0.12 g NO₃-N/d in the A^2O anaerobic tank relative to the MBR anaerobic tank would consume about 0.48 g rbCOD/d and decrease P release by an estimated 0.24 g PO₄-P/d based on the rbCOD/P ratio of 2:1 (Smolders et al., 1994), which may affect PAO activity. On the contrary, MBR P removal was promoted by an extra P uptake of 0.2 g/d in the intermediate clarifier simultaneously with the denitrification of 0.1 g NO₃-N/d..

It appears from Figure 5.2a that P uptake in the MBR is higher than the $A^{2}O$ system. Average anoxic P uptake accounted for 49 and 33% of the overall P uptake in MBR and $A^{2}O$ respectively. Despite the difference between this system and external nitrification system such as the DEPHANOX, the enhanced DPAO activity is consistent with the findings of Hu et al. (2002) who observed that in a BNR treating strong municipal wastewater (TCOD 750 mg/L, TP 13.6-28.9 mg/L and TKN 45-82.5 mg/L) at an HRT of 25 h and SRT of 10 d, anoxic uptake accounted for 38-70% of the total P uptake.

An argument can be made that due to recycled dissolved oxygen to the anoxic zone, some of the P can be removed by PAOs. Although an oxygen demand for P uptake of 0.32 g O_2/g P has been proposed by Smolders et al (1995), it is hard to expect PAO activity associated with recycled oxygen in anoxic condition because rapid DO consumption occurs mainly due to ordinary heterotrophs oxidizing readily biodegradable COD, rather than PAO using relatively slowly biodegradable intracellular products. It thus presumes that anoxic P uptake was mostly associated with DPAOs which concomitantly remove nitrates.

5.3.3. Nitrogen Removal

The contribution of the anaerobic, the clarifier and the anoxic tank to overall denitrification is shown in Figure 5.2b. It is noteworthy that a relatively higher extent of denitrification was observed in the clarifier of the A^2O than MBR. For further

understanding of the denitrification pathways occurring in the anoxic tank, the relationship between nitrates removal and phosphorus uptake in anoxic tank is presented in Figure 5.2c. The amount of nitrates removed by DPAOs relative to P uptake has been reported and the average of 0.52 g NO₃-N/g P (Murnleitner et al., 1997; Meinhold et al., 1999; Lee et al, 2001; Hu et al., 2006; Patel et al., 2006) was used to estimate the contribution of DPAOs to denitrification. Accordingly, DPAO denitrification accounts for 54 and 40% of the total denitrification mass rates in the MBR and A^2O respectively based on the anoxic P uptake of 1.3 and 0.6 g/d.

5.3.4 Role of Intermediate Clarifier and Impact of Anaerobic HRT



Variation of parameters in the clarifier

Figure 5.3 The variation of soluble carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus variation in the clarifier during SWW run.

Figure 5.3 presents the steady-state variation of mass removal rates of soluble COD, ammonia, nitrates, and phosphates in MBR intermediate clarifier and A^2O final clarifier. The estimated amounts of COD required for denitrification for the MBR and A^2O systems using Eq. 5.1 (Metcalf and Eddy, 2003) were 3.7 and 4.0 g COD/g NO₃-N respectively.

COD consumption through denitrification =
$$\frac{2.86}{1 - 1.42 \times Y_{obs}}$$
 (5.1)

For the analysis of the data of Figure 5.3, the aforementioned ratio of P uptake to nitrate denitrified of 1.92 g PO₄-P/g NO₃-N was used. Similarly, the ratio of VFA_{COD} sequestered to P release of 2 g COD/g PO₄-P (Smolders et al., 1994) was adopted. It has been reported that 7-10 mg COD is required for 1 mg P removal (Metcalf and Eddy, 2003) and the typical ratio of P uptake to P release is 1.15-1.2 (i.e. net P removal is 0.15-0.2 times P release) close to the relationship between P uptake and P release proposed by Wentzel et al. (1985). Hence, using 10 and 0.2 from the above ranges and dividing the required COD per P removal by the net P release yields 2 mg COD/mg P release .

Compared to only denitrification in the A^2O final clarifier, the role of MBR intermediate clarifier in the fate of various nitrogen and phosphorus species can be elucidated on the basis of the detailed data depicted in Figure 5.3. For the MBR, the estimated COD used for denitrification is 0.19 g SCOD/d, far below the observed value of 0.74 g SCOD/d. This clearly highlights the role of biosorption in the soluble COD

removal, which accounted for 74% of the SCOD removal in the clarifier. The estimated contribution of DPAOs to P removal in the MBR is 0.1 g P/d and hence 0.06 g P/d can not be justified on the basis of biological uptake since the total P uptake was 0.16 g P/d. Concomitantly, ammonia was also removed with orthophosphates implying that chemical precipitation of ammonium phosphate salts i.e. struvite may have occurred. Stuvite is a function of pH and solution concentration. Zeng and Li (2006) reported that pH can be implemented in a wide range of 7-10 although higher pH expedites the reaction. Magnesium concentration in the feed was 0.58 mM and factoring the dilution by recycle streams was 0.16 mM in the clarifier. For the MBR, the ambient PO₄³⁻ and NH₄⁺ concentrations were 0.5 mM and 0.75 mM respectively; thus not only exceeding the solubility product of struvite at 20 °C of 10^{-13.3} (Ohlinger et al., 1998) but also closely approaching the P:Mg molar ratio of 4:1-5:1 which is favorable for phosphate precipitation at 18-20 °C (Maurer et al., 1999).

5.3.4 Comparative performance under limiting influent VFAs

An extended comparative study between the two systems was conducted using municipal wastewater with low VFA. As shown in Table 5.1, the VFA concentration in the MWW averaged 33 mg/L about a third of the SWW. Although apparent from Table 5.1, the overall nitrogen removal efficiencies in the two systems appear close at 74 and 73% for the MBR and the A^2O , respectively, in fact the observed effluent total soluble nitrogen comprising STKN, nitrates and nitrites were statistically different at the 95% confidence level, with the MBR achieving around 0.3 mg/L lower values. It is

noteworthy that the combined denitrification in the anoxic and anaerobic tank in the MBR on a mass basis still exceeded the A^2O , at 1.16 and 1.1 g/d, respectively. Furthermore, the overall P removal efficiencies in the two systems were at 80 and 75% for MBR and A^2O respectively, with the MBR achieving 0.2 mg/L lower effluent orthophosphates than the A^2/O while the difference was statistically significance at the 95% confidence level. This enhanced P and N removal in the MBR is attributed to better fermentation of particulate COD as elaborated upon further.

Table 5.2 presents that the fate of orthophosphate and VFA in the anaerobic tank is quite different between the two systems. P release rate was higher in the MBR than the $A^{2}O$ at 0.34 and 0.18 g/d, respectively. Anaerobic tank VFA consumption averaged 0.11 and 0.55 g/d for the MBR and $A^{2}O$ respectively. Moreover, 0.22 g VFA/d was consumed in the intermediate clarifier. It should be emphasized that VFA consumption was not attributed to methanogenesis involving the conversion of VFA to methane gas because the anaerobic oxidation reduction potential (ORP), measuring the relative amounts of oxidized or reduced matter, ranged from -100 to -150 mV, well below the -300 mV ambient in anaerobic systems (Gerardi, 2003). Theoretically, VFA consumption for P release and denitrification is based on the 2 mg VFA_{COD}/mg P (Smolders et al., 1994; Yagci et al., 2005) and Eq. 5.1 respectively.

Thus, the estimated VFA consumption in the intermediate clarifier was 0.22 g/d, quite comparable to the experimental measurement. On the other hand, the estimated VFA consumption in the MBR and A^2O anaerobic tanks was 1.28 (=3.5×0.16+2×0.34)

and 0.88 (= $3.7 \times 0.14 + 2 \times 0.18$) g/d, respectively, much greater than the 0.11 and 0.55 g/d observed experimentally. The discrepancy between the measured and theoretical VFA consumption is expected to be met by fermentation of particulate organics (Barker and Dold, 1997). Thus, fermentation likely contributed to an estimated 1.17 and 0.33 g/d of VFA generation, clearly pointing to a much higher fermentation capacity in the MBR anaerobic tank relative to the A²O tank.

Interestingly, in this run it was observed that P was still released in the intermediate clarifier of the MBR system and contributed to increase total P release in the MBR from 0.34 to 0.42 g/d. Contrasted with the SWW run wherein the intermediate clarifier affected anoxic P removal (Figure 5.3) in the MWW it is thus evident that in the MWW the clarifier behaved as a secondary anaerobic zone, where further P release occurs concomitantly with VFA uptake. This phenomenon is associated with the nature of the municipal wastewater specifically, requiring longer hydrolysis and fermentation time than the acetate-rich SWW. Accordingly, some of readily biodegradable and fermentable COD might escape from the anaerobic zone and get sequestered in the intermediate clarifier. It is therefore hyphothesized from the SWW and MWW run that the intermediate clarifier affected denitrification, ammonia removal, and SCOD removal both by biosorption and sequestration by PAOs.

	MBR_ Anaerobic	MBR_ Clarifier	MBR_ Anoxic	A ² O_ Anaerobic	A ² O_ Anoxic
P release (g P/d)	0.34	0.08		0.18	-
Denitrification (g NO ₃ -N/d)	0.16	0.01	1	0.14	0.96
VFA consumption (g VFA _{COD} /d)	0.11	0.22	-	0.55	-
Theoretical VFA consumption* (g VFA _{COD} /d)	1.28	0.2	-	0.88	-

Table 5.2 Nutrient mass balances obtained from MWW run

* Calculated as VFA consumption for P release (2 mg VFA_{COD}/mg P) and denitrification

(Eq. 5.1)

5.3.5 Dynamic test



a)



Figure 5.4 Denitrification profile during dynamic test in SWW run in (a) anaerobic tank, (b) anoxic tank and (c) overall denitrification.

In order to investigate the denitrification capacity of each system during SWW run, a dynamic experiment was conducted on MBR and A^2O at an influent COD: nitrogen ratio of 4.5:1 by spiking nitrates in the feed while maintaining the same influent COD. Figure 5.4a depicts the mass denitrification rates in the anaerobic tank, calculated as the mass of nitrates removed divided by the anaerobic HRT. The mass of nitrates removed at any given time (t) is computed as the difference in concentration at time t and time (t-1) multiplied by the volume of the anaerobic tank. Although both systems had high denitrification rates in the anaerobic tank during the test, the denitrification rate was on average 6 mg NO₃-N/hr higher in the MBR than in the A^2O .

The denitrification rate in the anoxic tank, presented in Figure 5.4b, clearly shows much higher denitrification in the MBR than the A^2O . The maximum denitrification rate reached 72 mg NO₃-N/hr in the MBR as opposed to 31 mg NO₃-N/hr in the A^2O . It is evident from Figure 5.4c also that the overall denitrification rate during the test was higher in the MBR than in the A^2O system at an average of 145 vs 109 mg NO₃-N/hr. Statistical analysis using a paired T-test conducted on the overall denitrification rate between MBR and A^2O indicated that observed differences were statistically significant at the 99% confidence level.

5.4 Conclusions

Within the HRT and SRT investigated in this study of 8 hours and 10 days for the treatment of wastewater characterized by COD, TKN and P concentrations of 310, 33,

and 4.6, respectively in the SWW and 340, 37 and 4.0 mg/L, respectively, in the MWW, the following conclusions can be drawn.

1. The MBR system outperforms the A^2O system in phosphorus removal. Anoxic P uptake in the MBR system accounted for the 49% of the total P uptake as compared to the 33% in the A^2O during SWW run.

2. The contribution of DPAOs to denitrification in the anoxic tank was much higher at 54% of the total denitrification in the MBR system as compared to the 40% in the A^2O . The MBR system yield was 20% lower than the A^2O system.

3. The MBR intermediate clarifier assisted nitrogen, COD and P removal through denitrification, COD adsorption and P release or uptake while the A^2O final clarifier facilitated nitrogen and COD reduction through denitrification. The fate of orthophosphate in the clarifier differed depending on the feed VFA, with P uptake in VFA-rich wastes and P release in VFA-limited influents. The MWW results emphasized the better fermentation of COD in the MBR relative to the A^2O .

4. The dynamic shock loading tests clearly demonstrates that MBR has better denitrification capacity than the A^2O .

5.5 References

APHA (1998) Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 20th Ed. American Public Health Association, Washington DC, USA.

Barker P. S.; Dold P. L. (1997) General model for biological nutrient removal activatedsludge systems: model presentation. *Water Environ. Res.* **69**, 969-984.

Bortone G; Saltarelli R; Alonso V.; Sorm R. (1996) Biological anoxic phosphorus removal –The DEPHANOX Process. *Water Sci. Technol.* 34, 119-128.

Gerardi, M. H. (2003) *The Microbiology of Anaerobic Digesters*, Wiley Interscience, New Jersey, 13-14.

Hu Z.R.; Wentzel M.C.; Ekama G.A. (2002) Anoxic growth of phosphate accumulating organisms (PAOs) in biological nutrient removal activated sludge system. *Water Res.* 36, 4927-4937.

Lee D.S.; Jeon C.O.; Park J.M. (2001) Biological nitrogen removal with enhanced phosphate uptake in a sequencing batch reactor using single sludge system. *Water Res.* **35**, 3968-3976.

Maurer M.; Abramovich D.; Siegrist H.; Gujer W. (1999) Kinetics of biologically induced phosphorus precipitation in wastewater treatment. *Water Res.* **33**, 484-493.

Meinhold J.; Filipe C.D.M.; Daigger G.T.; Isaacs S. (1999) Characterization of the denitrifying fraction of phosphate accumulating organisms in biological phosphate removal. *Water Sci. Technol.* **39**, 31-41.

Metcalf and Eddy, (2003) Wastewater Engineering: Treatment and Reuse. 4th Ed., McGraw-Hill, New York.

Monti A.; Hall E.R.; Dawson R.N.; Husain H.; Kelly H.G. (2006) Comparative study of biological nutrient removal processes with sedimentation and membrane-based separation. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **94**, 740-752.

Murnleitner E.; Kuba T.; van Loosdrecht M.C.M.; Heijnen J.J. (1997) An integrated metabolic model for the aerobic and denitrifying biological phosphorus removal. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 54, 434-450.

Nakhla G.; Patel J. (2008) Treatment of Wastewater Containing Phosphorus and Nitrogen. US Patent No. US 7,326,343 B2 dated Feb 5.

Ohlinger K.N.; Young T.M.; Schroeder E.D. (1998) Predicting struvite formation in digestion. *Water Res.* **32**, 3607-3614.

Patel A.; Gohil A.; Nakhla G. (2006) Parametric study of the factors influencing simultaneous denitrification and enhanced biological phosphorus removal. *J. Chem. Technol. Biot.* **81**, 636-647.

Smolders G.J.F.; van der Meij J.; van Loosdrecht M.C.M.; Heijnen J.J. (1994) Model of the anaerobic metabolism of the biological phosphorus removal process: Stoichiometry and pH influence. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **43**, 461-470.

Smolders G.J.F.; van Loosdrecht M.C.M.; Heijnen J. J. (1995) A metabolic model for the biological phosphorus removal process. *Water Sci. Tech.* **31**, 79-93.

Wentzel M.C.; Dold P.L.; Ekama G.A.; Marais G.v.R. (1985) Kinetics of biological phosphorus release. *Water Sci. Technol.* 17, 57-71.

Yagci N.; Insel G.; Tasli R.; Artan N.; Randall C. W.; Orhon D. (2005) A new interpretation of ASM2d for modeling of SBR performance for enhanced biological phosphorus removal under different P/HAc ratios. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **93**, 258-270.

Zeng L.; Li X. (2006) Nutrient removal from anaerobically digested cattle manure by struvite precipitation. *J Environ Eng Sci.* **5**, 285-294.
6.0 Impact of membranes on refractory dissolved organic nitrogen

6.1. Introduction

Concern with dissolved organic nitrogen in effluent (efDON) from biological nutrient removal plants is increasing due to stringent total nitrogen effluent quality requirements. According to an intensive review by Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak (2006), efDON accounts for up to 80% of the total nitrogen in nitrification-denitrification process effluent. Based on data collected from seven plants in USA, Pagilla et al (2006) also reported that the percentage of efDON ranged from 20-85% of the effluent 5 mg/L TN.

Reduction of efDON is challenging due to the complexity of its nature. Awobamise et al (2007) tested the biodegradability of efDON during 30 days and observed that out of initial DON of 1 mg/L, biodegradable DON increased in the first 20 days from less than 0.1 to 0.5 mg/L, indicating that 50% of DON is not removed by biological processes. This is consistent with the observation by Urgun-Demirtas et al. (2007) where 18-61% of efDON was bioavailable in the first 14 days. Pagilla et al. (2006) observed that the molecular weight (MW) of DON ranged from 1 to 1000 kD, with the low MW biodegradable. Thus, various physical or chemical treatments attempted for breaking the chain of high MW DON compound, revealed the feasibility of anion exchange, coagulation, ozonation, advanced oxidation to some extent (Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak, 2006), though their application is usually limited to industrial wastewaters. Parkin and McCarty (1981) suggested that SRT can be a key parameter for controlling efDON because more influent DON is biodegraded at longer SRTs. However, increased biomass endogenous respiration increases DON, suggesting the occurrence of an optimal SRT. O'Shaughnessy et al. (2006) also reported that longer SRT and higher temperature within ranges of 10-17 days and 5-17°C, respectively led to efDON reduction.

MBRs have demonstrated superior performance over the conventional biological wastewater treatment process in terms of better nitrification, perfect capture of solids and colloidal organic matter. Several MBR performance with respect to efDON are presented in Table 6.1. Apparently efDON is associated with SRT. As SRT varied at 15 to 26 d (Lesjean et al. 2002) and 20 to 50d (Mouthon-Bello and Zhou, 2006) efDON decreased with increasing SRT not only in terms of concentration but also as % of TN in both cases. However, from the table the average efDON from three BNR systems was 1.8 mg/L, which seems relatively high compared to the less than 1 mg/L efDON observed in 68% of the 188 tested Maryland and Virginia wastewater plant samples (Pagilla et al., 2007).

Despite the few reports tabulated above, the advantages of MBR systems on efDON are not thoroughly delineated, particularly as they relate to the relative contribution of membranes and long SRTs. In this study, a comparative assessment of MBR and a conventional BNR system at identical SRTs was undertaken with special focus on investigating the impact of membrane on efDON to shed light on the membrane role in DON reduction.

Table 6.1 MBR process efDON from references

	Configuration ^a	Feed type ^b	SRT (d)	HRT (h)	TN (mg/L)	DON (mg/L)	DON (%)
Lesjean	AN-AX-AO	MWW	15	21	9	2.6	29
et al. (2002)	(Pilot-scale)	(1000/70/11)	26	18	11	1.7	15
Mouthon- Bello and Zhou (2006)	AX-AN-AO (Pilot-scale)	MWW (360/61/9)	20	6	10	3.3	33
			50	8	12	2.1	18
Monti et al. AN-AX-AO (2006) (Pilot-scale)	MWW	12	10	11	0.7	7	
	(Pilot-scale)	(380/35/4)	12	7	12	0.6	5
Ersu et al. (2008)	AN-AX-AO (Lab-scale)	SWW (510/43/11)	25	10	6	1.4	23

a AN:anaerobic AX:anoxic AO:aerobic

b MWW (municipal wastewater) SWW (synthetic wastewater), numbers within parenthesis are TCOD/TN/TP in mg/L

6.2 Materials and methods

6.2.1 System description

It is given in chapter 3.1.

6.2.2 System operation

The first comparative study with runs 1 and 2, aimed primarily at assessing the role of membranes and impact of influent wastewater characteristics on efDON, was conducted using synthetic wastewater (SWW) and municipal wastewater (MWW) at total HRT of 8 hrs in the NMBR and A²O systems. The second study with run 3 was carried out using MWW in the NMBR and UMBR at an HRT of 6 hrs. The entire experimental plan consisted of three runs at a SRT of 10 days. The feed, system start-up and membrane operation are given in chapter 3.2, 3.3.1 and 3.3.4, respectively.

6.2.3 Analytical methods

It is given in chapter 3.4.1.

6.3 Results and discussion

Table 6.2 summarizes the influent and effluent nitrogen characteristics. Data was found to fit normal distribution using the statistical software (Minitab 13.1) and hence the standard deviations of the data are reported in Table 6.2. Briefly, the SWW used during the first run was characterized by average TCOD, TKN and TP concentrations of 310, 33 and 4.6 mg/L, respectively, comparable with the MWW (used in runs 2 and 3) of 280, 30 and 4.0 mg/L. The systems were operated for around 500 days including the MWW run of 350 days. Total influent organic nitrogen concentrations in the SWW and MWW were around 10 and 17 mg/L, respectively with DON concentrations of 4 and 7 mg/L, respectively. However, particulate organic nitrogen in the SWW and MWW was mostly biodegradable. Comparing the efDON in NMBR and A²O between the SWW and MWW runs evidently shows that efDON increased by as much as 0.8 mg/L during the MWW run, with an average of 0.7 mg/L.

		Run1 (Days 1-150)			Run2		Run3	
Feed		$\frac{\text{Days} + 150}{\text{NMBR}} = A^2 O$		Feed	$\frac{(Days 131-300)}{NMBR} = A^2O$		NMBR UMBR	
	SWW			MW W				
TKN	33±1.0 (14)	-	1.6±0.4 (11)	30±4 (27)	-	3.0±0.4 (12)	-	-
Soluble organie N ¹	4±2 (14)	0.3-0.5 (11)	0.5-0.8 (11)	7±3 (27)	0.8-1.2 (12)	1.2-1.6 (12)	0.4-1.35 (13)	0.4-1.46 (13)
NH4-N	24±0.3 (25)	0.1±0.03 (25)	0.1±0.03 (25)	17±2 (34)	0.2 ± 0.1 (40)	0.3±0.1 (40)	0.2 ± 0.2 (25)	0.1 ± 0.1 (26)
NO ₃ -N	1	7.8±0.6 (25)	6.6±0.5 (25)	0.5± 0.2 (5)	8.2± 0.7 (40)	7.5± 0.7 (40)	6.8±2.1 (24)	8.5±2 (20)
NO ₂ -N	+	0.3±0.2 (25)	0.2±0.1 (25)		0.2±0.1 (32)	0.3±0.1 (32)		

Table 6.2 Pseudo-steady state influent and effluent quality obtained from the entire

runs.

* Numbers within parenthesis are the number of samples ¹ EfDON is expressed as the range of 10th and 90th percentiles.

It is also apparent from Table 6.2 that the 10th-90th percentile spread in run 2 at an overall HRT of 8 hours were 0.8-1.2 mg N/L, as compared to 0.4-1.35 mg N/L in run 3 at an overall HRT of 6 hours. Equally important from a compliance standpoint, the efDON even from a membrane system can reach 1.3-1.5 mg N/L, thus implying that in order for a 3 mg N/L total limit to be met, total inorganic nitrogen has to be below 1.5 mg/L. Furthermore, the observed variation in efDON of about 1 mg/L in MWW emphasizes the need for real-time control of total inorganic nitrogen, a difficult feat to achieve in cold climates due to much slower nitrification and denitrification kinetics.



Figure 6.1 Temporal variation of efDON during the runs.

Figure 6.1 presents the temporal variation of efDON during the entire runs. Apparently, during the first run with SWW, most efDON in both NMBR and A²O were less than 1 mg/L while in the MWW runs efDON varied relatively widely from 0.4 to 1.6 mg/L. Interestingly, it appears that the trend of efDON was fairly cyclical over the time which is consistent with the observation by O'Shaughnessy et al. (2006). During first run using constant SWW feed, efDON fluctuated within 0.4 mg/L. In run 3 the cyclical pattern was more evident in both NMBR and UMBR systems varying by as much as 1.1 mg/L. It may be associated with the fact that DON accumulates and disappears in the system over the SRT turnovers similar to the cyclical behavior of soluble microbial products observed by Holakoo et al (2007) and Shin and Kang (2003) in glucose-fed bioreactors.



Figure 6.2 Box graph for efDON during the runs (Percentiles are shown: Minimum, 25th, 75th and Maximum. The horizontal line and the dot inside the box represent the median and the average, respectively)

Figure 6.2 shows the statistical distribution of the pseudo-steady state efDON data during the runs. The NMBR achieved average efDON during the SWW run of 0.4 mg/L compared to 0.7 mg/L in A²O, with a 10th to 90th percentile range of 0.3-0.5 and 0.5-0.8 for NMBR and A²O, respectively. The major finding is the positive impact of membrane process on reducing efDON. Obviously, the results demonstrate that NMBR achieved lower efDON than the A²O. The two comparisons reveal that NMBR achieved 57-70% lower efDON than A²O. Statistical analysis conducted in each case showed that the differences were statistically significant at higher than 95% confidence level. Furthermore, it is also evident that efDON varied more widely for the A²O relative to the

MBR. This noticeable difference is associated with physical blockage of membrane pores or cake layer. It has been reported that mostly DON molecular weight distribution is less than 1000 kDa, which is higher than nominal molecular weight cut-off 300 kDa of membranes used in this study (Westerhoff et al., 2006). Pagilla et al (2008) also differentiated the species of organic nitrogen in the seven secondary effluent samples by filtering through different size of membrane filters i.e. 0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.45 and 1.2 μ m and observed that DON below 0.1 μ m accounted for 40-95 % of total DON. It suggests that MBR application can potentially decrease DON.



Figure 6.3 DON reduction between membrane tank and permeate during run 3

During run 3 both NMBR and UMBR systems achieved similar efDON as low as 0.4 mg/L with an average of 0.8 mg/L. Figure 6.3 demonstrates that the observed DON reduction between the aeration tank and the permeate in both NMBR and UMBR during

run 3 was as high as 1 mg/L but averaged 0.4 mg/L, corresponding to an average 35% of DON in aerobic tank, which is consistent with the difference between NMBR effluent and A²O effluent in run 2 of 0.35 mg/L. Although the significant rejection of efDON by membrane was observed in this study, further investigation on the nature of efDON i.e. recalcitrant or biodegradable is warranted.

6.4 Summary and conclusions

Within the HRT and SRT ranges investigated in this study of 6-8 hours and 10 days for the treatment of wastewater characterized by COD, TKN and P concentrations of 310, 33 and 4.6 mg/L, respectively, in the SWW and 280, 30 and 4 mg/L, respectively in the MWW the following conclusions can be drawn.

- Comparing the efDON between the NMBR and A²O, the NMBR produced 0.3 mg/L lower during the MWW and SWW runs, reflecting the positive impact of membrane.
- DON reduction by membrane was significant at an average of 35% of the aeration tank DON in NMBR and UMBR systems.
- During both SWW and MWW runs, despite constant operating and feed conditions, efDON followed a cyclical pattern over time, varying by as much as 1.1 mg/L. This may be indicative of simultaneous generation and biodegradation.
- During the MWW run, efDON in both NMBR and A²O systems increased by as much as 0.8 mg/L, and 0.7 mg/L on average above the SWW run.

6.5 References

APHA (1998) Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 20th Ed. American Public Health Association, Washington DC, USA.

Awobamise M.; Jones K.; Khan E.; Murthy S. (2007) Long-term biodegrability of dissolved organic nitrogen. *Proceedings of the 79th Annual Water Environment Federation Technical Exposition and Conference* [CD-ROM]; San Diego, California, Oct 15-17; Water Environment Federation: Alexandria, Virginia, 5340-5341.

Ersu C.B.; Ong S.K.; Arslankaya E.; Brown P. (2008) Comparison of recirculation configurations for biological nutrient removal in a membrane bioreactor. *Water Res.*, **42**, 1651-1663.

Holakoo L.; Nakhla G.; Bassi A.S.; Yanful E.K. (2007) Long term performance of MBR for biological nitrogen removal from synthetic municipal wastewater, *Chemosphere*, **66**, 849-857.

Kim M.G.; Nakhla G. (2008) The beneficial role of intermediate clarification in a novel MBR based process for biological nitrogen and phosphorus removal. *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.*, Accepted Oct 23rd.

Lesjean B.; Gnirss R.; Adam C. (2002) Process configurations adapted to membrane bioreactors for enhanced biological phosphorus and nitrogen removal, *Desalination*, **149**. 217-224.

Monti A.; Hall E.R.; Dawson R.N.; Husain H.; Kelly H.G. (2006) Comparative study of biological nutrient removal processes with sedimentation and membrane-based separation, *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **94**, 740-752.

Mouthon-Bello J.; Zhou H. (2006) Performance of a submerged membrane bioreactor system for biological nutrient removal. *Water Environ. Res.*, **78**, 538-547.

Nakhla G.; Patel J. (2008) Treatment of Wastewater Containing Phosphorus and Nitrogen. US Patent No. US 7,326,343 B2.

O'Shaughnessy M.; Harvey G.B.; Sizemore J.; Murthy S.N. (2006) Influence of plant parameters on effluent organic nitrogen. *Proceedings of the 78th Annual Water Environment Federation Technical Exposition and Conference* [CD-ROM]; Dallas, Texas, Oct 21-25; Water Environment Federation: Alexandria, Virginia, 3417-3423.

Pagilla K. (2007) Presentation at Water Environment Research Foundation and Chesapeake Bay Science and Technology Advisory Committee Workshop, Baltimore, MD, September 27/28. Pagilla K.R.; Czerwionka K.; Urgun-Dermirtas M.; Makinia J. (2008) Nitrogen speciation in wastewater treatment plant influents and effluents – the US and Polish case studies, *Water Sci. Technol.*, **57**, 1511-1517.

Pagilla K.R.; Urgun-Demirtas M.; Ramani R. (2006) Low effluent nutrient technologies for wastewater treatment, *Water Sci. Technol.* **53**, 165-172.

Parkin G.; McCarty P.L. (1981) Sources of soluble organic nitrogen in activated sludge effluents. Journal Water Pollution Control Federation. January 1981.

Pehlivanoglu-Mantas E.; Sedlak D. (2006) Wastewater-Derived Dissolved organic nitrogen: analytical methods, characterization, and effects-a review. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **3**6, 261-285.

Shin H.S.; Kang S.T. (2003) Characteristics and fates of soluble microbial products in ceramic membrane bioreactor at various sludge retention times, *Water Res.*, **37**, 121-127.

Urgun-Demirtas M.; Sattayatewa C.; Pagilla K.R. (2007) Bioavailability of dissolved organic nitrogen in treated effluent, *Proceedings of the 79th Annual Water Environment Federation Technical Exposition and Conference* [CD-ROM]; San Diego, California, Oct 15-17; Water Environment Federation: Alexandria, Virginia, 1354-1373.

Westerhoff P.; Lee W.; Croue J.P.; Gallard H.; Amy, G. (2006) Organic nitrogen in drinking water and reclaimed wastewater. AWWA Research Foundation, Denver, Colorado, USA

7.0 Phosphorus Fractionation in Membrane-Assisted Biological Nutrient Removal Processes

7.1 Introduction

Several attempts were made to implement the MBR technology in BNR processes (Lesjean et al., 2002; Fleischer et al., 2005; Monti et al., 2006; Mouthon-Bello and Zhou, 2006). Some of the reported advantageous MBR operating conditions i.e. long solids resident time (SRT) and low sludge production are not necessarily conducive to enhanced biological phosphorus removal (EBPR). The sparse literature on EBPR in MBRs is controversial. Lesjean et al. (2002) operated a University of Cape town (UCT) adapted MBR process on a wastewater with COD:N:P ratios of 100:7:1 at an HRT of 18-21 h and SRT of 15 d, and achieved effluent P below 0.1 mg/L without chemical addition, attributing the high P removal primarily to EBPR, with retention of solids and colloids by the membrane as secondary.

On the other hand, Fleischer et al. (2005) operated a 6-stage pilot MBR on primary effluent with COD:N:P ratio of 100:13:2 at an HRT of 8.4 h and SRT of 19 to 23 d, and maintained effluent P of 2 mg/L, decreasing to 0.1 mg/L at an alum dose of 2.7 mg⁻¹TP. Al Mouthon-Bello operated mole and Zhou (2006)а pilot anoxic/anaerobic/aerobic MBR system at HRTs of 5.8 and 7.9 h, and SRTs of 20 and 50 d on two municipal wastewaters (MWW) characterized by COD:N:P ratios of 100:17:3.4 and 100:17:1.6, respectively and interestingly found that despite a longer SRT in the latter case, P in the membrane tank decreased from 1.8 to 0.7 mg/L, with permeate concentrations of 0.5 and 0.1 mg/L. The aforementioned authors concluded that EBPR did not occur and attributed P removal to precipitation by the relatively high influent metals and particulates rejection by the membrane.

Furthermore, Monti et al. (2006) in a comparative assessment of EBPR in a conventional and membrane-assisted UCT pilots treating primary effluent at HRTs of 7-12 h and SRT of 12 d, that when the influent VFA were limiting, because of the lower yield in the MBR, the conventional system exhibited better soluble P removal. All the aforementioned studies focussed on P removal with no detailed assessment of the contribution of different P removal mechanisms i.e. chemical precipitation, anoxic and aerobic EBPR, and membrane retention. Thus the primary objective of this study is to evaluate the relative contribution of various P removal mechanisms in MBRs, a feat complicated by the wide variations in influent volatile fatty acids and metal concentrations in municipal wastewaters. Furthermore, as the work of Monti et al. (2006) has highlighted the challenges of maintaining stable EBPR at short HRTs of about 7 h, this study pushes the envelop of HRTs down to 6 h with the demonstration of stable EBPR.

This paper discusses the findings of a comparative study involving a novel membrane assisted BNR process (Nakhla and Patel, 2008) and UCT process coupled with membranes, with the former MBR system characterised by employment of an intermediate clarifier between the anaerobic and the anoxic tank in order to concentrate biomass, on which rich organic matter is adsorbed in the anaerobic phase and, subsequently, utilize it for denitrification in anoxic phase, thus enhancing denitrification and EBPR (Kim and Nakhla, 2008).

7.2 Materials and methods

7.2.1 System description

It is given in chapter 3.1.

7.2.2 System operation

It is given in chapter 3.3.3-3.3.4. The system was run for a total of 300 d or 30 turnovers of the mean SRT. During the first 150 days (phase I), the system was fed with settled MWW. However, after 150 days (phase II) the MWW was supplied without settling and supplemented with 30 mg/L of acetic acid to enhance P removal.

7.2.3. Analytical methods

It is given in chapter 3.4-3.5.

7.3 Results and discussions

7.3.1 Overall performance

Table 7.1a shows the steady state effluent quality, collected after 3 turnovers of the SRT, during phases I and II. Data was found to fit normal distribution using the statistical software (Minitab 13.1) and hence the standard deviations of the data are reported in Table 7.1. Influent total COD concentration averaged 250 and 440 mg/L for

phases I and II, respectively while steady state effluent MBR and UMBR COD concentrations were close at 13-20 mg/L during the two phases. Average VFA in feed was 30 mg/L in phase I as compared to 70 mg/L in phase II.

Effluent nitrates averaged 6.8 and 7.6 mg/L in the NMBR for phase I and II, respectively compared to 8.5 and 8.6 mg/L in the UMBR. Overall nitrogen removal efficiencies were 73-80 and 70-77% for NMBR and UMBR, respectively with influent total nitrogen of 31 and 44 mg/L for phases I and II respectively. Overall P removal efficiencies were higher in NMBR than UMBR i.e. 57% vs 54% in phase I and 94% vs 91% in phase II, with lower effluent P in the NMBR i.e. 1.5 vs 1.4 mg/L in phase I and 0.5 vs 0.8 mg/L in phase II . Total suspended solids in the NMBR and UMBR systems in phase I were 56 and 51 g in respectively but increased to 88 and 82 g in phase II. Sludge production calculated as the slope of the cumulative VSS produced versus cumulative COD removed was close in both systems at 0.28 and 0.25 gVSS/gCOD in phase I and II, respectively.

Parameter		Phase I		Phase II							
	Influent	NMBR	UMBR	Influent	NMBR	UMBR					
TCOD	250±100			440±150							
	(25)*	-	-	(19)	-	-					
SCOD	64±40	13±4	12±5	1 80±8 0	14±7	18 ± 6					
5000	(25)	(22)	(22)	(19)	(19)	(19)					
VFA	30±5	-	_	70±5	_	_					
VIII	(10)	_	_	(8)	-	-					
TKN	29±5	_	_	43±5	_	_					
	(20)			(10)	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$						
STKN	20±4	0.6 ± 0.5	0.8 ± 0.7	31±5	0.8 ± 0.5	1.1 ± 0.5					
	(15)	(13)	(13)	(10)	(10)	(10)					
NH2-N	16±3	0.2 ± 0.2	0.1 ± 0.1	21±2	0.2 ± 0.2	0.2 ± 0.2					
1,11,11,11,	(20)	(25)	(26)	(19)	(19)	(19)					
NO ₃ -N	-	6.8±2.1	8.5±2	-	7.6±2.1	8.6±2.2					
		(24)	(20)		(19)	(19)					
NO ₂ -N	-	0.1 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.1	_	0.1 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.1					
- 2 - 1		(21)	(21)		(15)	(15)					
TP	3.5±1.5	-	-	8.7±2	-	_					
	(14)			(19)							
PO ₄ -P	2.1 ± 0.7	1.5±0.6	1.6 ± 0.5	4 ± 1.5	0.5 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.3					
	(18)	(23)	(23)	(19)	(19)	(19)					
SS	120±60	-	-	270±90	-	_					
	(23)			(19)							
	Operational conditions										
Para	ameter	NMBR	UMBR	L	NMBR	UMBR					
Syster	$n SS^+(g)$	56±10	51±15		88±25	82±20					
	(8)	(23)	(23)		(15)	(15)					
System	$VSS^{+}(g)$	44±7	40±8		64±7	58±7					
~)		(22)	(21)		(15)	(15)					
Membra	ine tank SS	2.5±0.6	2.5 ± 0.7	7	4±1.3	4±1.2					
(1	g/L)	(24)	(24)		(15)	(15)					
Sludge (g VSS	yield, Y _{obs} S/g COD)	0.27	0.28		0.25	0.25					
VS	S/TSS	0.78	0.78		0.73	0.74					
P conter (% c	nt in sludge of VSS)	3.1	2.7		6.3	5.9					
	$m \alpha O_{-}/I/h$	32±3	30±4		43±3	42±3					
	$11gO_2/L/11$	(6)	(6)		(5)	(5)					

Table7.1 (a) Steady state influent and effluent quality obtained from the twosystems (All units are in mg/L except where stated otherwise).

* Mean± standard deviation (the number of samples)

+ SS and VSS were calculated over all reactor compartments

	Phase I							Phase II					
	NMBR			UMBR		NMBR			UMBR				
	COD	N	Р	COD	N	Р	COD	N	Р	COD	N	Р	
Wastage	36	29	52	35	29	42	30	29	90	32	28	85	
Effluent	6	25	45	7	28	56	4	21	7	4	25	12	
Aerobic	25	-	-	24	-	-	15	-	-	16	-	-	
cation	16	40	-	18	37	-	21	44	-	19	42	-	
(%)	83	94	97	84	94	98	70	9 4	97	71	95	97	

(b) Mass balance in COD, Nitrogen and P (All units are in % of feed except where stated otherwise).

7.3.2. Mass balances

COD mass balance, calculated according to Barker and Dold (1995), is presented in Table 7.1b. The COD oxidized aerobically was estimated by the difference between the measured OUR and the oxygen demand for nitrification. COD consumption through denitrification was calculated using Eq (7.1) (Metcalf & Eddy, 2003):

COD consumption through denitrification =
$$\frac{2.86}{1 - 1.42 \times Y_{obs}}$$
 (7.1)

Total COD recoveries in both systems were 82-84% and 71-73% in phases I and II, respectively. Overall low recovery is associated with COD loss through hydrolysis of slowly biodegradable COD consisting of particulate, colloidal material and complex

organic matters requiring breakdown prior to utilization and subsequent fermentation in the anaerobic and anoxic tanks (Barker and Dold, 1997), with lower recovery in phase II due to increased fermentation in the anaerobic tank, as reflected by average ORP values of -200 mV compared to -130 mV in phase I. Aerobic COD consumption was higher than anoxic COD removal in phase I but lower in phase II, substantiating the reduced sludge yield in phase II of 0.28 vs 0.25 gVSS/g COD. Nitrogen removal through denitrification in both systems accounted for 31-38% and 41-44% during phase I and II, respectively with consistently higher values in the NMBR. In phase I effluent P was significantly high in both systems but in phase II over 85% of P was removed through sludge waste stream.





a)



Figure 7.1 (a) Statistical distribution of effluent nitrates (Percentiles are shown: Minimum, 25th, 75th and Maximum. The horizontal line and the dot inside the box represent the median and the average, respectively) (b) denitrification pattern (c) fractionation of anoxic denitrification.

Figure 7.1a shows the statistical distribution of effluent nitrate concentration in both MBR systems after 3 turnovers of the mean SRT in phases I and II. Statistical analysis using a paired T-test conducted on the nitrates between NMBR and UMBR effluent indicated that observed differences were statistically significant at the 95% confidence level. The 25-75 percentiles of the data in phase I ranged from 6.5-8.1 mg/L and 7.9-9.5 mg/L for NMBR and UMBR, respectively compared to 5.8-8 mg/L and 6.8-8.7 mg L in phase II, emphasizing the lower nitrates in NMBR relative to UMBR by as much as 1-1.7 mg/L. Interestingly both MBR permeate nitrates were 0.5-1 mg/L lower than in the aerobic tank due to denitrification in the membrane biofilm, accounting for 10-15% of the nitrates in the aerobic tank in both systems.

Figure 7.1b presents denitrification mass rates in various processes of both systems. In phase I denitrification in the anoxic tank accounted for 62% of the total denitrification for both systems, compared to 88-93% in phase II. Relatively higher denitrification in the anaerobic tank in phase I negatively impacted EBPR due to the deficiency of readily biodegradable COD (rbCOD). Higher denitrification was achieved in the NMBR than UMBR by as much as 0.1-0.2 g/d during the two phases.

Figure 7.1c displays the fractionation of denitrification by the two different responsible microorganisms i.e. ordinary heterotrophs and DPAOs. Denitrification by DPAOs accounted for 6-9% and 22-26% in phase I and II, respectively. Nitrate reduction by DPAO was estimated based on the ratio of required nitrates per P removal i.e.0.59

gN/gP as determined from the batch tests elaborated upon further. Although on mass basis, both systems were similar at 0.04 g/d in phase I and 0.3 g/d in phase II, the percentage contribution of DPAOs to denitrification in the NMBR was lower due to the higher denitrification mass rates.

7.3.4 Phosphorus removal



a)



b)

Figure 7.2 (a) Temporal variation of phosphate and (b) statistical distribution of effluent P (Percentiles are shown: Minimum, 25th, 75th and Maximum. The horizontal line and the dot inside the box represent the median and the average, respectively).

Figure 7.2a represents the temporal variation of P removal during phases I and II. Influent TP averaged 3.5 and 8.7 mg/L in phase I and II respectively. Effluent P was hardly below 1 mg/L during phase I which relied on the incoming 30 mg/L VFA present in wastewater with VFA/TCOD ratio of 0.12 and VFA/P ratio of 8.5. However, in phase II starting day 170, since 30 mg/L VFA were supplemented effluent P decreased well below 1 mg/L even at influent TP as high as 10 mg/L. VFA/TCOD and VFA/TP in phase II was 0.16 and 8.1, respectively. Thus, P deterioration in phase I can be justified by the lower VFA/TCOD ratio and lower RBCOD availability due to denitrification in the anaerobic tank. The additional denitrification in the anaerobic tank was 0.25 g/d for both systems in phase I and 0.08 (NMBR) vs 0.16 (UMBR) g/d in phase II, consuming rbCOD of 1.1 g/d and 0.4 vs 0.7 g/d using Eq (7.1), corresponding to P release requirement of 0.5 g/d and 0.16 vs 0.3 g/d based on the rbCOD/P ratio of 2.2 obtained from the batch tests. The 0.5 gP/d in phase I is considerably higher than the measured P release of 0.05 g/d indicating significant hindrance to PAO activity. However, in phase II, the addition of VFA enhanced P removal. In addition, during phases I and II ORP in the anaerobic zone were different at -130 mV versus -200 mV, respectively, reflecting the more fermentative environment in phase II.

Figure 7.2b depicts the statistical distribution of effluent P after three turnovers of mean SRT, with 25-75 percentiles of 1.2-2 mg/L and 1.3-1.9 mg/L in the NMBR and UMBR, respectively. Statistical analysis on the effluent phosphates between two systems indicated that observed differences were statistically significant at 99% confidence level in phase II and relatively insignificant at 70% in the phase I. Phase II data demonstrates that when VFAs are not limiting, not only lower P was achievable in NMBR system as reflected by 25-75 percentiles of 0.4 to 0.6 mg/L compared to 0.6-1 mg/L in UMBR, but also more stable EBPR .





a)



Figure 7.3 (a) NMBR P profile during batch test (b) UMBR P profile during batch test (c) P mass release and uptake during phase I and II.

Figures 7.3a and b reflect the higher P release and uptake rates in the NMBR than the UMBR in phase II. P uptake/release ratios were 1.2 and 1.1 in NMBR and UMBR, respectively. VFA_{consumption}/P_{release} ratio was 2.2-2.3 which is fairly coincident with the literature (Smolders et al., 1994). This test also clearly confirms anoxic denitrification by DPAO. The required NO₃-N per P removal was 0.59. The P release and uptake profiles facilitate estimation of DPAO content of total PAO using the method of Meinhold et al (1999). Initial aerobic and anoxic P uptake rate (q_{ao} , q_{ax}) in the NMBR is 12.6 and 4 mg P/gVSS/h vs 10.3 and 3.8 mg P/gVSS/h in the UMBR, respectively. According to Eq (3.1), the DPAO content of both systems was 40% of PAO. Figure 7.3c presents the P release and uptake during both phases. Apparently, P uptake and release in phase I was similar in both systems; however, phase II shows that the NMBR achieved higher P release and uptake than the UMBR. Anoxic P uptake accounted for 37-44% of the total P uptake in both systems which agree with the estimated aforementioned DPAO content of 40%. In addition, it should be emphasized that intermediate clarifier positively impacted P release at 0.02 and 0.13 g/d in phase I and II, respectively, corresponding to 32 and 13% of the total P release.



Figure 7.4 P fractionation during phase I and II. (AN-anaerobic, AC-clarifier, AX – anoxic, AO-aerobic).

Figure 7.4 compares the average phosphate fractionation in phases I and II of triplicates conducted in each phase after 4, 9, and 12 turnovers of the mean SRT. Total P recovery was over 95% according to Eq. (3.2) and residue TP was less than 10% of the initial TP. As apparent from Figure 7.4, the P content was lower in phase I than phase II i.e. 25-30 mg/gVSS versus 55-60 mg/gVSS. The ortho-P extracted from PCA and NaOH step represents chemically bound P with Mg or Ca while complex P is mostly poly-P originated from biological metabolism. Although complex P contains nucleic acid P it was not experimentally determined but assumed as 10 mg/g because it is relatively constant for sludge (de Haas et al., 2000). Thus, poly-P was reasonably estimated by subtracting nucleic acid P, from complex P. Accordingly, during phase I, stored poly-P in NMBR was 9.8, 9.7, 10 and 10.8 mg/gVSS in the anaerobic, clarifier, anoxic and aerobic tank, respectively increasing to 32, 30, 35 and 36 mg/gVSS. Similarly, in phase I poly-P in the UMBR was 5.9, 6.1 and 6.8 mg/gVSS in the anaerobic, anoxic and aerobic tank as compared to 29, 31 and 32 mg/gVSS in phase II.

Chemical bound P was 17-22% of the total P in phase I for both systems but dropped to 7% in phase II while poly-P accounted for 27-37% and 57-59% in phases I and II, respectively, reflecting the high PAO contribution in phase II. In addition, the poly-P increase in phase II substantiates that P deterioration in phase I was due to limited influent VFA rather than potentially GAO presence. The small poly-P in phase I also indicates that P removal in phase I occurred mainly through biomass synthesis and the observed TP content of 27-31 mg/gVSS in NMBR and UMBR closely matches the non-PAO P content of 30 mg/gVSS (Wentzel et al., 1990).

Scrutiny of the poly-P change in the anaerobic reactor or clarifier and anoxic reactor in phase II clearly indicates that DPAO contributed to P uptake and nitrate reduction, as evidenced by the poly-P increase in anoxic tank at 2-5 mg/gVSS. The NMBR achieved higher aerobic poly-P than UMBR at 36 versus 32 mg/gVSS in phase II, confirming that the lower effluent P in NMBR is due to EBPR.

7.4 Conclusions

Within the HRT and SRT investigated in this study of 6 hours and 10 days for the treatment of wastewater characterized by COD, TKN and P concentrations of 250, 29 and 3.5 mg/L, respectively in the low strength MWW and 440, 43 and 8.7 mg/L, respectively in the high strength MWW, the following conclusions can be drawn:

- The NMBR outperformed the UMBR in nitrogen and phosphorus removal using both low and high strength MWW with effluent nitrate of 6.8-7.6 versus 8.5-8.6 mg/L and effluent ortho P of 0.5-1.5 versus 0.8-1.4 mg/L.
- Anoxic P uptake in the NMBR and UMBR were close at 37-40% of total P uptake. The contribution of DPAO to denitrification was 22-26% in both systems. DPAO content in both systems was estimated at 40% of PAO from batch test.
- A batch test on P release and uptake yielded P uptake/release ratios of 1.1-1.2 with VFA_{consumption}/P_{release} ratio of 2.2-2.3 and NO₃-N_{reduction}/P_{uptake} ratio of 0.59 in both systems.
- 4. Chemical P fractionation indicated that mostly P removal in both systems occurred through EBPR in phase II, although chemically bound P accounted for 7% of TP removal. Stored poly-P concentrations in the aerobic mixed liquor in phase II were 36 and 32 mg/gVSS for NMBR and UMBR. The relatively higher poly-P in the anoxic tank compared to anaerobic tank confirmed anoxic P uptake by DPAO.

7.5 References

APHA, 1998. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 20th Ed. American Public Health Association, Washington DC, USA.

Barker P.S.; Dold P.L. (1995) COD and nitrogen mass balances in activated sludge systems. *Water Res.* 29, 633-643.

Barker P.S.; Dold P.L.; (1997) General model for biological nutrient removal activated sludge systems: model presentation. *Water Environ. Res.* **69**, 969-984.

De Haas D.W.; Wentzel M.C.; Ekama G.A. (2000) The use of simultaneous chemical precipitation in modified activated sludge systems exhibiting biological excess phosphate removal Part 2: Method development for fractionation of phosphate compounds in activated sludge. *Water SA* **26**, 453-466.

Fleischer E.J.; Broderick T.A.; Daigger G.T.; Fonseca A.D.; Holbrook R.D.; Murthy S.N. (2005) Evaluation of membrane bioreactor process capabilities to meet stringent effluent nutrient discharge requirements. *Water Environ. Res.* 77, 162–178.

Kim M.; Nakhla, G. (2008) The beneficial role of intermediate clarification in a novel MBR based process for biological nitrogen and phosphorus removal. *J. Chem. Technol. Biot.* available online Dec. 8, 2008, DOI: 10.1002/jctb.2093.

Lesjean B.; Gnirss R.; Adam C. (2002) Process configuration adapted to membrane bioreactors for enhanced biological phosphorus and nitrogen removal. *Desalination* **149**, 217-224.

Meinhold J.; Filipe C.D.M.; Daigger G.T.; Isaacs S. (1999) Characterization of the denitrifying fraction of phosphate accumulating organisms in biological phosphate removal. *Water Sci. Technol.* **39**, 31-42.

Monti A.; Hall E.R.; Dawson R.N.; Husain H.; Kelly H.G. (2006) Comparative Study of Biological Nutrient Removal (BNR) Processes with sedimentation and membrane-based separation. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **94**, 740-752.

Mouthon-Bello J.; Zhou H. (2006) Performance of a submerged membrane bioreactor system for biological nutrient removal. *Water Environ. Res.*, **78**, 538-547.

Nakhla G.; Patel J. (2008) Treatment of Wastewater Containing Phosphorus and Nitrogen. US Patent No. US 7,326,343 B2.

Smolders G.J.F.; van der Meij J.; van Loosdrecht M.C.M.; Heijnen J.J. (1994) Model of the anaerobic metabolism of the biological phosphorus removal process: Stoichiometry and pH influence. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **43**, 461-470.

Wentzel M.C.; Ekama G.A.; Marais G.v.R. (1990) Biological excess phosphorus removal-steady state process design. *Water SA* 16, 29-48.

.

,

8.0 Comparative studies on membrane fouling between two membrane based BNR systems

8.1 Introduction

The widespread employment of membrane technology to wastewater treatment has assisted nutrient removal performance (Monti et al., 2006). Although MBR process is reliable in terms of perfect capture of solids in the system, membrane fouling has restricted its practical application and increased operational costs (Le-Clech et al, 2006). So far, extensive research on membrane fouling have unveiled the impact of many operational conditions such as HRT, SRT, dissolved oxygen (DO), temperature and aeration as well as sludge characteristics i.e. particle size, viscosity (Le-Clech et al, 2006).

Today, it is generally accepted that the main fouling factors are extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) and soluble microbial product (SMP) which are mostly byproducts of microbial activity, particularly SMP which are often cited as the primary foulants. Nonetheless the published findings present various contradictory conclusions on foulants due to the complexity of biological treatment nature. Lesjean et al. (2004) addressed that SMP is a more important factor than EPS. Le-Clech et al. (2006) suggested that carbohydrate in SMP is related to fouling. On the contrary, Drews et al. (2007) observed that SMP was not a governing factor in membrane fouling at influent COD as high as 1200 mg/L. Lee et al. (2003) observed poor relationship between EPS
and fouling but it was suggested that EPS composition is a more important factor than EPS concentration.

Compared to various studies on MBR employing single reactor for biochemical oxygen demand removal and nitrification, the studies on membranes employed for BNR have been sparse (Lesjean et la., 2002; Mouthon-Bellow and Zhou, 2006; Fleischer et al., 2005; Kang et al., 2007). Membrane assisted BNR system is quite different from single stage system in terms of microbiological community and operational conditions such as recycle stream and required oxygen.

Recently, typical fouling studies with membrane coupled BNR has been reported (Drews et al., 2007; Ahmed et al., 2007; Chae et al., 2006; Lyko et al., 2008). Some of findings are in agreement with the observations from conventional MBR systems. For instance, the positive impact of longer SRT on fouling was observed by Ahmed et al. (2007), testing at 20, 40, 60 and 100 days with anoxic-aerobic SBR system. It is consistent with the finding of Liang et al. (2007) using single stage MBR system at the different SRTs of 10, 20 and 40 days. Chae et al. (2006) confirmed that HRT is inversely proportional to EPS and particle size. Lyko et al. (2008) observed that membrane performance of full scale system deteriorated as temperature dropped to as low as 4 °C.

However, several particular observations that distinguished MBR applications for BNR from single oxic MBR can be addressed. Ahmed et al. (2008) conducted an investigation of feed composition impact on biomass community and fouling in SBR system, and concluded that the rapid fouling was observed with propionate or methanol based feed than with acetate or glucose dominant feed. However, relatively higher content of phosphorus accumulating organisms and improvement of phosphorus removal was observed with acetate or methanol dominant substrate than with glucose or propionate substrate, suggesting that a combined feed of acetate and methanol can be utilized in BNR-based MBR process as a proper external carbon source for assisting both fouling and EBPR performance.

Geilvoet et al. (2006) performed filtration test with denitrification and nitrification tank sludge samples and observed better filterability in the nitrification tank samples. According to the study by Rosenberger et al. (2006), an MBR system with postdenitrification presented better fouling trends than pre-denitrification, revealing that the reason was not because of denitrification scheme but because of present SMP.

Despite aforementioned studies there is still a paucity of knowledge on how EPS in BNR systems influence membrane fouling by operational conditions. Although MBR processes favor higher MLSS and longer SRT, these conditions are adverse for biological phosphorus removal because P removal efficiency improves at shorter SRT of the range of 7-16 days (Wentzel et al., 1997). In this study, to enhance biological phosphorus removal, two MBRs were operated at relatively lower HRT and SRT compared to other aforementioned studies i.e. 25 days (Lyko et al., 2008), 60 days (Chae et al., 2006), 20-100 days (Ahmed et al., 2007) and 30 days (Drews et al., 2007). Thus, this study primarily focuses on membrane fouling investigation from two MBR-based biological nitrogen and phosphorus removal systems with typical operational conditions of BNR process.

The other major contribution of this work is a detailed study of the role of biofilm deposited on the membrane in denitrification and its impact factors such as TMP, COD reduction, biomass and DO. Whereas membrane biofilm studies focused on the fouling propensity in the MBR, the research on the beneficial role of the biofilm layer for nutrient removal has been rarely reported. According to Kang et al. (2007) a decline of nitrates between membrane tank and permeates took place due to denitrification in the film layer. However, the impact factors for the occurrence still need to be explored.

Therefore, the purpose of this study is two-fold; the investigation of the factors affecting membrane fouling and the elucidation of the role of membrane biofilm denitrification.

8.2 Materials and methods

8.2.1 System description

It is given in chapter 3.1.

8.2.2 System operation

It is given in chapter 3.3.3 and the study was conducted during a total of 120 d or 12 turnovers of the mean SRT approximately using settled MWW.

8.2.3 Analytical methods

It is given in 3.4.1 and 3.4.3.

8.3. Results and discussions

Table 8.1 presents overall effluent quality from the two systems. Steady state data collected from 4 turnovers of the mean SRT indicates that average influent COD, nitrogen and phosphorus were 250, 29 and 3.5 mg/L, respectively. The average effluent COD, nitrogen and P concentrations from the NMBR were 13, 8 and 1.5 mg/L respectively as compared to 12, 9 and 1.6 mg/L respectively from the UMBR. The total suspended solids in the systems were 56 and 51 g for the NMBR and UMBR, respectively, and both membrane tank mixed liquor suspended solids concentrations were 2.5 g/L. Standard deviations of the data were obtained from testing for normal distribution of data using a statistical software (Minitab 13.1).

8.3.1. Fouling characteristics

Membrane permeate flux, permeability and fouling rate were calculated according to Eq. (8.1)-(8.3).

Flux:
$$J_P$$
 (LMH or L/(m² h)) = $\frac{Q_P}{A_m}$ (8.1)

Permeability:
$$Lp (LMH/kPa \text{ or } L/(m^2 h kPa)) = \frac{J_p}{\Delta P}$$
 (8.2)

Fouling rate: FR (LMH/kPa·h or L/(m² h² kPa)) = $\frac{L_p}{\Delta t}$ (8.3)

 Q_P : Permeate flowrate (L/h) A_m : Membrane surface area (m²) ΔP : Transmembrane pressure (kPa) Δt : time (h)

Table 8.1 Steady state influent and effluent quality obtained from two systems

Influent	NMBR_eff	UMBR_eff
250 ± 100 (25)	-	-
64 ± 30 (25)	13 ± 4 (22)	12 ± 5 (22)
29 ± 5 (20)	-	-
20 ± 4 (15)	0.6 ± 0.5 (13)	0.8 ± 0.7 (13)
16 ± 3 (20)	0.2 ± 0.2 (25)	0.1 ± 0.1 (26)
-	6.8 ± 2.1 (24)	8.5 ± 2 (20)
	0.1±0.1 (21)	0.1 ± 0.1 (21)
3.5 ± 1.5 (14)	-	-
2.1 ± 0.7 (18)	1.5 ± 0.6 (23)	1.6 ±0.5 (23)
120 ± 60 (23)	-	-
-	148 ± 56 (23)	135 ± 52 (23)
Operational conditions		
eter	NMBR	UMBR
SS (g)	56 ± 10 (23)	51 ± 10 (23)
SS (g)	44 ± 7 (22)	40 ± 8 (21)
k SS (g/L)	2.5±0.6 (24)	2.5 ± 0.7 (24)
ld, Y _{obs} COD)	$0.27 (R^2 = 0.96)$	$0.28 (R^2 = 0.97)$
SS	0.78	0.78
L/min)	5	5
urea (m ²)	0.31	0.31
	Influent $250 \pm 100 (25)$ $64 \pm 30 (25)$ $29 \pm 5 (20)$ $20 \pm 4 (15)$ $16 \pm 3 (20)$ - $3.5 \pm 1.5 (14)$ $2.1 \pm 0.7 (18)$ $120 \pm 60 (23)$ - Or eter SS (g) SS (g) k SS (g/L) d, Y _{obs} COD) SS L/min) area (m ²)	InfluentNMBR_eff $250 \pm 100 (25)$ - $64 \pm 30 (25)$ $13 \pm 4 (22)$ $29 \pm 5 (20)$ - $20 \pm 4 (15)$ $0.6 \pm 0.5 (13)$ $16 \pm 3 (20)$ $0.2 \pm 0.2 (25)$ - $6.8 \pm 2.1 (24)$ $0.1 \pm 0.1 (21)$ $3.5 \pm 1.5 (14)$ - $2.1 \pm 0.7 (18)$ $1.5 \pm 0.6 (23)$ $120 \pm 60 (23)$ $148 \pm 56 (23)$ Operational conditionseterNMBRSS (g) $56 \pm 10 (23)$ SS (g) $44 \pm 7 (22)$ k SS (g/L) $2.5 \pm 0.6 (24)$ dd, Yobs $0.27 (R^2 = 0.96)$ SS 0.78 L/min) 5 0.31

(All units are in mg/L except where stated otherwise.)



a



б

133



c)

Figure 8.1 (a) Temporal variation of permeability during the run (b) comparison of fouling rate between two systems during the run and (c) statistical distribution of fouling rate in two systems (Percentiles are shown: Minimum, 25th, 75th and Maximum. The horizontal line and the dot inside the box represent the median and the average, respectively).

Figure 8.1a displays the temporal variation of permeability in both NMBR and UMBR systems during the run calculated from Eq. (8.2). Fouling rate was determined from the slope of permeability versus time according to Eq. (8.3) during the first 1.5-2 days. Figure 8.1b presents a comparison of the overall fouling rate between two systems and the relationship is dispersed. Statistical analysis using T-test shows that the statistical differences between two fouling rates are insignificant at the 95% confidence level. Figure 8.1c also statistically shows the similarity in fouling rates between two systems

with average of 4.4×10^{-2} LMH/kPa·h even though UMBR varied more widely than NMBR. Statistically observed 25 percentile to 75 percentile fouling rates were between 3.8×10^{-2} - 5.2×10^{-2} LMH/kPa·h for NMBR compared to 2.5×10^{-2} - 5.9×10^{-2} LMH/kPa·h for UMBR.

In order to understand membrane fouling propensity several possible fouling indicators were investigated i.e. EPS, SMP, particle size distribution, and SVI. However, due to similarity in fouling trends between two systems, the combined data from two systems were evaluated for fouling characteristics.

EPS and SMP



a)



Figure 8.2 Statistical distribution of (a) protein and (b) carbohydrate in the mixed liquor of both systems (Percentiles are shown: Minimum, 25th, 75th and Maximum. The horizontal line and the dot inside the box represent the median and the average, respectively)

Figures 8.2a and 2b present the statistical distribution of bound EPS protein ($bEPS_{pro}$) and carbohydrate ($bEPS_{car}$) and SMP protein (SMP_{pro}) and carbohydrate (SMP_{pro}) in the aerobic mixed liquor of the two systems. In this study, the content of humic acid was negligible compared to protein and carbohydrate. Statistically, the 25th -75th percentile of the data of $bEPS_{pro}$ and $bEPS_{car}$ for NMBR were 46-84 and 5-6 mg/gVSS, respectively similar to the 57-85 and 5-8 mg/gVSS in UMBR, respectively. Similarly, the SMP_{pro} and SMP_{car} data for NMBR and UMBR ranged between 5-20 and 2-5 mg/gVSS or 10-35 and 2-6 mg/L respectively. The average $bEPS_{pro}$ and $bEPS_{car}$ for the NMBR and UMBR were

70 and 6 mg/gVSS respectively while SMP_{pro} and SMP_{car} are 13 and 4 mg/gVSS. Thus, apparently no statistical differences in $bEPS_{pro}$ and $bEPS_{car}$ were observed between the two systems similar to the trend in SMP_{pro} and SMP_{car} .



a)



b)

Figure 8.3 The relationship (a) between bound EPS or SMP and fouling rate (b) between the ratio of protein/carbohydrate and fouling rate.

Combining data from two systems, the correlation between the four fouling components i.e. $bEPS_{pro}$, $bEPS_{car}$, SMP_{pro} , SMP_{car} and fouling rate was observed, but no relationship was found (Figure not included). However, Fig 8.3a clearly indicates that the fouling rate is more related to SMP than bEPS, consistent with the observations of Rosenberger and Kraume (2002) and Le-Clech et al. (2006).

Some researches emphasized that the composition of EPS/SMP affects fouling formation (Al-Halbouni et al., 2008). Figure 8.3b presents the relationship between fouling rate and the ratio of protein/carbohydrate in bound EPS and SMP. It appears that the fouling rate is fairly associated with the ratio of protein/carbohydrate in SMP. Thus, it

may indicate that protein is a controlling factor for membrane fouling in this study, contrary to the finding of Geng et al. (2007), which is very similar to current study in terms of operational conditions i.e feed type, characteristics and system configurations (HRT 7 hr, SRT 12 d), who reported that primary substances observed on the membrane surface were soluble carbohydrates and humic acids rather than proteins. It must be asserted however that carbohydrate account for 23-50% of the SMP in the aforementioned study which fairly coincides with the 13–43% content in this study. In addition, the aforementioned authors concluded that floc size distribution and the amount of soluble EPS (SMP) are the most important fouling properties while the bound EPS and zeta potential and relative hydrophobicity were not closely associated with membrane fouling. The observed floc size, bound EPS, bound protein, soluble carbohydrate and protein were 140-150 μ m, 1-10 mg/gVSS, 25-35 mg/gVSS, 8-20 mg/L and 4-7 mg/L, respectively.

From Fig 8.3a, it can be suggested that SMP is more responsible for membrane fouling than EPS. Moreover, Fig 8.3b presents that the main foulant in SMP is protein rather than carbohydrate over a range of protein/carbohydrate ratio of 3-12. Metzger et al. (2007) assessed the effect of different filtration modes using a combination of relaxation and backwashing with hydrophilic polymeric membranes and observed that proteins are more tightly and irreversibly attached to the membrane than carbohydrates. This may explain why the ratio of protein in SMP is closely associated to the fouling rate.





b)

Figure 8.4 The relationship (a) between SVI and fouling rate (b) between SVI and bound protein or the ratio of bEPSpro/(bEPSpro+SMPpro).

During the study, SVI varied widely from 80 to 300 ml/g in the two systems. Figure 8.4a displays that SVI increased with increasing fouling rate. This may confirm the findings of Chang et al. (Chang et al., 1999) who observed that higher fouling correlates to higher SVI by testing with normal sludge and bulking sludge. Figure 8.4b also presents fair relationship between bEPS_{pro}/(bEPS_{pro}+SMP_{pro}) and SVI whereas the amount of bEPS_{pro} is clearly unrelated to the SVI.

From a critical review about EPS (Liu et al., 2003), mostly sludge settleability improves with lower EPS although poor correlation is often reported depending on the operational conditions. Ng et al. (2005) observed a clear reciprocal relationship between EPS and SVI. Moreover, Martinez et al. (2004) observed that higher bound protein increased SVI compared to little impact of carbohydrate and lipid. From this aspect, Fig 8.4b may provide new information on this issue, in that bound protein in itself is not related to SVI, but the distribution of proteins between the solids and liquid impacts SVI.



Figure 8.5 The relationship (a) between SVI and particle size (b) between fouling rate and particle size.

Figure 8.5a indicates the relationship between SVI and particle size from the two systems. Excellent fit was established between two parameters. It confirms that bigger floc size improves sludge settleability. Usually, it has been accepted that smaller floc size is related to higher fouling tendency because it increase pore blocking resistance (Geng and Hall, 2007; Lim and Bai, 2003). Figure 8.5b clearly confirms that indeed lower floc size increased fouling rate in this study.

Statistic analysis

Statistic analysis using SPSS software (Windows, version 14) was conducted to investigate the impact of several fouling parameters on membrane fouling. Multiple regression analysis assesses how the dependant variables affect the independent variable. However, all the independent variables are expressed in different units necessitating standardized regression coefficients of the variables. Thus, the beta coefficient, calculated by subtracting mean value and dividing by the standard deviation, is used to interpret the regression model, indicating the sensitivity of the dependent variable to each of the independent variables. Higher value of coefficient indicates greater impact on dependant variable.

This analysis conducted with the dependant variable i.e. fouling rate and the four chosen independent variables including bEPS (mg/g), SMP (mg/g), bEPS_{pro}/(bEPS_{pro}+SMP_{pro}) and particle size (μ m), characterized a statistical relationship between fouling rate and the four components in Eq. (8.4) at R² of 0.85 and 95% confidence level.

Fouling rate=4.6 + 0.11 SMP - 0.02 particle size + 2.53 protein ratio - 0.0004 bEPS (8.4)

The beta coefficients are -0.01, 0.15, -0.34 and 0.48 for bEPS, protein ratio, particle size and SMP, respectively with positive values indicating positive relationship and negative values indicate inverse relationship with fouling rate. According to the beta coefficients, the effect of SMP on membrane fouling was greater than the other three parameters. Particle size and protein ratio also affected fouling rate albeit more significantly by the former than the latter while bound EPS had negligible influence. Hence, this statistical approach confirms that SMP is the primary fouling factor although floc size and protein ratio also increased fouling.

8.3.2. Membrane fouling associated with denitrification

Denitrification in the biofilm is very often observed in large flocs or fixed film systems as DO profile drops through the film layer. However, rarely has it been reported in MBR systems and a single paper addressed the occurrence. So far, studies on MBR denitrification tended to focus on simultaneous nitrification and denitrification by controlling dissolved oxygen and increasing floc size (Holakoo et al., 2007). However, the current study observed nitrate reduction in the membrane biofilm similar to the findings of Kang et al. (2007), who revealed that the type of biomass in suspension and biofilm is identical, and that organic compounds less than 1 kDa in size are utilized for denitrification. However, it should be emphasized that the aforementioned study is quite different from this present study in terms of SRT, MLSS and aeration protocol. They operated the system at a SRT of 60 days and MLSS of 7 g/L with intermittent aeration which is 6 times longer SRT and 2.8 times higher MLSS than this study. However, despite the difference in operating conditions the reduction of nitrates across the membrane is 1.5 mg/L similar to the observation in this study.



a)



Figure 8.6 Denitrification impact factors: (a) COD reduction (b) attached biomass (c) DO and TMP.

146

The effect of amount of attached biomass on denitrification

During the run, the observed nitrate reduction was 1 mg/L on average corresponding 10-15% of the nitrate in the membrane tank. Figure 8.6a displays how the amount of COD reduction (based on SCOD) between membrane tank and permeates affects the nitrate reduction. The graph includes theoretical COD demand for denitrified nitrates, calculated using Eq. (8.5) (Metcalf and Eddy, 2003) and the biomass yield (Y_{obs}) from Table 8.1.

COD consumption through denitrification =
$$\frac{2.86}{1 - 1.42 \times Y_{obs}}$$
 (8.5)

It appears that not only did the observed COD reduction varied widely by as much as 12 mg/L but also it was not related to nitrate reduction. However, apparently theoretical COD consumption was lower than observed COD reduction, indicating COD is not limiting factor for the observed denitrification. Normally it has been agreed that COD reduction (or SMP reduction) is mostly due to physical blockage of the membrane pores or cake layer. However, the results may expand the idea that COD reduction is also partly resulting from biological activity in the biofilm on the membrane surface. In this study, it accounted for on average 47% of the total observed COD reduction across the membrane.

Figure 8.6b presents the relationship between the amount of attached biomass on the membranes and denitrification. The amount of biomass was 1-2.5 g but there is no direct relationship between two parameters, indicating that denitrification was not limited by the observed amount of biomass.

Figure 8.6c depicts the relationship between denitrification and TMP with combined data from the two systems because this occurrence is dependant on biofilm deposited on the membrane surface. At first glance, it spreads out with wide range of TMP. Thus, it was sorted according to the ambient DO. It should be emphasized that DO in the aerated MBR was not manipulated and aeration was constantly supplied at 5 L/min. In the case of less than 2 mg O_2/L , higher denitrification correlated with higher TMP with regression coefficient (R^2) of 0.77. However, at more than 2 mg O_2/L , nitrates reduction was poorly related to the TMP change with R^2 of 0.24. This trend clearly indicates that DO is a governing factor impacting denitrification, which in turn increases membrane fouling and TMP at constant flux.



a)



Figure 8.7 The nitrates reduction test on different DO conditions: (a) 0.6-1.5 mg/L (b) 2-5 mg/L.

To further understand the phenomenon a trial was conducted. Figure 8.7 depicts two denitrification trends at different DO conditions i.e. less than 1.5 mg/L and the other at 2-5 mg/L. The tests were initiated after reaching nitrate reduction of around 1.5 mg/L at high TMP of 35-40 kPa. Subsequently, membranes were taken out and washed with clean water to remove the attached biomass on the membrane surface, followed by placing back to the tank for additional filtration. Nitrate reduction and TMP were regularly monitored over the time. The results suggest interesting information on the impact of denitrification within biofilm on TMP. Initial nitrate reduction rate prior to removing biomass layer was 20% of the ambient nitrate concentration in the MBR tank. But after

cleaning, it dropped to below 10%. However, comparing two graphs by DO conditions, the reduction rate increased with raising TMP only at lower DO presented in Fig 8.7a. It confirms the aforementioned conclusion that low DO is essential for enhanced denitrification. Comparing between Figures 8.7a and 8.7b in terms of fouling and denitrification, TMP increase in Fig 8.7a was 20 kPa as the observed nitrate reduction increased to 1 mg/L at the low DO range compared to 12 kPa and 0.5 mg/L respectively in Fig 8.7b. It must be stressed that the impact of air scouring is same in both case due to the identical supplied aeration flowrate. Thus, this observation may verify that membrane biofilm denitrification triggers membrane fouling.

Generally, it has been accepted that membrane fouling occurs through three steps i.e. adsorption, pore clogging, cake formation (Liao et al., 2004). Although the biomass layer was removed, TMP did not drop below 15 kPa, exhibiting the fouling due to SMP pore clogging. Recent studies regarding denitrification and membrane fouling addressed that denitrification causes fouling deterioration. Ma et al. (2006) observed that anoxic-aerobic condition showed higher fouling rate than aerobic conditions owing to smaller floc size. Jang et al. (2006) stated that worse fouling was observed in denitrification. Drews et al. (2007) also observed that SMP increased with decreasing nitrates in post-denitrification BNR system. Thus, it may conclude that biofilm denitrification increases membrane fouling.

8.4 Summary & Conclusion

Within the HRT and SRT investigated in this study of 6 hours and 10 days for the treatment of wastewater characterized by COD, TKN and P concentrations of 250, 29 and 3.5 mg/L, respectively, the following conclusions can be drawn.

- There is no significant difference between two membrane-BNR systems in terms of membrane fouling with average fouling rate 4.4×10⁻² LMH/kPa·h in both.
- Membrane fouling was relatively more related to SMP than bound EPS.
 Protein/carbohydrate ratio in SMP was associated with fouling rate.
- 3. SVI was fairly related to the ratio of bound protein/total protein compared to poor relationship with the amount of bound protein. SVI and particle size showed excellent relationship. It was also confirmed that particle size was inversely proportional to fouling rate.
- 4. A statistical analysis using multiple regression characterized the significance of four fouling parameters from the greatest to the lowest i.e. SMP, particle size, the ratio of bound protein/total protein and bound EPS.
- 5. Nitrate reduction occurred in the biofilm of membrane at an average 1 mgN/L. Primary factor impacting denitrification was ambient DO rather than amount of attached biomass and COD reduction. In addition, it appears that denitrification triggered membrane fouling.

8.5 References

Ahmed Z.; Cho J.; Lim B.; Song K.; Ahn K. (2007) Effects of sludge retention time on membrane fouling and microbial community structure in a membrane bioreactor, J. *Membr. Sci.* 287, 211-218.

Ahmed Z.; Lim B.; Cho J.; Song K.; Kim K.; Ahn K. (2008) Biological nitrogen and phosphorus removal and changes in microbial community structure in a membrane bioreactor: effect of different carbon sources, *Water Res.* **42**, 198-210.

Al-Halbouni D.; Traber J.; Lyko S.; Wintgens T.; Melin T.; Tacke D.; Janot A.; Dott W.; Hollender J. (2008) Correlation of EPS content in activated sludge at different sludge retention times with membrane fouling phenomena, *Water Res.* **42**, 1475-1488.

APHA (1998) Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 20th Ed. American Public Health Association, Washington DC, USA.

Chae S.R.; Ahn Y.T.; Kang S.T.; Shin H.S. (2006) Mitigated membrane fouling in a vertical submerged membrane bioreactor (VSMBR), J. Membr. Sci. 280, 572-581.

Chang I.S.; Lee C.H. (1999) Membrane filtration characteristics in membrane-coupled activated sludge system: The effect of floc structure on membrane fouling, *Separation Sci. Technol.* **34**, 1743-1758.

Drews A.; Mante J.; Iversen V.; Vocks M.; Lesjean B.; M. Kraume (2007) Impact of ambient conditions on SMP elimination and rejection in MBRs, *Water Res.* **41**, 3850-3858.

Dubois M.; Gilles K.A.; Hamilton J.K.; Rebers P.A.; Smith F. (1956) Colorimetric method for determination of sugars and related substances, *Anal. Chem.* 28, 350–356.

Fan F.; Zhou H.; Husain H. (2006) Identification of wastewater sludge characteristics to predict critical flux for membrane bioreactor processes, *Water Res.* 40, 205-212.

Fleischer E.J.; Broderick T.A.; Daigger G.T.; Fonseca A.D.; Holbrook R.D.; Murthy S.N. (2005) Evaluation of membrane bioreactor process capabilities to meet stringent effluent nutrient discharge requirements. *Water Environ. Res.* 77, 162–178.

Frølund B.; Palmgren R.; Keiding K.; P.H. Nielsen (1996) Extraction of extracellular polymers from activated sludge using a cation exchange resin, *Water Res.* **30**, 1749–1758.

Geilvoet S.P.; Remy M.; Evenblij H.; Temmink H.; van der Graaf J.H.J.M. (2006) Tracing membrane foulants in membrane bioreactors by filtration characterisation and fractionation, *Water Sci. Technol.* **6**, 165-172. Geng Z.; Hall E.R. (2007) A comparative study of fouling-related properties of sludge from conventional and membrane enhanced biological phosphorus removal processes, *Water Res.* **41**, 4329-4338.

Holakoo L.; Nakhla G.; Bassi A.S.; Yanful E.K. (2007) Long term performance of MBR for biological nitrogen removal from synthetic municipal wastewater, *Chemosphere*, **66**, 849-857.

Jang N.; Ren X.; Choi K.; Kim I.S. (2006) Comparison of membrane biofouling in nitrification and denitrification for the membrane bioreactor (MBR), *Water Sci. Technol.* **53**, 43-49.

Kang S.; Lee W.; Chae S.; Shin H. (2007) Positive roles of biofilm during the operation of membrane bioreactor for water reuse, *Desalination* **202**, 129-134.

Le-Clech P.; Chen V.; Fane T.A.G. (2006) Fouling in membrane bioreactors used in wastewater treatment. J. Membr. Sci. 284, 17–53.

Lee W.; Kang S.; Shin H. (2003) Sludge characteristics and their contribution to microfiltration in submerged membrane bioreactors, *J. Membr. Sci.* **216**, 217–227.

Lesjean B.; Gnirss R.; Adam C. (2002) Process configurations adapted to membrane bioreactors for enhanced biological phosphorus and nitrogen removal, *Desalination*, **149**. 217-224.

Lesjean B.; Rosenberger S.; Laabs C.; Jekel M.; Gnirss R.; Amy G. (2004) Correlation between membrane fouling and soluble/colloidal organic substances in membrane bioreactors for municipal wastewater treatment. *Water Sci. Tech.* **51**, 1-8.

Liang S.; Liu C.; Song L. (2007) Soluble microbial products in membrane bioreactor operation: behaviors, characteristics, and fouling potential, *Water Res.* **41**, 95-101.

Liao B.Q.; Bagley D.M.; Kraemer H.E.; Leppard G.G.; Liss S.N. (2004) A review of biofouling and its control in membrane separation bioreactor, *Water Environ. Res.* 76, 425-436.

Lim A.L.; Bai R. (2003) Membrane fouling and cleaning in microfiltration of activated sludge wastewater, *J. Membr. Sci.* **216**, 279-290.

Liu Y.; Fang H.H.P. (2003) Influences of extracellular polymeric substance (EPS) on flocculation, settling, and dewatering of activated sludge, *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **33**, 237-273.

Lowry O.H.; Rosebrough N.H.; Farr A.L.; Randall R.J. (1951) Protein measurements with the folin phenol reagent, *J. Biol. Chem.* **193**, 265–275.

Lyko S.; Wintgens T.; Al-Halbouni D.; Baumgarten S.; Tacke D.; Drensla K.; Janot A.; Dott W.; Pinnekamp J.; Melin T. (2008) Long term monitoring of a full scale municipal membrane bioreactor-Characterisation of foulants and operational performance, *J. Membr. Sci.*, **317**, 78-87.

Ma B.; Lee Y.; Park J.; Lee C.; Lee S.; Chang I.; Ahn T. (2006) Correlation between dissolved oxygen concentration, microbial community and membrane permeability in a membrane bioreactor, *Process Biochem*, **41**, 1165-1172.

Martinez F.; Lema J.; Mendez R.; Cuervo-Lopez F.; Gomez J. (2004) Role of exopolymeric protein on the setteability of nitrifying sludges, *Bioresour. Technol.* 94, 43-48.

Metcalf and Eddy (2003), Wastewater Engineering: Treatment and Reuse. 4th Ed., McGraw-Hill, New York.

Metzger U.; Le-Clech P.; Stuetz R.M.; Frimmel F.H.; Chen V. (2007) Characterisation of polymeric fouling in membrane bioreactors and the effect of different filtration modes, J. Membr. Sci. **301**, 180-189.

Monti A.; Hall E.R.; Dawson R.N.; Husain H.; Kelly H.G. (2006) Comparative Study of Biological Nutrient Removal (BNR) Processes with sedimentation and membrane-based separation. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **94**, 740-752.

Mouthon-Bello J.; Zhou H. (2006) Performance of a submerged membrane bioreactor system for biological nutrient removal. *Water Environ. Res.*, **78**, 538-547.

Nakhla G.; Patel J. (2008) Treatment of Wastewater Containing Phosphorus and Nitrogen. US Patent No. US 7,326,343 B2.

Patel J.; Nakhla G. (2006) Simultaneous nitrification and denitrification with anoxic phosphorus uptake in a membrane bioreactor system, *Water Environ. Res.* **78**, 2193-2202.

Rosenberger S.; Kraume M. (2002) Filterability of activated sludge in membrane bioreactors, *Desalination* **146**, 373–379.

Rosenberger S.; Laabs C.; Lesjean B.; Gnirss R.; Amy G.; Jekel M.; Schrotter J.C. (2006) Impact of colloidal and soluble organic material on membrane performance in membrane bioreactors for municipal wastewater treatment, *Water Res.* **40**, 710-720.

Wentzel M.C.; Ekama G.A. (1997) Principles in the design of single-sludge activatedsludge systems for biological removal of carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus, *Water Environ. Res.* **69**, 1222-1231.

9.0 Membrane fouling propensity of denitrifying organisms

9.1 Introduction

It has been widely established that EPS and SMP are primary membrane foulants. Although membrane application mainly focused on CAS in the last decade, membranes have been recently applied to BNR systems (Lesjean et al., 2006; Fleischer et al., 2005; Monti et al., 2006). The fouling propensity in BNR systems is different from single aerobic reactor systems because of microbial diversity. Literature on the membrane fouling during denitrification is rather sparse. Geilvoet et al. (2006) concluded that the filterability of nitrifying sludges is better than denitrifiying sludges. Ma et al. (2006) stated that the sequence of anoxic and aerobic conditions increases fouling relative to single aerobic conditions because of smaller flocs. Jang et al. (2006) attributed the increased fouling in denitrification relative to nitrification to SMP increase and floc size reduction. Drews et al. (2007) reported that denitrification increased fouling due to SMP increase. Kim and Nakhla (2008) also observed that denitrification in membrane biofilms increased trans-membrane pressure.

All aforementioned studies have employed ordinary heterotrophic organisms (OHO) for denitrification. In BNR systems, denitrification can occur through OHO and DPAO. While OHO require external carbon for nitrate reduction, DPAO utilize intracellular carbon to remove P and nitrate simultaneously (Kim and Nakhla, 2008).

Thus, denitrification by DPAO is favourable for the treatment of low C/N wastewater. Since recently enhanced biological phosphorous removal (EBPR) processes have employed membranes (Drews et al., 2007; Monti et al., 2006), to the extent of our knowledge there is no study on membrane fouling propensity that differentiated between the two different denitrifying microbial populations. Thus, the main focus of this study is to compare OHO and DPAO denitrification in terms of fouling characteristics using BNR sludge and conventional activated sludge (CAS).

9.2. Materials and Methods

9.2.1 Experimental design

Batch tests were conducted with 3 liters of BNR sludge collected from aeration tank of a lab-scale EBPR system operating for more than 1.5 years on degritted municipal wastewater from the Adelaide wastewater plant (Kim and Nakhla, 2008) and CAS from Adelaide WWTP (London, Canada) The mixed liquor was centrifuged at $3000 \times g$ (Beckman Coulter, Allegra 6 centrifuger, USA) for 5 min with the supernatant replaced with nutrient-rich distilled water. After N₂ sparging to remove oxygen, 50-60 mg/L acetic acid based on the VFA/P release ratio of 2 (Smolders et al., 1994) was spiked to enrich internal cellular carbon storage in the PAO and pH was adjusted to 7.1 ± 0.1 . Samples were collected every 15 min during the first 3 h for monitoring VFA and P concentration. As P release was completed, 1L of mixed liquor was splitt in two bottles: bottle A for OHO and bottle B for DPAO denitrification. Subsequently, excess nitrates at a concentration of 20-22 mg NO₃-N/L were added into both bottles while 30 mg/L of acetic acid was spiked in bottle A for OHO denitrification. Samples from the two bottles were collected every 15 min for monitoring P and nitrate reduction. CAS sludge samples were prepared according to the same procedure as the BNR sludge except for the P release step, which was omitted. Tests were repeated four times over a period of 8 weeks. While bottle B represented denitrification by DPAOs using intracellular carbon, denitrification in bottle A was due to both DPAO and OHO utilising the external carbon added. As elaborated upon, this resulted in a very rapid denitrification rate, with complete denitrification achieved in bottle A within 2 hours as compared to 5 hours in bottle B. Thus, to evaluate the contribution of DPAOs in the mixed sample (bottle A), following the exhaustion of the added carbon, a second nitrate spike at a dose of 10 mg NO₃-N/L, was performed, referred to henceforth as DPAO in heterotrophic test, or DPAO-H. This also prolonged the test duration in bottle A to match bottle B, in effect minimizing biases due to different endogenous respiration rates between the two tests.

denitrification in bottle A, at the end of the second spike in bottle A, and at the end of the DAPO denitrification in bottle B, as well as the initial and final (after denitrification) CAS samples were collected for MFI determination, and foulants characterization i.e. SMP and BEPS carbohydrates and proteins.

9.2.2 Analytical methods

Batch filtration tests were conducted to measure the Modified Fouling Index (MFI) (Schippers and Verdouw, 1980) using a stirred batch cell (Amicon ,USA) to measure the permeate volume with an ultrafiltration (UF) membrane (nominal molecular weight cut-off point of 300 kDa) under constant pressure. Two samples were applied to fractionate the membrane foulants into the soluble and suspended solids (SS) components. Soluble sample were prepared after centrifuging the mixed liquor at 12,000 g for 15 min and filtering the supernatant through a 0.45 μ m filter paper. 300 ml of mixed liquor and soluble sample were filtered through UF membranes under constant pressure of 10 psi (69 kPa) with monitoring the flow rate as a function of time. A plot of the t/V versus V graph (t in seconds and V in liters) was constructed where the slope (tan α) of the straight part of the curve was calculated. MFI is found from the following Eq (9.1) and is corrected for the pressure and temperature of 210 kPa and 20° C, respectively.

$$MFI = \frac{\eta_{20}}{\eta} \cdot \frac{\Delta P}{210} \cdot \tan \alpha \tag{9.1}$$

Where: η_{20} = viscosity at 20°C, η = viscosity at the water temperature, ΔP = pressure applied in kPa,

The MFI for the SS component (MFIss) is calculated by subtraction of the soluble component from the mixed liquor, denoting MFIsol.

A hydrocarbon-hexane extraction was used to measure the hydrophobicity in the sludge, EPS, and SMP as protein and carbohydrate. The procedure is as follows: a 50 ml sample was agitated for 10 min, with 50 ml n-hexane, in a separating funnel. After 10 min, when the phases were completely separated, of the 50-ml aqueous phase, only 40 mls of the aqueous solution were transferred to glassware prior to protein and carbohydrate analysis. The relative hydrophobicity is expressed in Eq (9.2) as the ratio of

the aqueous phase concentration after emulsification (S_e) to that of the initial sample concentration (S_i) :

Relative hydrophobicity (%) =
$$100 (1 - Se/Si)$$
 (9.2)

9.3. Results and discussions

9.3.1 batch test





Figure 9.1 Variation of nitrates and phosphates during batch test (a) BNR sludge (b) CAS sludge

Figure 9.1 presents the variation of P and nitrates during the batch test with BNR sludge (Fig 9.1a) and CAS sludge (Fig 9.1b). In the BNR sludge, after P release was completed, 22 mg/L of nitrates was added in both OHO and DPAO bottles and external carbon at 80 mgCOD/L, as acetic acid, were added to the OHO bottle Nitrates in OHO were rapidly reduced within 2 hrs similar to CAS denitrification. Following the second nitrate spike in the OHO batch, denitrification continued but at relatively slow rate due to rbCOD completion.

Compared to the denitrification using external carbon in the OHO batch, DPAO denitrification was slower because it utilized internal cellular carbon i.e. polyhydroxylbutyrate (PHB). P uptake occurred simultaneously with denitrification in both the OHO and DPAO bottles. P removed was 6 and 12 mg/L in OHO and DPAO bottle,
respectively. However, after the second nitrate spike in OHO bottle, DPAO contributed more to denitrification, as evidenced by a P drop from 20 to 7 mg/L.

	CAS	ОНО	DPAO_H	DPAO	
Denitrification rate	6±2.5	4±0.2	0.9±0.2	1.5±0.1	
(mgN/gVSS hr)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
P uptake rate		1.2±0.3	1.8±0.2	1.9±0.2	
(mgP/gVSS hr)	-	(4)	(2)	(4)	
Initial SMPcar	2.3±0.3	1.9±0.8	1.7±0.5	0.5 1.3±0.5	
(mg/L)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
Initial SMPpro	14±3	19±4	21±6	18±6	
(mg/L)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
Initial bEPScar	4±1	3±1	3±1	2.5±1	
(mg/gVSS)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
Initial bEPSpro	43±4	35±9	28±2	29±5	
(mg/gVSS)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
Final SMPcar	5±1	3.5±2	1±0.1	1±0.4	
(mg/L)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
Final SMPpro	17±2	22±3	20±5	16±5	
(mg/L)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
Final bEPScar	6±1	4±2	4±1	3±1	
(mg/gVSS)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
Final bEPSpro	53±3	43±10	33±2	34±3	
(mg/gVSS)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
Initial MFIss	2.1±0.1	2.3±1	3±1.2	2.2 ± 1.2	
(10^3 s/L^2)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
Initial MFIsol	2.1±1.2	2.3±0.7	1.9±0.8	2±0.5	
(10^3 s/L^2)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
Final MFIss	4.7±0.8	3.5±1.4	2.2±0.8	1.2 ± 1.0	
(10^3 s/L^2)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
Final MFIsol	5.2±1.3	5.2 ± 2.1	2.8±0.5	3.5±1.1	
(10^3 s/L^2)	(4)	(4)	(2)	(4)	
MLVSS (g/L)	2.4	2.2	2.2	2.2	
P content in sludge (% of VSS)	2	5.5	5.5	5.5	
Sludge yield (Yobs)	0.56	0.25	0.25	0.25	

 Table 9.1 Summary of the batch test

Table 9.1 summarizes the test results. Standard deviations of the data were obtained from testing for normal distribution of data using a statistical software (Minitab 13.1). Denitrification rate was 6, 4, 0.9, 1.5 mgN/gVSS hr for the CAS, OHO, DPAO-H and DPAO respectively. P removal rate was relatively higher in 2 mgP/gVSS hr in DPAO compared to 1.2 and 1.8 mgP/gVSS hr in OHO and DPAO-H, respectively. P content in sludge in BNR was 5.5% compare to 2% in CAS. Overall, initial SMPpro and SMPcar were 14-21 mg/L and 1.3-2.3 mg/L while initial bEPSpro and bEPScar were 28-43 mg/gVSS and 2-4 mg/gVSS. Final SMPpro and SMP car were 16-22 mg/L and 1-5 mg/L whereas final bEPSpro and bEPScar were 33-53 mg/gVSS and 3-6 mg/gVSS.

9.3.2 MFI test



a)



b)

Figure 9.2 (a) MFI net change (b) SMP and bEPS net change

The MFI test was adopted for assessing the two primary fouling mechanisms i.e. pore blocking and cake layer resistance (Kim and Jang, 2006), with the initial and final values representing before and after denitrification. As apparent from table 9.1, initial MFIss averaged 2.1×10^3 , 2.3×10^3 , 3×10^3 and 2.2×10^3 s/L² for CAS, OHO, DPAO-H and DPAO, respectively, while MFIsol were 2.1×10^3 , 2.3×10^3 , 1.9×10^3 and 2.0×10^3 s/L² respectively. Average final MFIss were 4.7×10^3 , 3.5×10^3 , 2.2×10^3 , and 1.2×10^3 s/L² for CAS, OHO, DPAO-H and DPAO respectively while final MFIsol averaged 5.2×10^3 , 5.2×10^3 , 2.8×10^3 and 3.5×10^3 s/L².

Figure 9.2a illustrating the net MFI change during denitrification conspicuously reflects that CAS and OHO denitrification increased MFIss by an average of 2.6×10³ and 1.2×10^3 s/L² respectively corresponding to 123% and 52% of the initial values. However, interestingly MFIss decreased in DPAO-H and DPAO denitrification at an average of 0.8×10^3 and 1×10^3 s/L² respectively corresponding to 27% and 40% reduction of the initial values, indicating not only a higher cake resistance in CAS and OHO than DPAO-H and DPAO, but also a drastically different denitrification impact on membranes. Figure 9.2b shows that MFIsol increased in all 4 cases, with the highest increases of 150% and 135% for the CAS and OHO versus 47% and 75% for the DPAO-H and DAPO, respectively. Interestingly, the final soluble MFI for both the CAS and OHO sludges were identical at 5.2×10^3 s/L², while the DPAO-H and DPAO were within 20% at $2.8-3.5 \times 10^3$ s/L². Jang et al. (2006) tested the impact of denitrification on fouling propensity and observed that denitrification with and without external carbon source increased both MFIss and MFIsol by as much as 14×10^3 and 11×10^3 s/L², respectively, corresponding to 460 and 120 % of the initial values. However, although the net change of MFIsol is consistent with the literature, the negative net change of MFIss in DPAO is quite intriguing. Furthermore, it appears that the trend was evidently related to the extent of DPAO contribution to denitrification, in that the net change in MFIss decreased in order from CAS to OHO, DPAO-H, and DPAO. Noting that the OHO sample in fact reflects the combination of OHO and DPAO, it is not surprising that the change in MFIss in the OHO was well below the CAS sludge. It is also noteworthy that the net MFI (MFIss+MFIsol) change in DPAO-H and DPAO is quite lower than the two other cases, with CAS final resistance was much higher than the BNR sludge.

9.3.3 SMP and bEPS change

Figure 9.2b illustrates the net change of SMP and bEPS components in each case. It is interesting to note that SMP in DPAO-H and DPAO decreased by on average 2 mg/L, but increased by 4.5-5 mg/L on average in the CAS and OHO sludges. bEPS net change, calculated as the difference between the initial and final sum of bEPSpro and bEPScar, were 12, 9, 6, 5 mg/gVSS for CAS, OHO, ODPAO and DPAO, respectively. However, it seems that the SMP and bEPS changes alone can not rationalize the net change in MFIsol and MFIss. For instance, although DPAO decreased SMP, MFIsol increased. Similarly, bEPS increased in DPAO but MFIss decreased.



a)



b)

Figure 9.3 Relationship between (a) MFIsol and SMPpro/SMP (b) MFIss and bEPSpro/bEPS

Figure 9.3 presents the relationship between fouling parameters i.e. SMP and bEPS and MFI values. From Fig 9.3a, it appears that SMPcar/SMP ratio was closely associated with MFIsol, suggesting that carbohydrate content in SMP is the predominant factor impacting MFIsol. It has been reported that denitrification-associated membrane fouling was due to SMP increase (Jang et al., 2006; Drews et al., 2007). However, this study evidently indicates that denitrification-associated membrane fouling especially, pore blocking resistance, is governed by the nature of SMPs, in this case carbohydrate content rather than the concentration of SMP. Figure 9.3b shows that the MFI is inversely correlated with the ratio of bEPSpro/bEPS, indicating that as protein in bEPS increased,

suspended solids fouling resistance decreases or conversely as bEPScarb increased fouling resistance increased.





170



Figure 9.4 Relative hydrophobicity change in (a) SMP and (b) bEPS (c) net change of bEPScar/bEPSpro ratio

In order to investigate the difference between the MFI results, relative hydrophobicity was conducted. Figure 9.4a presents the relative hydrophobicity change in SMP. Net change of SMP_{RH} was greatest in DPAO at average 25% compared to 10, 12 and 20% in CAS, OHO and DPAO-H, respectively. Figure 9.4b shows the net change of bEPS_{RH}. While bEPS_{RH} in CAS and OHO decreased on average by 5-6%, DPAO-H and DPAO exhibited an increase of 8-10% on average. The simultaneous decrease in CAS and OHO bEPS_{RH} with the increase in MFIss is consistent with the finding of Jang et al. (2006), who observed that bEPS_{RH} decreased after CAS denitrification and subsequently, increased membrane fouling due to floc deterioration. Conversely, the increase in relative hydrophobicity of bEPS in DPAO-H and DPAO occurred simultaneously with the decrease in MFIss. According to an extensive review of EPS by Raszka et al. (2006) the

constituents of bEPS impact hydrophobicity, with protein increasing hydrophobicity. In the DPAO-H and DPAO samples, following denitrification, MFIss decreased, bEPSpro/bEPS increased (Figure 9.3b), relative hydrophobicity increased (Figure 9.4b), and the ratio of bEPScar/bEPSpro (Figure 9.4c) decreased. All of this evidently indicates that the cake layer resistance, as reflected by MFIss, is more strongly impacted by the proteins in bEPS than carbohydrates.

Liao et al. (2001) tested the influence of SRTs on the EPS and observed that protein was lower while carbohydrate was significantly higher at SRTs of 4 days than at 9 days, suggesting that excess carbohydrate was accumulated as EPS rather consumed for sludge growth, implying that without external carbon OHO may consume carbohydrates in EPS since they are more readily biodegradable than proteins and subsequently bEPScar/bEPSpro ratio decreased, whereas OHO with external carbon increased bEPScar/bEPSpro ratio because some of carbon was converted to carbohydrates.

This study compared the fouling propensity caused by different denitrification pathways, while most studies on the impact of denitrification on membrane fouling were conducted using conventional sludge rather than BNR sludge which is more diverse in microorganisms. Conclusively, it can be stated that DPAO denitrification increased hydrophobicity of floc compared to decrease in OHO and CAS, resulting in lower cake layer resistance

9.4 Summary & Conclusions

Based on the findings of this denitrification-associated fouling propensity tests using CAS, BNR sludges (OHO and DPAO), the following conclusions can be drawn.

- MFIss increased by 150-220% in CAS and OHO but decreased in DPAO denitrification by 53% indicating the lower cake layer resistance in DPAO whereas MFIsol increased in all cases.
- SMP increased by average 4.5-5 mg/L after CAS and OHO denitrification compared to 2 mg/L reduction in DPAO denitrification. bEPS increased in all cases by as much as 5-12 mg/gVSS but DPAO bEPS net change was the lowest.
- 3. Relative hydrophobicity in the sludge indicated that DPAO denitrification increased bEPS_{RH} by 8-10% on average compared to a decrease in OHO and CAS samples by 5-6% suggesting that bEPS_{RH} change caused MFIss reduction in DPAO. The bEPS_{RH} change was caused by a change in protein content of bEPS, presumably associated with carbohydrate utilization in bEPS during denitrification in the absence of available external carbon.
- Comparing denitrification fouling between CAS and BNR sludge, CAS exhibited much higher fouling propensity as evidenced by increased MFI, SMP and bEPS production.

9.5 References

Drews A.; Mante J.; Iversen V.; Vocks M.; Lesjean B.; M. Kraume (2007) Impact of ambient conditions on SMP elimination and rejection in MBRs, *Water Res.* **41**, 3850-3858.

Dubois M.; Gilles K.A.; Hamilton J.K.; Rebers P.A.; Smith F. (1956) Colorimetric method for determination of sugars and related substances, *Anal. Chem.* **28**, 350–356.

Fleischer E.J.; Broderick T.A.; Daigger G.T.; Fonseca A.D.; Holbrook R.D.; Murthy S.N. (2005) Evaluation of membrane bioreactor process capabilities to meet stringent effluent nutrient discharge requirements. *Water Environ. Res.* 77, 162–178.

Frølund B.; Palmgren R.; Keiding K.; P.H. Nielsen (1996) Extraction of extracellular polymers from activated sludge using a cation exchange resin, *Water Res.* **30**, 1749–1758.

Geilvoet S.P.; Remy M.; Evenblij H.; Temmink H.; van der Graaf J.H.J.M. (2006) Tracing membrane foulants in membrane bioreactors by filtration characterisation and fractionation, *Water Sci. Technol.* **6**, 165-172.

Jang N.; Ren X.; Choi K.; Kim I.S. (2006) Comparison of membrane biofouling in nitrification and denitrification for the membrane bioreactor (MBR), *Water Sci. Technol.* **53**, 43-49.

Kim I.S.; Jang N. (2006) The effect of calcium on the membrane biofouling in the membrane bioreactor (MBR), *Water Res.* 40, 2756–2764.

Kim, M.; Nakhla, G. (2008) The beneficial role of intermediate clarification in a novel MBR based process for biological nitrogen and phosphorus removal. J. Chem. Technol. Biot. available online Dec. 8, 2008, DOI: 10.1002/jctb.2093.

Lesjean B.; Gnirss R.; Adam C. (2002) Process configurations adapted to membrane bioreactors for enhanced biological phosphorus and nitrogen removal, *Desalination*, **149**. 217-224.

Liao B.Q.; Allen D.G.; Droppo I.G.; Leppard G.G.; Liss S.N. (2001) Surface properties of sludge and their role in bioflocculation and settleability. *Water Res.* **35**, 339–350.

Lowry O.H.; Rosebrough N.H.; Farr A.L.; Randall R.J. (1951) Protein measurements with the folin phenol reagent, *J. Biol. Chem.* **193**, 265–275.

Ma B.; Lee Y.; Park J.; Lee C.; Lee S.; Chang I.; Ahn T. (2006) Correlation between dissolved oxygen concentration, microbial community and membrane permeability in a membrane bioreactor, *Process Biochem*, **41**, 1165-1172.

Monti A.; Hall E.R.; Dawson R.N.; Husain H.; Kelly H.G. (2006) Comparative Study of Biological Nutrient Removal (BNR) Processes with sedimentation and membrane-based separation. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **94**, 740-752

Raszka A.; Chorvatova M.; Wanner J. (2006) The role and significance of extracellular polymers in activated sludge. Part I: Literature review. *Acta hydrochim. hydrobiol.* 34, 411–424.

Schippers J.C.; Verdouw J. (1980) The modified fouling index, a method of determining the fouling characteristics of water. *Desalination* **32**, 137-148.

Smolders G.I.F.; van der Meij J.; van Loosdrecht M.C.M.; Heijnen J.J. (1994) Model of the anaerobic metabolism of the biological phosphorus removal process: Stoichiometry and pH influence. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **43**, 461-470.

10.0 Conclusions

Based on the finding of two consecutive lab scale comparative studies between NMBR and conventional systems within the HRT and SRT ranges investigated in this study of 6-8 hours and 10 days for the treatment of wastewater characterized by COD, TKN and P, the following conclusions are drawn;

1. NMBR biological P removal capacity is better than A^2O with effluent P concentration of 0.2 vs 1.2 mg/L (with SWW) and 0.8 vs 1 mg/L (with MWW) as well as higher DPAO denitrification at 54% vs 40% of the total denitrification. Sludge production was 20% lower in NMBR than A^2O .

2. NMBR intermediate clarifier acted as anaerobic or anoxic zone depending on the hydraulic retention time of the preceding anaerobic tank and subsequently, enhanced overall P and nitrogen removal whereas the A²O final clarifier facilitated nitrogen and COD reduction through denitrification

3. NMBR achieved lower effluent nitrates and ortho P than UMBR, using both low and high strength MWW, 6.8-7.6 versus 8.5-8.6 mg/L and 0.5-1.5 versus 0.8-1.4 mg/L, respectively with similar DPAO content at 40% in both systems. P fractionation in NMBR and UMBR indicated that P removal occurs mostly via PAO metabolism with a 7% of total P removal attributed to chemical precipitation.

4. The effluent DON from three different systems i.e. NMBR, A^2O , UMBR demonstrated that NMBR process achieved 0.3 mg/L lower than the A^2O process but compared to the UMBR. DON reduction by membrane averaged 35% of the ambient aeration tank concentration.

5. Membrane fouling studies with two membrane assisted BNR processes under same feed and operational conditions demonstrated similar fouling rate in both, with a permeability of 4.4×10^{-2} LMH/kPa·h. Fouling rate was more associated with SMP and protein/carbohydrate ratio than bound EPS. The significance of fouling parameters was characterized from the greatest to the lowest i.e. SMP, particle size, the ratio of bound protein/total protein and bound EPS.

6. Denitrification within the biofilm layer in membrane reduced nitrates by on average 1 mgN/L. The denitrification was more influenced by ambient DO rather than amount of attached biomass and COD reduction. Denitrification also increased membrane fouling.

7. Denitrification related fouling studies indicated significant different fouling propensity between ordinary heterotrophic organisms (OHO) and denitrifying phosphate accumulating organisms (DPAO). Compared to 150-220% increase in cake layer resistance in the former, the latter caused 53% decrease while both cases increased pore blocking resistance after denitrification. The different fouling behaviour was associated with EPS hydrophobicity change after denitrification, wherein relative hydrophobicity of bound EPS in DPAO increased 10% compared to a decrease in OHO by 5%.

11.0 Engineering significance and recommendations

This study on a novel MBR process evaluation presented several significant points.

1) The role of intermediate clarifier is beneficial to enhance P removal efficiency. It indicates that the capital cost of the intermediate clarifier should be weighed against the cost of additional chemical P removal and associated increased sludge treatment costs.

2) NMBR achieved 20% lower sludge production compared to the conventional A²O system with clarifier at 0.13-0.16 vs 0.16-0.21 gVSS/gCOD. The sludge reduction also decreases the cost of waste sludge treatment and handling.

3) The DON reduction by membrane, accounting for 35% of the ambient membrane tank concentration, and nitrate reduction of 0.5-1 mg/L within membrane biofilm layer may decrease the amount of chemical dosage required for removing inorganic nitrogen to meet total effluent nitrogen of 3 mg/L. In addition, denitrification by DPAO may reduce external carbon dosage.

The following areas warrant further investigation.

a) Investigation of system performance by changing mixed liquor internal recirculation

b) Determination of the nature of effluent DON and its biodegradability

c) Identification of the molecular weight distribution of the SMP

d) Evaluation of the denitrification associated membrane fouling propensity in the continuous system rather than in off-line batch studies.

Appendix A

Gas chromatograph diagram

VFA standard curve



180

Particle size distribution



Appendix C

Labview screen reading transmembrane pressure from PLC



Appendix **D**

Mass balance calculations

Nomenclature

MN = MBR anaerobic tank

MC = MBR intermediate clarifier

MX = MBR anoxic tank

MO = MBR aerobic tank

 $AN = A^2O$ anaerobic tank

 $AX = A^2O$ anoxic tank

 $AO = A^2O$ aerobic tank

MT, MN_{in} , MC_{in} , MX_{in} , MO_{in} = mass flowrate entering MBR anaerobic, clarifier, anoxic, aerobic tank, g/d

 MN_{outb} MC_{outb} MZ_{outb} MO_{out} , ME = mass flowrate leaving MBR anaerobic, clarifier, anoxic, aerobic tank, and system, g/d

AT, AN_{in} , AX_{in} , AO_{in} , = mass flowrate entering A²O anaerobic, anoxic, aerobic tank, g/d AN_{out} , AC_{out} , AX_{out} , AO_{out} , AE = mass flowrate leaving A²O anaerobic, clarifier, anoxic, aerobic tank and system, g/d

V = Volume, L

 MN_{De} = Denitrified NO₃-N in MBR anaerobic tank, g N/d

 MX_{De} = Denitrified NO₃-N in MBR anoxic tank, g N/d

 MT_{De} = Total denitrified NO₃-N in MBR, g N/d

MW = MBR sludge wastage, g/d

- AN_{De} = Denitrified NO₃-N in A²O anaerobic tank, g N/d
- AX_{De} = Denitrified NO₃-N in A²O anoxic tank, g N/d
- AT_{De} = Total denitrified NO₃-N in A₂O, g N/d
- $AW = A^2O$ sludge wastage, g/d
- $OUR = Oxygen uptake rate, mg O_2/L.h$
- $MO_{oxi COD}$ = Total oxidized COD during aerobic zone, g/d
- $MT_{De_{COD}}$ = Total oxidized COD during denitrification, g/d
- $4.57 = Equivalent coefficient, mg O_2 / mg N$
- $2.86 = Equivalent \text{ coefficient mg } O_2 / \text{mg } N$
- 1.42 = COD equivalent coefficient, mg COD / mg VSS

Calculation on the mass balance

- I. Calculation for denitrification
- 1) Denitrified NO₃-N in anoxic zone, g/d
- $MX_{De} = MX_{in, NO3-N} MX_{out, NO3-N}$
- 2) Denitrified NO₃-N in anaerobic zone, g/d
- $MN_{De} = MN_{in, NO3-N} MN_{out, NO3-N}$
- 3) Total denitrified NO₃-N in the system, g/d

 $MT_{De} = MX_{De} + MN_{De}$

4) TKN of MBR effluent, ME_{TKN} , g/d

5) NO₃-N of MBR effluent, ME_{NO3-N}, g/d

6) Nitrogen in waste sludge , MW_N , g/d TKN in waste sludge (MW_{TKN} , g/d) + NO3-N in waste sludge (MW_{NO3-N} , g/d) $MW_{TKN} = 0.1 * MWvss$

7) Influent TKN, MI_N, g/d

8) Total nitrogen leaving system, MT_{out_N}, g/d

 $MT_{out_N} = ME_{TKN} + ME_{Nitrate} + MW_N$

II. Calculation for COD mass balance

1) Total generated NO₃-N, MT_{gen nitrate},g/d

 $MT_{gen_nitrate} = MT_{De} + ME_{NO3-N}$

2) Oxidized COD in aerobic, MO_{oxi COD}, g/d

 $MO_{oxi_COD} = OUR * V_{MO} * 24 - 4.57 * MT_{gen_nitrate}$

3) Oxidized COD during denitrification, MT_{De_COD}

 $MT_{De_COD} = 2.86 / (1-1.42*Y_H) * MT_{De}$

4) Oxidized COD by recycled DO(MO_{DO}) in anoxic, MT_{DO_COD} $MT_{DO_COD} = 1 / (1-1.42*Y_H) * MO_{DO}$

5) Total oxidized COD, MToxi_COD, g/dMToxi_COD = MO_{oxi_COD} + MT_{De_COD}

6) Effluent TCOD, ME_{TCOD}, g/d

7) COD in waste sludge, MW_{COD}, g/dMW_{COD} = 1.42 * MWvss

8) COD leaving the system, MT_{out_COD} , g/d $MT_{out_COD} = MT_{oxi_COD} + ME_{TCOD} + MW_{COD}$

9) Influent COD, MT_{in_COD}, g/d

10) COD balance, %

 $\% = MT_{out_COD} / MT_{in_COD}$

III. Example of calculation

System = MBR, Influent flowrate = 66L/d, Wastage = 4.4 gVSS/d

Influent TCOD = 310 mg/L Influent TKN = 35 mg/L

OUR = 36 mg $O_2/L/h$, V_{MO} = 12 L, DO = 1.5 mg O_2/L , Y_H = 0.16 mg VSS/mg COD

	Influent	MN	MC	MX	MO	ME
SCOD (mg/L)	255	21	15	7	8	7
NO ₃ -N (mg/L)	-	1	0.8	1.5	7.3	7.3

Total denitrified nitrate in the system $(MT_{De}) = MX_{De} + MN_{De} = 1.22 \text{ g/d}$

Total generated NO₃-N, $MT_{gen_nitrate} = 1.7 \text{ g/d}$

TKN of MBR effluent, $ME_{TKN} = 0.08 \text{ g/d}$

NO₃-N of MBR effluent, $ME_{NO3-N} = 0.48 \text{ g/d}$

Nitrogen in waste sludge, $MW_N = 0.45 \text{ g/d}$

Total nitrogen leaving system, $MT_{out_N} = 2.24 \text{ g/d}$

Influent TKN, $MI_N = 2.31 \text{ g/d}$

→ Nitrogen balance % = $MT_{out_N} / MI_N = 97 \%$

Oxidized COD in aerobic, $MO_{oxi_COD} = 36 * 12 * 24 / 1000 - 4.57 * 1.7 = 2.56 \text{ g/d}$ Oxidized COD during denitrification, $MT_{De_COD} = 2.86 / (1-1.42Y_H)^* MT_{De} = 4.53 \text{ g/d}$ Oxidized COD by recycled DO(MO_{DO}) in anoxic, MT_{DO_COD}

$$= 1 / (1 - 1.42 Y_{H})^{*} MO_{DO} = 0.45 g/d$$

Total oxidized COD, $MToxi_COD = MO_{oxi_COD} + MT_{De_COD} + MT_{DO_COD}$

= 2.56 + 4.53 + 0.45 = 7.54 g/d

Effluent TCOD, $ME_{TCOD} = 0.5 \text{ g/d}$

COD in waste sludge, $MW_{COD} = 6.33 \text{ g/d}$

COD leaving the system, $MT_{out COD} = 7.54 + 0.5 + 6.33 = 14.3 \text{ g/d}$

Influent COD, $MT_{in_{COD}} = 20.46 \text{ g/d}$

→ COD balance % = $MT_{out_COD} / MT_{in_COD} *100 = 70 \%$

Appendix E

Copyright information

1. Journal of membrane science

ELSEVIER

- Home
- · Elsevier Websites Alerts

Search:

💮 🏶 Product Information 🛞 All Elsevier Sites 🚱 Advanced Product Search

A For Authors

COPYRIGHT

- Journal authors' home
 Why publish with Eisevier
 Resource center

- Resource center
 Guide to publishing with

- Guide to publishing w Essuer
 Funding body agreements/policies
 Authors' clotts
 Track your accepted article
 FAQ
 Book authors' home
 Permissions
- Products
 Support & contact
 About Elsevier
- Select your view

What rights do X ratain as a journal author*? Whan Eisavier changes its journal usage policies, are those changes size retroscrivs? How do X obtain a Journal Publishing Agreement? Can X post my article on the Internet? Why does Elsavier Inquest internet? What is Elsavier's policy on pisgiariem and conflicts of interest?

What rights do I retain as a journal author*?

As a journal author, you retain rights for large number of author uses, including use by your employing institute or company. These rights are retained and permitted without the need to obtain specific permission from Elsevier. These include:

- the right to make copies (print or electric) of the journal article for their own personal use, including for their own classroom teaching
- use; the right to make copies and distribute copies (including via e-mail) of the journal article to research colleagues, for personal use by such colleagues (but not for Commercial Purposes**, as listed

- of the journal article to research colleagues, for personal use or such colleagues (but not for Commercial Purposes**, as listed below);
 the right to post a pre-print version of the journal article on Internet web sites including electronic pre-print servers, and to retain indefinitely such version on such servers or sites (see also our information on electronic pre-prints for a more detailed discussion on these points);
 the right to post a revised personal varsion of the text of the final journal article (to reflect changes made in the peer review process) on the author's personal or institutional web site or server, incorporating the complete citation and with a link to the Digital Object Identifier (DOI) of the article; at a meeting or conference and to distribute copies of such paper or article to the delegates attending the information in (any version of) the journal article for other intra-company use (e.g. training), including by posting the article and rights to any process or procedure described in the journal article;
 the right to the journal article; in full or in part, in a thesis or dissertation; journal article; or any part thereof in a printed complication of the right to use the journal article;
 the right to use the journal article; or any part thereof in a printed complication of works of the author's use allor in part of process (subsequent to publication of the author's not part of a second in the journal article;
 the right to use the journal article or any part thereof in a printed complication of works of the author's, to extend the journal article in the right to present to publication of the article in the portal of the portal article in the author's works, to extend the journal

- lecture notes (subsequent to publication of the article in the journal); and the right to prepare other derivative works, to extend the journal article into book-length form, or to otherwise re-use portions or excerpts in other works, with full acknowledgement of its original publication in the journal.

*Please Note: The rights listed above apply to journal authors only. For information regarding book author rights, please contact the Global Rights Department.

Elsevier Global Rights Department phone (+44) 1865 843 830 fax (+44) 1865 853 333 email: permissions@elsevier.com

Other uses by authors should be authorized by Elsevier through the Global Rights Department, and journal authors are encouraged to let Elsevier know of any particular needs or requirements.

**Commercial Purposes includes the use or posting of articles for commercial gain including the posting by companies or their employee-authored works for use by customers of such companies (e.g. pharmaceutical companies and physician-prescribers); commercial exploitation such as directly associating advertising with such postings;

Obtain permission to use Elsevier material

Your question not found here?

Submit question
 Specific contacts

2. Journal of chemical technology and biotechnology



- I Wiley InterScience
- Home

Author Services



Skip to main content.

Author Services Menu

Publication rights and offprints

Wiley journal authors can use their accepted article in a number of ways, including in publications of their own work and course packs in their institution. An electronic copy of the article (with a link to the online version) can be posted on their own website, employer's website/repository and on free public servers in the subject area. For full details see http://authorservices.wilev.com/bauthor/fags_copyright.asp.

Many Wiley journal authors receive the final PDF of their article upon publication which they can circulate to colleagues, printed offprints can be ordered at a small cost. Many authors who register in Author Services have free access to their articles when they are published online, and can also nominate up to 10 colleagues to be notified upon publication and receive free online access to the article. Please note these policies vary by journal.

Worldwide library access for your research

Journal articles are available online on <u>Wiley InterScience</u>. Wiley's successful subscription and consortia sales program means these articles are accessible in subscribing libraries across the world. Many articles are also available free in developing countries and at reduced rates in the Newly Independent States through Wiley's participation in the WHO's HINARI initiative, the FAO's AGORA project, and the Programme for the Enhancement of Research Information run by INASP.

Increasing citations

Research** has revealed a correlation between online usage and subsequent citations for journal articles. Wiley's efforts to increase online readership also have a subsequent impact on citations. We ensure that Wiley journal articles will be read by the relevant specialists by employing the most important routes to research.

**Perneger: British Medical Journal 2004; 329:546-547

And more...

- Resources, FAQs and tips on article preparation, submission, artwork, etc
- Author guidelines by journal
- Discounts on Wiley books.

*"Online submission and peer review systems: A review of currently available systems and the experiences of authors, referees, editors and publishers", Mark Ware Consulting Ltd, 2005, For the Association of Learned and Professional Society Publishers

 \odot 2009 Blackwell Publishing Ltd Company number 0180277, Registered in England and Wales, registered office: The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex PO19 8SQ, UK

http://authorservices.wiley.com//bauthor/benefits.asp